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Glossary of Acronyms and Abbreviations
Acronyms and abbreviations are used throughout this report,  particularly in Part I,  Item 1. Business; Part I,  Item 1A. Risk Factors;  Part II,  Item 7.
MD&A; Part II,  Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Part II,  Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.

2018 Term Loan Our $425 million term loan A executed in June 2018 and repaid in 2021
2021 Credit Program Our 2021 program to provide eligible clients with credits, subject to predefined conditions and

based on certain pandemic related excess health care cost savings achieved.
2021 Credit Agreement Our credit agreement dated February 26, 2021, including our $500 million revolving line of credit.
2029 Notes Our $500 million senior unsecured notes maturing in March 2029
AB5 Assembly Bill 5
ACA The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
ACH Automated Clearinghouse Transaction
AFS Available-for-sale
ARPA American Rescue Plan Act
ASC Accounting standards codification
ASO Administrative Services Organization
ASU Accounting standards update
CARES Act Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security Act
CCPA California Consumer Privacy Act
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
COBRA Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act
COPS Cost of providing services
COVID-19 Novel coronavirus
CPRA California Privacy Rights Act
D&A Depreciation and amortization expenses
DOL U.S. Department of Labor
EBITDA Earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization of intangible assets
EPLI Employment Practices Liability Insurance
EPS Earnings Per Share
ERISA Employee Retirement Income Security Act
ESPP Employee stock purchase plan
ETR Effective tax rate
FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board
FFCRA Families First Coronavirus Response Act
FLSA Fair Labor Standards Act
G&A General and administrative
GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States
HIPAA Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
HITECH Act Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act
HR Human Resources
IBNP Incurred but not yet paid
IBNR Incurred but not yet reported
ICR Insurance cost ratio
IGP Indemnity Guarantee Payment
IOM Integrated Open Market
IRS Internal Revenue Service

TRINET 1 2021 FORM 10-K



GLOSSARY Table of Contents

ISR Insurance service revenues
LDF Loss development factor
LIBOR London Inter-bank Offered Rate
MCT Medical cost trend
MD&A Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
OE Operating expenses
PCAOB Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
PEO Professional Employer Organization
PFC Payroll funds collected
PHI Protected Health Information

PPP Paycheck Protection Program, a loan program administered by the U.S. Small Business
Administration

PPPFA Paycheck Protection Program Flexibility Act
PSR Professional service revenues
Recovery Credit 2020 Program to provide eligible clients with one-time reductions against fees for future services
Reg FD Regulation Fair Disclosure
ROU Right-of-use
RSA Restricted Stock Award
RSU Restricted Stock Unit
SBA U.S. Small Business Administration
SBC Stock Based Compensation
S&M Sales and marketing
S&P Standard & Poor's
SD&P Systems development and programming
SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
SMB Small and medium-size business
TCJA Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
U.S. United States
WSE Worksite employee
YTD Year to date
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
For purposes of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (Form 10-K), the terms “TriNet,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to TriNet Group, Inc.,
and its subsidiaries. This Form 10-K contains statements that are not historical in nature, are predictive in nature, or that depend upon or refer to
future  events  or  conditions  or  otherwise  contain  forward-looking  statements  within  the  meaning  of  Section  21  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of
1934, as amended, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are often identified by the use of words
such  as,  but  not  limited  to,  “ability,”  “anticipate,”  “believe,”  “can,”  “continue,”  “could,”  “design,”  “estimate,”  “expect,”  “forecast,”  “hope,”  “impact,”
“intend,” “may,” “outlook,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “strategy,” “target,” “value,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions or
variations  intended  to  identify  forward-looking  statements.  Examples  of  forward-looking  statements  include,  among  others,  TriNet’s  expectations
regarding: the execution of a definitive agreement to acquire Zenefits; our ability to support the economic recovery of our clients and SMBs; market
acceptance of our new support, service and product offerings, including our Connect 360 service model and Financial Services Preferred and IOM
products; the impact of our annual TriNet PeopleForce conference; our expectations regarding medical utilization rates by our WSEs; the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on regulations and government programs; the impact of our 2020 Recovery Credit program and our 2021 Credit Program
and their suitability for generating client loyalty and retention; our ability to modify or develop service offerings to assist clients affected by COVID-19;
the impact of our vertical approach; our ability to leverage our scale and industry HR experience to deliver vertical service offerings; the impact of our
plans to continue to grow our client base; planned improvements to our technology platform; our ability to drive operating efficiencies and improve
the client experience; the impact of our client service initiatives; our continued ability to provide access to a broad range of benefit programs on a
cost-effective  basis;  the  volume  and  severity  of  insurance  claims  and  the  impact  of  COVID-19  on  those  claims;  the  effectiveness  of  our  risk
strategies for, and management of, workers' compensation and health benefit insurance costs and deductibles; the metrics that may be indicators of
future  financial  performance;  the  relative  value  of  our  benefit  offerings  versus  those  SMBs can  independently  obtain;  the  impact  that  our  benefit
offerings  have  for  SMBs  seeking  to  attract  and  retain  employees;  the  effectiveness  of  our  strategies  for  mitigation  of  EPLI  risk;  the  principal
competitive  drivers  in  our  market;  our  plans  to  retain  clients  and  manage  client  attrition;  our  investment  strategy  and  its  impact  on  our  ability  to
generate future interest income, net income, and Adjusted EBITDA; seasonal trends and their impact on our business, including due to COVID-19;
fluctuations  in  the  period-to-period  timing  of  when  we  incur  certain  operating  expenses;  the  estimates  and  assumptions  we  use  to  prepare  our
financial statements; and other expectations, outlooks and forecasts on our future business, operational and financial performance.

Important factors that could cause actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied
by these forward-looking statements are discussed above and throughout this Form 10-K, including under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors, and Part II,
Item 7. MD&A, and in the other periodic filings we make with the SEC, and including risk factors associated with: the economic, health and business
disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic; the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our clients and prospects, insurance costs and operations;
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the laws and regulations that impact our industry and clients; our ability to manage unexpected changes in
workers’  compensation and health  insurance claims and costs  by worksite  employees;  our  ability  to  mitigate  the business risks we face as a co-
employer;  the  effects  of  volatility  in  the  financial  and  economic  environment  on  the  businesses  that  make  up  our  client  base;  loss  of  clients  for
reasons beyond our control; the short-term contracts we typically use with our clients; the impact of regional or industry-specific economic and health
factors on our operations; the impact of failures or limitations in the business systems we rely upon; the impact of our 2020 Recovery Credit program
and 2021 Credit  Program; adverse changes in our insurance coverage or  our relationships with key insurance carriers;  our  ability  to improve our
services  and  technology  to  satisfy  regulatory  requirements  and  meet  the  expectations  of  our  clients  and  manage  client  attrition;  our  ability  to
effectively  integrate  businesses  we  have  acquired  or  may  acquire  in  the  future;  our  ability  to  effectively  manage  and  improve  our  operational
processes; our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel; the effects of increased competition and our ability to compete effectively; the impact
on our business of cyber-attacks and security breaches; our ability to secure our information technology infrastructure and our confidential, sensitive
and personal information; our ability to comply with constantly evolving data privacy and security laws; our ability to manage changes in, uncertainty
regarding,  or  adverse application of  the complex laws and regulations  that  govern our  business;  changing laws and regulations  governing health
insurance and employee benefits; our ability to be recognized as an employer of worksite employees under federal and state regulations; changes in
the laws and regulations that govern what it means to be an employer, employee or independent contractor; our ability to comply with the laws and
regulations that govern PEOs and other similar industries; the outcome of existing and future legal and tax proceedings; fluctuation in our results of
operation and stock price due to factors outside of our control, such

TRINET 3 2021 FORM 10-K



BUSINESS Table of Contents

as the volume and severity of our workers’ compensation and health insurance claims and the amount and timing of our insurance costs, operating
expenses and capital expenditure requirements; our ability to comply with the restrictions of our credit facility and meet our debt obligations; and the
impact of concentrated ownership in our stock. Any of these factors could cause our actual results to differ materially from our anticipated results.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance, but are based on management’s expectations as of the date of this Form 10-
K  and  assumptions  that  are  inherently  subject  to  uncertainties,  risks  and  changes  in  circumstances  that  are  difficult  to  predict.  Forward-looking
statements  involve  known and unknown risks,  uncertainties  and other  factors  that  may cause actual  results,  performance  or  achievements  to  be
materially different from our current expectations and any past results, performance or achievements. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

The information provided in this Form 10-K is based upon the facts and circumstances known as of the date of this Form 10-K, and any forward-
looking statements made by us in this Form 10-K speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any of
the information provided in this Form 10-K, except as required by law.

The MD&A of this Form 10-K includes references to our performance measures presented in conformity with GAAP and other non-GAAP financial
measures  that  we  use  to  manage  our  business,  to  make  planning  decisions,  to  allocate  resources  and  to  use  as  performance  measures  in  our
executive  compensation  plans.  Refer  to  the Non-GAAP  Financial  Measures within  our  MD&A  for  definitions  and  reconciliations  from  GAAP
measures.

Website Disclosures
We use our website (www.trinet.com) to announce material non-public information to the public and to comply with our disclosure obligations under
Regulation Fair Disclosure (Reg FD). We also use our website to communicate with the public about our Company, our services, and other matters.
Our SEC filings, press releases and recent public conference calls and webcasts can also be found on our website. The information we post on our
website could be deemed to be material  information under Reg FD. We encourage investors and others interested in our Company to review the
information we post on our website. Information contained in or accessible through our website is not a part of this report.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

TriNet  is  a  leading  provider  of  HR  expertise,  payroll  services,  employee  benefits  and  employment  risk  mitigation  services  for  SMBs.  Since  our
founding in 1988, TriNet has served, and continues to serve, thousands of SMBs. In 2021, we processed $55 billion in payroll and payroll taxes for
our clients and ended the year with approximately 16,300 clients and 364,900 WSEs, primarily in the U.S.

Our Services

We  deliver  a  comprehensive  suite  of  services  that  help  our  clients  administer  and  manage  various  HR-related  needs  and  functions,  such  as
compensation and benefits, payroll processing, employee data, health insurance and workers' compensation programs, and transactional HR needs
using  our  technology  platform  and  HR,  benefits  and  compliance  expertise.  We  empower  SMBs  to  focus  on  what  matters  most  -  growing  their
business.

We leverage our scale and industry HR experience to deliver our service offerings tailored for SMBs in specific industry verticals.  We believe our
vertical approach is a key differentiator for us and creates additional value for our clients by addressing their industry-specific HR needs. We offer six
industry-tailored vertical services: TriNet Financial Services, TriNet Life Sciences, TriNet Main Street, TriNet Nonprofit, TriNet Professional Services,
and TriNet Technology.

Our comprehensive HR solutions include the following capabilities:

HR CONSULTING EXPERTISE
BENEFIT 
OPTIONS PAYROLL SERVICES RISK MITIGATION

TECHNOLOGY 
PLATFORM

 HR Consulting Expertise

We  use  the  collective  knowledge  and  experience  of  our  teams  of  HR,  benefits,  risk  management  and  compliance  professionals  to  help  clients
manage  many  of  the  administrative,  regulatory  and  practical  requirements  associated  with  being  employers.  We  do  this  by  incorporating  our
knowledge  and  experience  into  our  services  and  our  technology  platform  and  by  making  our  professionals  available  to  consult  with  clients  on  a
variety  of  HR  needs,  including  talent  management,  retention  and  terminations,  benefits  enrollment,  immigration  and  visas,  payroll  tax  credits,
employment law and regulatory developments and many other industry-specific and general HR topics. Depending on their needs, our clients and
WSEs have access to varying levels of service and support from our professionals, ranging from call center support for basic questions to pooled HR
resources. Our professionals also provide additional specialized HR consulting and services upon request.

 Benefit Options

We utilize our scale to provide our WSEs access to a broad range of TriNet-sponsored employee benefit and insurance programs at costs that we
believe most of our clients would be unable to obtain on their own. We believe that our TriNet-sponsored programs help clients compete for talent
against larger businesses. Our benefit and insurance programs are designed to comply with federal, state and local regulations, and our benefit and
insurance service offerings include plan selection and administration, enrollment management, leave management, plan document distribution and
WSE and client communications.

Under our benefit  and insurance programs, we pay third-party insurance carriers for WSE insurance benefits and reimburse insurance carriers or
third-party administrators for claims payments within our insurance deductible layer, where applicable.
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We sponsor and administer several employee benefit plans for our WSEs through a broad range of carriers, including group health, dental, vision,
short-  and  long-term  disability,  and  life  insurance  as  an  employer  plan  sponsor  under  Section  3(5)  of  ERISA.  We  also  provide  for  other  benefit
programs  to  be  made  available  to  WSEs,  including  flexible  spending  accounts,  health  savings  accounts,  retirement  benefits,  COBRA  benefits,
supplemental  insurance, commuter benefits,  home insurance, critical  illness insurance, accident insurance, hospital  indemnity,  pet insurance, and
auto insurance. For further discussion of our insurance programs, including policies where we reimburse our carriers for certain amounts relating to
claims, refer to Note 1 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K.

 Payroll Services

We  help  clients  manage  their  employee  compensation  by  providing  multi-state  payroll  processing,  tax  administration  services  and  other  payroll-
related services, such as time and attendance management, time off  and overtime tracking, and expense management solutions. Our clients and
WSEs can access  payroll  and tax  information  using our  online  and mobile  tools.  Our  tax  administration  services  include calculating,  withholding,
remitting and reporting certain federal, state and local payroll and unemployment taxes on behalf of clients and WSEs.

 Risk Mitigation

We monitor employment-related legal and regulatory developments at the federal, state, and local levels to help our clients comply with employment
laws and mitigate many of the risks associated with being an employer.  We provide HR guidance on employment laws and regulations, including
those  relating  to  minimum  wage,  unemployment  insurance,  family  and  medical  leave  and  anti-discrimination.  We  also  ensure  that  our  TriNet-
sponsored benefit plans comply with applicable laws and regulations, like the ACA, reducing this compliance burden to our clients.

We provide fully-insured workers' compensation insurance coverage for our clients and WSEs through insurance policies that we negotiate with our
third-party  insurance carriers.  We manage the deductible risk that we assume in connection with these policies by being selective in the types of
businesses that we take on as new clients, and by monitoring claims data and the performance of our carriers and third-party claims management
service  providers.  In  addition,  we  advise  clients  on  workers’  compensation  best  practices,  including  by  performing  workplace  assessment
consultations and assisting with client efforts to identify conditions or practices that might lead to employee injuries.

We  also  provide  EPLI  coverage  for  our  clients  through  an  insurance  policy  that  we  obtain  from  a  third-party  EPLI  carrier.  This  policy  provides
coverage for certain claims that arise in the course of the employment relationship, such as discrimination, harassment, and certain other employee
claims, with a per-claim retention amount. The retention amount under this policy, which functions like a deductible, is allocated on a pre-determined
basis between the client  and TriNet.  Our  professionals  assist  our  clients  in  implementing HR best  practices to help avoid and reduce the cost  of
employment-related liabilities. Our preferred outside employment law firms defend covered EPLI claims.

 Technology Platform

Our technology platform includes online and mobile tools that allow our clients and WSEs to store, view, and manage HR information and administer
a variety of HR transactions, such as payroll processing, tax administration, employee onboarding and termination, compensation reporting, expense
management,  and  benefits  enrollment  and  administration.  Our  online  tools  also  incorporate  workforce  analytics,  allowing  clients  to  generate  HR
data,  payroll,  total  compensation  and  other  custom  reports.  We  invest  time  and  resources  in  an  effort  to  improve  and  expand  our  technology
platform and the products  and services  that  we offer.  For  example,  in  2020,  we adopted a new client  service  engagement  support  model,  called
Connect 360, that we believe will benefit our clients and WSEs by providing them with improved support services. Similarly, in 2021, we launched
Financial Services Preferred, and a new product, called IOM, that offers clients the option to receive PEO services from TriNet while also obtaining
client-sponsored health benefits from a third-party broker that partners with TriNet.
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Our Co-Employment Model

We operate using a co-employment model, under which employment-related responsibilities are allocated by contract between us and our clients.
This model allows WSEs to receive the full benefit of our services, including access to TriNet-sponsored employee benefit plan offerings. Each of
our clients enters into a client service agreement with us that defines the suite of services and benefits to be provided by us, the fees payable to us,
and the division of responsibilities between us and our clients as co-employers. WSEs also separately acknowledge the co-employment relationship
and  the  allocation  of  employment-related  responsibilities  between  TriNet  and  our  clients.  The  division  of  responsibilities  under  our  client  service
agreements is typically as follows:

TriNet Responsibilities

We generally assume responsibility for, and manage certain risks associated with:

• payments of  salaries,  wages and certain  other  compensation to WSEs from our  own bank accounts (based on client  reports  and payments),
including the processing of garnishment and wage deduction orders,

• reporting of wages, withholding and deposit of associated payroll taxes as the employer of record,

• provision and maintenance of workers' compensation insurance and workers' compensation claims processing,

• access to, and administration of, group health, welfare, and retirement benefits to WSEs under TriNet-sponsored benefit plans,

• compliance with applicable law for certain TriNet-sponsored employee benefits offered to WSEs,

• administration of unemployment claims, and

• provision  of  various  HR  policies  and  agreements,  including  employee  handbooks  and  worksite  employee  agreements  describing  the  co-
employment relationship.

Client Responsibilities

Our clients are responsible for employment-related responsibilities that we do not specifically assume, generally including:

• day-to-day management of their worksites and WSEs,

• compliance with laws associated with the classification of employees as exempt or non-exempt, such as overtime pay and minimum wage law
compliance,

• accurate and timely reporting to TriNet of compensation and deduction information, including information relating to hours worked, rates of pay,
salaries, wages and other compensation, and work locations,

• accurate  and  timely  reporting  to  TriNet  of  information  relating  to  workplace  injuries,  employee  hires  and  termination,  and  certain  other
information relevant to TriNet’s services,

• provision and administration of any employee benefits not provided by TriNet such as equity incentive plans,

• compliance  with  all  laws  and  regulations  applicable  to  the  clients'  workplace  and  business,  including  work  eligibility  laws,  laws  relating  to
workplace safety  or  the environment,  laws relating to  family  and medical  leave,  laws pertaining to  employee organizing efforts  and collective
bargaining and employee termination notice requirements,

• payment  of  TriNet  invoices,  which  include  salary,  wages  and  other  relevant  compensation  to  WSEs  and  applicable  employment  taxes  and
service fees, and

• all other matters for which TriNet does not assume responsibility under the client service agreement, such as intellectual property ownership and
protection and liability for products produced and services provided by the client company to its own clients.

As a result of our co-employment relationships, we are liable for payment of salary, wages and certain other compensation to the WSEs as reported
and paid  to  us  by the client,  and are  responsible  for  providing  specified  employee benefits  to  such persons to  the extent  provided in  each client
service agreement and under federal and state law. In most instances, clients are required to remit payment prior to the applicable payroll date by
wire transfer or ACH.
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We also assume responsibility for payment and liability for the withholding and remittance of federal and state income and employment taxes with
respect to salaries, wages and certain other compensation paid to WSEs, although we reserve the right to seek recourse against our clients for any
liabilities arising out of their conduct. We perform these functions as the statutory employer for federal employment tax purposes, since our clients
transfer legal control over these payroll functions to us. The laws that govern the payment of salaries, wages and related payroll taxes for our WSEs
are  complex  and  the  various  federal,  state  and  local  laws  that  govern  such  payments  can  vary  significantly.  Based  on  applicable  law  in  any
jurisdiction, we or our client may be held ultimately liable for those obligations if we fail to remit taxes. 

Market Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business in 2021

Despite the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic, the U.S. economy saw substantial recovery in 2021 due to the easing of COVID-19 restrictions,
consumer demand and continued federal and state legislative efforts to help businesses and employees. We observed the following PEO industry
trends in 2021:

• SMB Economic  Recovery.  The  U.S.  economy  saw  substantial  recovery  from  the  pandemic  driven  economic  downturn  in  2020,  however  the
extent of the recovery for SMBs differed based on their industry and geographic region. For example, SMBs in the financial services, technology
and professional services industries generally experienced shallower headcount declines in 2020 and have recovered headcount more quickly in
2020 and 2021 as their workforces were better able to transition to remote work. Meanwhile, SMBs in the retail, leisure and hospitality industries
generally  experienced  significant  headcount  freezes,  furloughs  and  terminations  in  2020,  and  these  headcount  declines  have  been  slow  to
recover in 2020 and 2021. Similarly, SMBs in geographic regions that saw significant increases in COVID-19 cases in 2021 from the Delta and
Omicron variants have generally experienced more significant economic headwinds.

• Continued Insurance Cost Variability and Volatility. The volume of medical claims, including COVID-19 testing, treatment and vaccination costs,
increased  in  2021,  however  medical  claim  volume  remained  below  pre-pandemic  levels.  Access  to  medical  services  and  systems  remained
constrained in 2021, particularly in regions that saw increases in COVID-19 hospitalizations that reduced preventative and elective procedures.

• Laws  and  Regulations.  Numerous  laws  and  regulations  were  created  or  modified  in  2021  that  had  an  impact  on  our  business  and  the
businesses of our clients and SMBs across the country. For example, the PPPFA and ARPA, were passed in 2021 to augment and extend 2020
programs intended to assist SMB’s and their employees to recover from the impacts of COVID-19. The paid leave and corresponding employer
tax credit under the FFCRA was modified and extended through the third quarter of 2021, and the employee retention credit program under the
CARES  Act  was  also  extended  and  modified  before  being  retroactively  terminated  effective  at  end  of  the  third  quarter  of  2021.  Additional
provisions  of  the  CCPA became  effective  in  2021,  and  the  DOL  issued  regulatory  guidance  regarding  cybersecurity  measures  applicable  to
retirement plans. Federal and state views on employees and independent contractors remained in flux during 2021 as we saw a California state
court  find that Proposition 22, which was a modification of an earlier  law that reclassified certain independent contractors as employees, was
unconstitutional  and  unenforceable.  The  National  Labor  Relations  Board  (NLRB)  also  announced  plans  to  create  a  new rule  for  determining
whether two business are joint employers or co-employers and is expected to announce this new rule in 2022. We do not believe we are a joint
employer, but changes in regulations determining joint employer status could lead to increased legal claims against us or our clients, increase
our compliance costs, or require changes to how we operate our business and the services we provide to our clients and WSEs.

For more information regarding the developments above, including the impact of COVID-19 on our business and operations, refer to Part II, Item 7.
MD&A in this Form 10-K, and Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors under the subheading "Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic".

Our Service Development Efforts

We continued to make significant investments in our technology platform with projects intended to provide our users with improved functionality, HR
management options, and security. We intend to continue to invest in our technology platform to improve its functionality, ease of use, security and
the overall user experience for our clients and WSEs. We believe the continued investment in improving our technology platform will drive operating
efficiencies over the long term and improve our client experience.

In 2021, we distributed $86 million to customers under our 2020 Recovery Credit program under which eligible clients received one-time reductions
against fees for services. Our Recovery Credit program is designed to promote
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client loyalty, incentivize client retention, and to differentiate TriNet from its peers in the PEO industry and in other competing HR services industries.
Similarly,  in  March  2021,  we  created  our  2021  Credit  program,  which  was  designed  to  return  $25  million  to  eligible  customers  based  on  the
performance of our health insurance costs for the year.

Throughout 2021 we continued to modify the programs we created in 2020 to support several important funding and payroll tax incentive programs
for SMBs created under the FFCRA, CARES Act and PPFA, including PPP, mandatory employee leave requirements, payroll tax deferral and tax
credit  programs and other employment- and employment tax-related incentives. Changes to these programs in 2021, including guidance from the
state  and  federal  agencies  managing  these  programs,  required  us  to  create  new  services,  or  redesign  our  existing  services,  to  support  these
programs for our SMB clients and we expect to continue to make changes to these programs as laws and regulatory guidance change over time.

To  engage  with  our  clients  and  SMBs,  we  hosted  the  2nd  annual  TriNet  PeopleForce  conference  in  the  third  quarter  of  2021,  our  showcase
customer and prospect conference focused on business transformation, agility and innovation for SMBs.

In December 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Zenefits, a leading cloud HR platform which provides innovative and intuitive
HR, benefits, payroll and employee engagement software purpose-built for SMBs. We believe the acquisition of Zenefits, once completed, will allow
us to diversify our product offering to include an Administrative Services Organization (ASO), enabling us to dynamically service SMBs throughout
their lifecycle and expand the customers we serve.

Our Clients and Geographies

Our clients are distributed across a variety of industries, including technology, professional services, financial services, life sciences, not-for-profit,
property  management,  retail,  manufacturing,  and  hospitality.  We  generally  support  these  different  clients  using  our  industry-tailored  vertical
approach.  Our  clients  generally  execute  annual  service  contracts  with  us  that  automatically  renew.  In  most  cases,  our  clients  may  cancel  these
contracts with 30 days' notice to us and we may cancel these contracts with 30 days' notice.

Nearly  all  of  our  revenues  are  generated  within  the  United  States  and  its  territories  and  substantially  all  our  long-lived  assets  are  located  in  the
United States.

Our Competitors

We face competition from:

• PEOs that compete directly with us,

• HR and information systems departments and personnel of companies that administer employee benefits, payroll and HR for their companies in-
house,

• providers of certain endpoint HR services, including payroll, employee benefits, business process outsourcers with high-volume transaction and
administrative capabilities, and other third-party administrators, and

• insurance brokers who allow third-party HR systems to integrate with their technology platform.

Our  competitors  include  large  PEOs such  as  the  TotalSource  unit  of  Automatic  Data  Processing,  Inc.,  the  PEO operations  of  Paychex,  Inc.  and
Insperity, Inc., as well as numerous specialized and smaller PEOs and similar HR service providers with PEO operations.

We believe that  our  services  are  attractive  to  many SMBs in  part  because of  our  ability  to  provide access  to  a  broad range of  TriNet-sponsored
workers  compensation,  health  insurance  and  other  benefits  programs  on  a  cost-effective  basis.  We  compete  with  insurance  brokers  and  other
providers of insurance and benefits coverage, and our offerings must be priced competitively with those provided by these competitors in order for
us to attract and retain our clients.

We  believe  that  we  also  compete  based  upon  the  breadth  and  depth  of  our  benefit  plans,  vertical  market  expertise,  total  cost  of  service,  brand
awareness  and  reputation,  ability  to  innovate  and  respond  to  client  needs  rapidly,  access  to  online  and  mobile  solutions,  and  subject  matter
expertise. We believe that we are competitive across these factors. For additional information about our competition, please refer to Part I, Item 1A.
Risk Factors, of this Form
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10-K, under the heading – "We must continue to work to improve our services to meet the expectations of our clients and regulators, or we may lose
our clients and materially harm our business".

Our Sales and Marketing Organizations

We sell  our  solutions primarily  through our  direct  sales organization.  We have aligned our  sales organization by industry  vertical  with  the goal  of
growing  profitable  market  share  in  our  targeted  industries.  This  vertical  approach  deepens  our  network  of  relationships  and  gives  us  an
understanding  of  the  unique  HR needs  facing  SMBs  in  those  industries.  Our  sales  representatives  are  supported  by  marketing,  lead  generation
efforts,  and  referral  sources  and  networks.  While  the  COVID-19  pandemic  made  it  difficult  to  engage  with  prospects  face-to-face,  the  use  of
technology and communication tools created new opportunities for us to engage with customers and prospects virtually.

We typically sponsor and participate in associations and events around the country and utilize these forums to target specific vertical and geographic
markets. We responded to the unique challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic by shifting between virtual and in-person events. Events include
our 2  Annual  TriNet  PeopleForce  conference,  and  informational  webinars  periodically  throughout  the  year  on  a  wide  variety  of  COVID-19  and
business topics relevant  to  our  SMB prospects  and clients.  We also generate sales opportunities  within  key industry  verticals,  through marketing
alliances and other  indirect  channels,  such as accounting firms,  venture  capital  firms,  incubators,  insurance brokers,  and vertical  market  industry
associations. Additionally, we utilize digital marketing programs, including digital advertising, search and email marketing, to create awareness and
interest in our services.

Our marketing and corporate communications organization is charged with driving overall brand awareness, managing lead generation, creating and
managing  our  website  and  other  online  properties,  creating  content  for  all  marketing  and  communication  channels  including  our  outbound  and
inbound  marketing  efforts,  media  relations,  and  managing  our  sponsorships,  major  marketing  events,  and  internal  and  external  communications.
Prospects changed the way they engaged with us during COVID-19 by using more digital tools like tele-presence and web engagements. In 2021,
we  launched  numerous  digital  channels  for  engagement,  including  conversational  marketing  enhancements  on  our  website  in  response  to
customers'  changing  preferences.  In  2021,  our  marketing  team  also  focused  on  strategic  marketing,  communications  social  media,  branding
initiatives,  and crisis  communication  plans,  in  part  by  augmenting  our  comprehensive  company brand campaign,  Incredible  Starts  Here,  with  our
marketing campaign, People Matter, that included omni channel initiatives using social media, digital, television, radio and out-of-home media.

The Laws and Regulations that Affect Our Business

Our business operates in a complex legal and regulatory environment due to a myriad of federal, state and local laws and regulations that impact our
business. Below is a summary of what we believe are the most important legal and regulatory issues for our business. For additional information on
the impact of these and other laws and regulations on our business and results of operations, refer to Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors, of this Form 10-
K, under the heading - "Legal and Compliance Risks".

Employer Status

We sponsor our employee benefit plan offerings as the employer of our WSEs under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code),
ERISA  and  applicable  state  law.  The  term  “employer”  has  different  definitions  for  different  purposes  under  the  Code  and  ERISA,  and  for  most
purposes are interpreted under complex multi-factor tests under common law. We believe that we are an “employer” of our WSEs in the U.S. under
the Code and the employer of our WSEs in the U.S. for the purposes of ERISA, as well as qualifying as an employer under various state laws, but
this status could be subject to challenge by various regulators. For additional information on our employer status and its impact on our business and
results  of  operations,  refer  to Part  I,  Item 1A.  Risk Factors,  of  this  Form 10-K,  under  the heading -  "If  we are  not  recognized  as  an employer  of
worksite employees under federal and state regulations, we and our clients could be adversely impacted".

nd
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Health Insurance and Health Care Reform

Our sponsored employee health and welfare offerings are an important component of the services that we provide. The future of health care reform
continues to evolve in the U.S. For example, the passage of the ACA in 2010 implemented sweeping health care reforms with staggered effective
dates from 2010 through 2022, and many provisions in the ACA are still subject to the issuance of additional guidance from the DOL, the IRS, the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and various U.S. states. Passage of the TCJA in 2017 eliminated the individual mandate tax penalty
under the ACA beginning in 2019, while retaining employer ACA mandate obligations. States have developed, and will continue to develop, varying
approaches  to  state-based  health  exchanges  and  mandates.  Further  significant  changes  to  health  care  statutes,  regulations  and  policy  at  the
federal, state and local levels could occur in 2022 and beyond, including the potential further modification or amendment of the ACA, and we may
need to adapt the manner in which we conduct our business as a result of any such changes. For additional information on the ACA and its impact
on  our  business  and  results  of  operations,  refer  to Part  I,  Item  1A.  Risk  Factors,  of  this  Form  10-K,  under  the  heading  -  "Changing  laws  and
regulations  governing  health  insurance  and  other  traditional  employee  benefits  at  the  federal,  state  and  local  level  could  negatively  affect  our
business".

Data Privacy and Security Regulations

We collect, store, use, retain, disclose, transfer and otherwise process a significant amount of confidential, sensitive and personal information from
and about our actual and potential clients, WSEs and corporate employees, and we are subject to a variety of federal, state and foreign laws, rules,
and  regulations  in  connection  with  such  activities.  As  a  sponsor  of  employee  benefit  plans,  we  also  have  access  to  certain  protected  health
information (PHI) of our WSEs and corporate employees. Management of PHI is subject to several regulations at the federal level, including HIPAA
and the HITECH Act. HIPAA contains restrictions and health data privacy, security and breach notification requirements with respect to the use and
disclosure of  PHI.  Further,  there are penalties and fines for  HIPAA violations.  Because TriNet  sponsored health plans are covered entities  under
HIPAA, we are required to comply with HIPAA's portability, privacy, and security requirements. We are also subject, among other applicable federal
laws, rules and regulations, to the rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission. The U.S. Congress has
considered, but not yet passed, several comprehensive federal data privacy bills over the past few years. Additionally, several federal agencies have
issued rules, regulations or other forms of guidance that may impact the privacy and security obligations that apply to our operations. We expect that
the federal government’s approach to data privacy and security will continue to evolve in the coming years.

At  the  state  and  local  level,  there  is  increased  focus  on  regulating  the  collection,  storage,  use,  retention,  security,  disclosure,  transfer  and  other
processing of confidential, sensitive and personal information. In recent years, we have seen significant changes to data privacy regulations across
the  U.S.,  including  the  enactment  of  the  California  Consumer  Privacy  Act  of  2018  (CCPA),  which  went  into  effect  in  January  2020.  The  CCPA
increases  privacy  rights  for  California  residents  and  imposes  obligations  on  companies  that  process  their  personal  information,  including  an
obligation  to  provide  certain  new disclosures  to  such  residents.  The  CCPA provides  for  civil  penalties  for  violations,  as  well  as  a  private  right  of
action for certain data breaches that result in the loss of personal information. This private right of action may increase the likelihood of, and risks
associated with, data breach litigation. The CCPA was amended in September 2018 and October 2019, and further amendments may be enacted. In
November 2020, California approved the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), which creates a new privacy oversight agency and further amends
the CCPA to provide additional rights to consumers to access, edit and control the sale and sharing of personal information. The provisions of the
CPRA go into effect in January 2023.
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In 2021, two additional states—Virginia and Colorado—enacted comprehensive data privacy laws that will go into effect in 2023, while legislatures in
several additional states considered data privacy laws. These laws impose, or have the potential to impose, additional obligations on companies that
collect,  store, use, retain, disclose, transfer and otherwise process confidential,  sensitive and personal information, and will  continue to shape the
data privacy environment nationally. Although there are similarities between the data privacy laws enacted in California, Virginia and Colorado (along
with the laws that have been proposed in other states), there are also substantive aspects of the laws that differ markedly. This lack of uniformity,
which  we  expect  to  continue  as  other  states  enact  data  privacy  laws,  creates  significant  legal  complexities  for  companies  (such  as  TriNet)  that
operate  nationwide  and  are  required  to  comply  with  a  patchwork  of  privacy  laws.  Moreover,  all  50  U.S.  states,  the  District  of  Columbia,  Guam,
Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands and Canada have enacted data breach notification laws that may require us to notify WSEs, clients, employees, third
parties or regulators in the event of unauthorized access to or disclosure of personal or confidential information. Complying with existing and new
data privacy and security regulations could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to
our  business.  Any  failure  to  comply  with  existing  and  new data  privacy  and  security  regulations  could  result  in  significant  penalties,  damage our
reputation and otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business. For additional information on the privacy and security of the confidential,
sensitive and personal information and PHI we possess and the potential impact to our business if we fail to protect such information, refer to each
of the risk factors included in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors, of this Form 10-K, under the heading - "Data Privacy and Security Risks".

PEO Licensing Laws

Nearly all states have adopted laws and regulations for licensing, registration, certification or recognition of PEOs and the IRS has implemented a
voluntary federal certification program for PEOs. We expect states without such laws and regulations to adopt them in the future. While these laws
and  regulations  can  vary  widely,  most  regulators  monitor  the  financial  health  and  other  relevant  business  information  of  PEOs  on  an  annual  or
quarterly  basis.  In  some  cases,  these  laws  and  regulations  codify  and  clarify  the  co-employment  relationship  for  certain  payroll,  unemployment,
workers' compensation and other employment-related purposes or require specific client contractual terms and/or WSE disclosures. We believe we
comply in all material respects with the applicable PEO laws and regulations in each state and jurisdiction in which we operate.
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Payroll Taxes, Unemployment Taxes and Payroll Tax Credits

We must also comply with the federal and state payroll tax and unemployment tax requirements that apply where our clients are located. Tax reform
efforts,  and other  payroll  tax  changes,  at  the federal,  state  and local  level  can impact  our  payroll  tax  reporting  obligations for  our  clients  and the
services  we  can  provide.  State  unemployment  tax  rates  vary  by  state  based,  in  part,  on  prior  years’  compensation  and  unemployment  claims
experience and may also vary based on the overall claims experience of a PEO. As a result, depending on where clients are located, the fees we
charge for unemployment taxes can be higher or lower than a client could obtain alone. In some cases, taxing authorities can retroactively increase
the unemployment taxes we pay to cover deficiencies in the unemployment tax funds. We also rely on our clients to accurately report their WSEs'
work locations and inaccurate reporting,  due to work from home policies during the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise,  can impact  our payroll  tax
obligations and the obligations of our clients and WSEs.

We have seen a growing trend,  particularly  at  the federal  level,  of  using payroll  tax credits,  deferrals  and other related payroll  tax programs as a
mechanism for incentivizing SMB development and/or economic recovery. These programs are popular because they allow SMBs, which often have
income tax losses, to realize benefits via payroll tax reductions, rather than income tax reductions. As a result, many of our SMB clients demand that
we support  these programs.  Examples of  these programs include the 2015 PATH Act,  which allows SMBs to use research and development  tax
credits  submitted  on the SMB’s  income tax return  to  reduce payroll  taxes,  and the CARES Act  and FFCRA Act  payroll  tax  credit  and payroll  tax
deferral  programs  enacted  in  2020  and  2021,  which  allow  SMBs  to  defer  certain  payroll  tax  obligations  to  a  later  date  or  to  receive  payroll  tax
reductions and refunds based on SMB employment practices that are beyond a PEO’s control. These programs have generally not been designed
with the PEO industry in mind and these programs are subject to broad agency interpretations given their complexity. For additional information tax
credit  programs,  and  the  risks  they  post  to  our  operations,  refer  to Part  I,  Item  1A.  Risk  Factors,  of  this  Form  10-K,  under  the  heading  -  "Our
business is subject to numerous complex laws, and changes in, uncertainty regarding, or adverse application of these laws could negatively affect
our business."

Other Employment Regulations

We must  also comply with labor and employment  laws,  which can change frequently  at  the federal,  state and local  level.  In particular,  regulatory
focus on the classification of employers, employees and independent contractors has the potential to significantly change how we and other PEOs
operate and the services that we and other PEOs can provide to our clients and WSEs. For example, in September 2019, California passed AB5, a
law  that  could  potentially  reclassify  client  independent  contractors  as  employees  by  establishing  the  ABC  test  to  determine  if  a  worker  is  an
employee or independent contractor for most occupations. On September 30, 2021, and effective January 1, 2022, California expanded the number
of occupations exempt from the ABC test. In November 2020, California voters passed Proposition 22, which supersedes AB5 for certain types of
contractors. On August 20, 2021, a California state court found that portions of Proposition 22 were unconstitutional and further held that the entirety
of  Proposition  22  was  unenforceable.  Effective  July  1,  2021,  Alabama  adopted  the  IRS’s  20-factor  test  to  determine  whether  a  worker  is  an
employee or an independent contractor, while on August 1, 2021, Louisiana started using an 11-factor test under its unemployment law to determine
worker classification.

The legal landscape is also in flux at the federal level. In 2020, the DOL issued a rule changing the definition of joint employer used under the Fair
Labor Standards Act (FLSA) which was later rescinded in 2021. The National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) announced plans to create a new rule
in 2022 for determining whether two businesses are joint employers under the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), while the DOL plans to start on
a new rule to raise the salary required for the executive, administrative and professional exemptions under the FLSA. We do not believe that we are,
or will be, a joint employer under the FLSA rules, but the impact of new regulations like these could lead to increased legal claims against us or our
clients, increase our compliance costs, or require changes to how we operate our business and the services we provide to our clients and WSEs.
For additional information, refer to Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors, of this Form 10-K, under the heading - "The definition of employers, employees and
independent contractors is evolving. Changes to the laws and regulations that govern what it means to be an employer or an employee may require
us to make significant changes in our operations and may negatively affect our business".
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Our Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 364,900 WSEs and 2,800 corporate employees, or colleagues.

Oversight and Management

At TriNet, we rally around a shared vision of improving humanity through business growth and innovation. We recognize the incredible opportunity
that can only be realized by working together, with a shared view of how we support our clients and WSEs. This is illustrated in our core values:

• Lead with the customer - We are accessible, responsive and empowered to serve our customers. We are successful when our customers
are successful.

• Stand  together  -  We  bring  together  diverse  backgrounds,  experiences  and  ideas  to  create  better  outcomes.  We  collaborate  across
boundaries, communicate openly and respect each other.

• Act with integrity - We are honest, transparent, ethical and fair. We take pride in always doing what’s right for our customers and colleagues.
• Make  an  impact  -  We  act  with  purpose,  are  deliberate  in  our  planning  and  quick  in  execution.  We  are  accountable  to  each  other  and

empowered to make decisions.
• Be incredible - We invest in the development of our colleagues. We push the boundaries of what's possible, lead the way and innovate to

accomplish the extraordinary.

We  regularly  conduct  surveys  to  seek  feedback  from  our  colleagues  on  a  variety  of  topics,  including  confidence  in  company  leadership,
competitiveness  of  our  compensation  and  benefits  package,  career  growth  opportunities  and  opportunities  to  improve  the  attractiveness  of  our
company with existing and potential colleagues. The results are shared with our colleagues and reviewed by senior leadership, who analyze areas of
progress  or  deterioration  and  prioritize  actions  and  activities  in  response  to  this  feedback  to  drive  meaningful  improvements  in  colleague
engagement. None of our corporate colleagues are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Attracting and Retaining Our Colleagues

We must attract, develop and retain highly motivated and qualified colleagues to continue to provide the services that our clients need, to achieve
our strategic objectives, and to grow our business. We do this by:

• offering competitive compensation and benefits packages, including comprehensive health benefits and our 401(k) retirement savings plan, with
an immediately vested employer match of up to 4% of cash compensation,

• supporting a pay for performance culture through the use of cash and equity incentives tied to the performance of our company and individual
performance,

• offering  an  employee  stock  purchase  plan  that  allows  our  colleagues  to  purchase  our  shares  at  a  discount  to  market  value,  which  fosters  a
stronger sense of ownership and aligns the interests of our colleagues with our stockholders,

• investing  in  the  professional  growth  of  our  colleagues  with  tuition  and  continuing  education  reimbursement,  wellbeing  programs,  and
comprehensive training and development activities and opportunities both inside and outside of our company,

• creating and maintaining a diverse and inclusive colleague base by, for example, the use of colleague-led resource groups and by launching a
new diversity and inclusion training curriculum for our colleagues in 2020, and

• supporting  our  colleagues  during  the  COVID-19  pandemic  by  adopting  work-from-home  policies,  halting  non-critical  travel,  and  providing
additional paid time off, employee assistance plans, and access to telemedicine services.

We refer to our employees that are co-employed with our clients as our worksite employees (WSE). For more information about how we help our
clients manage their own human capital resources and satisfy their own HR-related needs, see the section above titled “Our Services”.
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Our Approach to Acquisitions

Historically,  we  have  pursued  acquisitions  to  both  expand  our  service  capabilities  and  supplement  our  growth  across  geographies  and  certain
industry  verticals.  Our  acquisition  targets  have  included  PEOs  and  other  HR  solution  providers  as  well  as  technology  companies  or  technology
product offerings to supplement or enhance our existing HR solutions. In December 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Zenefits,
a  leading  cloud  HR  platform  which  provides  innovative  and  intuitive  HR,  benefits,  payroll  and  employee  engagement  software  purpose-built  for
SMBs. We intend to continue to pursue acquisitions, where appropriate, that will enable us to add new clients and WSEs, expand our presence in
certain geographies or industry verticals and offer our clients and WSEs more attractive services.

The Impact of Seasonality on Our Business

Our business is affected by seasonality in client business activity and WSE benefit selection, health claims costs and payroll taxes:

• Clients generally change their payroll service providers at the beginning of the payroll tax year; as a result, we have historically experienced our
highest volumes of new clients and terminating clients in the month of January.

• WSEs  select  our  benefit  plans  during  their  respective  open  enrollment  periods,  which  occur  throughout  the  year.  We  have  historically
experienced the largest proportion of WSE benefit changes in the first quarter and fourth quarter.

• Health  claims  costs  tend  to  increase  throughout  the  year  as  the  utilization  of  medical  services  above  each  WSE's  deductible  causes  our
insurance costs to increase. In addition, the overall use of medical services by WSEs, including elective procedures, tends to increase later in
the calendar year. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we observed significant fluctuations in the typical seasonal use of medical services by our
WSEs.  The COVID-19 pandemic  and emerging variants  may continue to  cause variability  in  our  WSE's  medical  services  utilization  that  may
result in changes in this seasonal trend in our business.

• Certain payroll tax related billings are based on the WSE's annual taxable wage base up to a set cap. WSEs frequently meet these wage base
caps in the first two quarters of the year, depending on the WSE's compensation level, resulting in lower related billing contributions to PSR in
the latter half of the year.

Our Owned and Licensed Intellectual Property

We own or license from third parties various computer  software,  as well  as other intellectual  property  rights,  used in our business.  Generally,  we
protect our intellectual property rights through the use of confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements and policies with our employees and third-
party  partners  and vendors.  We also own registered trademarks in the United States,  Australia,  Canada,  the United Kingdom, and the European
Union  covering  our  name  and  other  trademarks  and  logos  that  we  believe  are  materially  important  to  our  operations.  We  generally  protect  our
trademarks through federal registration or through the commercial use of our trademarks. Trademark registrations must generally be renewed every
five to ten years and we renew the registration of trademarks that we deem to have continuing value to our business.

Corporate and Other Available Information

We  were  incorporated  in  1988  as  TriNet  Employer  Group,  Inc.,  a  California  corporation.  We  reincorporated  as  TriNet  Merger  Corporation,  a
Delaware corporation, in 2000 and during that year changed our name to TriNet Group, Inc. Our principal executive office is located at One Park
Place, Suite 600, Dublin, CA 94568 and our telephone number is (510) 352-5000. Our website address is www.trinet.com. Information contained in
or accessible through our website is not a part of this report.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports are available
free of charge at investor.trinet.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with, or furnish it  to, the SEC. Alternatively, the
public may access these reports at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites are not incorporated into this report and are
not part of this report.

TRINET 15 2021 FORM 10-K



RISK FACTORS Table of Contents

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Below is a discussion of the risks that we believe are significant to our business. These risks are not the only ones we face. We may face additional
risks that we do not currently consider to be significant or of which we are not currently aware, and any of these risks could cause our actual results
to differ materially from historical  or anticipated results.  You should carefully consider these risks along with the other information provided in this
Form  10-K,  including  the  information  in  "Management's  Discussion  and  Analysis  of  Financial  Condition  and  Results  of  Operations"  and  our
accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements,  as  well  as  the  information  under  the  heading  "Cautionary  Note  Regarding  Forward-Looking
Statements" before investing in any of our securities.  We may amend, supplement or add to the risk factors described below from time to time in
future reports filed with the SEC.

Risks Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
The economic, health and business disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact our business and could result in a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in  an economic  slowdown and,  while  there have been signs of  economic recovery  in  2021,  the pandemic
continues  to  disrupt  our  business  and  the  businesses  of  our  SMB  clients.  We  cannot  predict  or  control  all  of  these  disruptions,  and  any  such
disruptions may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Any  of  the  COVID-19  related  risks  below  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  business,  results  of  operations  or  financial  condition.  We
cannot predict the duration and scope of the pandemic (including the emergence of new variants), the impact of the pandemic on the national and
global  economy,  the  duration  of  the  economic  downturn,  government  response  to  the  pandemic  and  our  ability  to  support  laws  and  programs
intended to help SMBs, and whether our clients' businesses will contract or fail due to the pandemic. Any of these factors could exacerbate the risks
and uncertainties identified below.

Actual and potential impact on clients and prospects

The change in the economic environment due to the COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may continue to have, an adverse economic impact on our
clients  and  potential  clients.  We  have  seen,  and  expect  to  continue  to  see,  affected  businesses  freeze  headcount,  furlough  and  terminate
employees, and partially or completely shut down business operations. Impacted businesses have faced and we expect many will continue to face
liquidity issues, reduced budgets, or an inability to pay for our services or the same level of our services. For example, in the second quarter of 2020,
our  new sales  growth  declined and we experienced higher  WSE attrition  than prior  periods.  See the  risk  factor  titled  “Our clients are particularly
affected by volatility in the financial and economic environment, which could harm our business” below for more details.

Actual and potential impact on insurance costs

The COVID-19 pandemic has changed how and when our WSEs incur health expenses. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience
higher than normal volatility and variability in the amounts that we pay for group health insurance expenses incurred by WSEs within our deductible
layer under our risk-based health insurance policies.

For example, during the third quarter of 2021, we saw increased constraints on access to medical services and systems, particularly in regions that
saw increases in COVID-19 hospitalizations. These constraints reduced preventative and elective procedures, resulting in a decrease in our MCT,
defined  as  changes  in  participant  use  of  services,  including  the  introduction  of  new  treatment  options,  changes  in  treatment  guidelines  and
mandates,  and changes in  the  mix,  unit  cost  and timing of  services  provided to  plan participants.  This  decrease resulted  in  a  lower  than normal
Insurance Cost Ratio during that period.

It  is  difficult  to  predict  the  rate  at  which  the  use  of  medical  services  will  change  as  new  variants  emerge  and  individual,  provider  network  and
government reactions to those variants change. COVID-19 testing, treatment and vaccination costs also make it more difficult to predict future health
claims  costs,  and  actual  claims  patterns  and  cost  trends  may  differ  significantly  from  our  historical  experience.  Because  we  assume  the  risk  of
variability in future health claims costs for our enrollees under our risk-based health insurance policies, this unpredictability  could result  in higher-
than-expected insurance costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

As we set our benefit services fees for health and welfare benefits in advance for a fixed benefit period, if actual MCT exceeds our projections, this
would  result  in  a  higher  Insurance  Cost  Ratio,  which  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  business,  results  of  operations  and  financial
condition. For details on how the volume and
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severity of insurance claims and MCT impact our insurance costs, refer to Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates in Part II, Item 7. MD&A and
the risk factor titled “Unexpected changes in workers’ compensation and health insurance costs and claims by worksite employees could harm our
business” below.

In response to COVID-19, many states have adopted standards intended to extend workers’ compensation coverage to claims based on a diagnosis
of COVID-19. Most states have focused on providing coverage for first responders, frontline healthcare workers and other essential workers. We are
responsible  for  the  deductible  layer  under  our  workers’  compensation  policies,  and  our  insurance  costs  are  affected  by  our  WSEs'  workers’
compensation insurance claims experience. Any law or legal standard that increases the number of covered workers’  compensation claims under
our  insurance policies  could have a material  adverse effect  on our  insurance costs  and financial  condition.  See the risk  factor  titled “Unexpected
changes in workers’ compensation and health insurance costs and claims by worksite employees could harm our business” below for more details.

Actual and potential impact of the laws affecting our industry and clients

New laws and programs have been enacted, and may continue to be enacted, at every level of government to help the economy, employers and
employees.  For example,  the 2020 FFCRA and CARES Act and the 2021 PPPFA and ARPA, and subsequent agency guidance related to those
acts,  created  the  paycheck  protection  program  (PPP),  mandatory  employee  leave  requirements,  payroll  tax  deferral  and  tax  credit  programs,
COBRA premium assistance facilitated via employer payroll tax credits, and other employment- and employment tax-related incentives. SMBs must
rely  on  PEOs  to  help  take  advantage  of  these  programs,  and  new  and  amended  laws  adding  programs  or  changing  existing  programs  may  be
passed at the federal, state, and local level at any time.

Most of these laws and programs have not been, and we do not anticipate will be, enacted with the PEO industry in mind. As a result, we cannot
guarantee we will be able to support any of these laws and programs in a timely and cost effective manner or at all, which could reduce or eliminate
the attractiveness of our services and/or affect  the ability of  our clients and WSEs to fully realize the benefits of these laws and programs, which
would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. See the risk factor titled “Our business is subject
to numerous complex laws, and changes in, uncertainty regarding, or adverse application of these laws could negatively affect our business” below
for more details.

Operational Risks
Unexpected changes in workers' compensation and health insurance costs and claims by worksite employees could harm our business.

Our  insurance  costs,  which  comprise  a  significant  portion  of  our  overall  costs,  are  significantly  affected  by  our  WSEs’  health  and  workers'
compensation  insurance  claims  experience.  Our  insurance  plans  are  provided  by  third-party  insurance  carriers  under  risk-based  or  under
guaranteed-cost insurance policies. Refer to Note 1 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K for further
discussion of these policies.

Under our risk-based health insurance policies, we assume the risk of variability in future health claims costs for our enrollees. We have experienced
variability, and may experience variability in the future, in the amounts that we are required to pay for group health insurance expenses incurred by
WSEs  within  our  deductible  layer  under  these  risk-based  policies,  based  on  changing  trends  in  the  volume  and  severity  of  medical  and
pharmaceutical  claims.  This  variability  arises  from  changes  to  the  components  of  MCT.  These  trends  change,  and  other  seasonal  trends  and
variability may develop, which makes it difficult for us to predict this aspect of our business and our failure to accurately predict these trends could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Under our fully-insured workers' compensation insurance policies, we assume the risk for losses up to $1 million per claim occurrence (deductible
layer). Refer to Note 1 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K for further discussion of these policies.
The ultimate cost of the workers’ compensation services provided will not be known until all the claims are settled. If we do not accurately predict the
risks that we assume, we may not charge adequate fees to cover our costs,  which could reduce our net income and result  in a material  adverse
effect on our business. Our ability to predict these costs is limited by unexpected increases in frequency or severity of claims, which can vary due to
changes in the cost of treatments or claim settlements.

We accrue for the estimated future costs of reimbursing our workers' compensation and health insurance carriers under our insurance policies, using
external  actuaries  and  our  own  experience  to  develop  the  estimates,  but  the  volume  and  severity  of  claims  activity  is  inherently  unpredictable.
Estimating these accrued costs requires us to consider a number of factors and requires significant judgment and if our estimates are wrong, that
could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If  we subsequently  receive  updated information  indicating  that  the  volume and severity  of  insurance claims were  higher  or  lower  than previously
estimated and reported, our insurance costs could be higher or lower, respectively, in that period or subsequent periods as we adjust our accrued
costs accordingly, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have experienced
both favorable and unfavorable insurance cost variability due to claims activity in the past and could have similar or worse experiences in the future.
Refer to Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates in Part II, Item 7. MD&A, of this Form 10-K for further discussion of these estimates.

Our co-employment relationship with our worksite employees exposes us to unique business risks.

We are the co-employer of our WSEs. As the co-employer of our WSEs, we assume some of the risks and obligations of an employer. For instance,
we may need to provide access to health benefits to our WSEs even if  the cost of  providing benefits exceeds the service fees received from our
clients. The extent of our responsibility for other aspects of our co-employer relationship with our WSEs remains subject to regulatory uncertainty at
the federal, state and local levels. For example, under certain circumstances, we may be responsible for paying salaries, wages and related payroll
taxes of our WSEs, even if our clients have not timely remitted payments to us.

Our WSEs work in our clients' workplaces. Our ability to control the workplace environment of our clients is limited. Yet, we may be subject to liability
for violations of labor and employment laws, workers' compensation laws, industry-specific laws that apply to the businesses our clients operate, and
other laws that apply to our clients or to employers generally. We may also be liable for acts, omissions or violations by our clients or WSEs, even if
we do not participate in such acts, omissions or violations.

We seek to  mitigate  these risks  through agreements  and insurance coverage and by requiring certain  clients  to  pre-fund certain  obligations.  Our
agreements  with  our  clients  divide  responsibilities  between  us  and  our  clients  and  provide  that  our  clients  will  indemnify  us  for  any  liability
attributable to their own or our WSEs' conduct. However, we may not be able to effectively enforce or collect on these obligations. In addition, we
maintain  insurance coverage,  including workers’  compensation  and EPLI  coverage,  to  limit  our  and our  clients'  exposure  to  various WSE-related
claims.  Subject to split  by contract,  we are still  responsible for  any deductible layer under such insurance and such insurance generally excludes
coverage for  claims relating  to  the classification  of  employees as exempt  or  non-exempt,  other  wage and hour  issues,  and employment  contract
disputes. We cannot assure you that our insurance will be sufficient in amount or scope to cover all claims that may be asserted against us and for
which we are unable to obtain indemnification from our clients.

Negative publicity relating to events or activities attributed to us or our corporate employees as a result of the actions of our clients and WSEs, or
others  associated  with  them,  whether  or  not  justified,  may  tarnish  our  reputation  and  reduce  the  value  of  our  brand.  In  addition,  if  our  brand  is
negatively impacted, it may have a material adverse effect on our business, including creating challenges in retaining clients or attracting new clients
and hiring and retaining employees. 

In addition, federal and state positions regarding co-employment relationships can change, and have frequently changed in the past,  with varying
degrees of impact on our operations. We cannot predict when changes will occur or forecast whether any particular future changes will be favorable
or unfavorable to our operations. Any such changes could increase our potential liability for the risks outlined above, or otherwise reduce or eliminate
the  attractiveness  of  using  a  PEO,  or  significantly  increase  our  compliance  costs  and  the  cost  to  provide  our  services,  which  could  result  in  a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Our SMB clients are particularly affected by volatility in the economic environment.

Our clients are small and medium-size businesses that we believe are particularly susceptible to changes in the level of overall economic activity in
the  markets  in  which  they  operate.  These  businesses  are  often  exposed  to  credit  and  cash  liquidity  risks  that  larger  businesses  may  be  able  to
avoid, and during periods of weak economic conditions, small business failures tend to increase and employment levels tend to decrease. During
these periods,  our  clients  have in  the  past  and may in  the future  reduce employee headcount,  compensation  and/or  benefits  levels,  which could
negatively affect our revenues and margins if we are unable to reduce our operating expenses sufficiently or quickly enough. During these periods,
we have also seen in the past and expect to see during such periods in the future, clients terminating our services and/or fewer new clients. When
our  clients  leave  us  or  reduce  their  headcount,  we  see  increases  in  unemployment  and  related  COBRA claims  costs  that  we  may  be  unable  to
recover based on the fees established in our client service agreements.

We lose clients for many reasons that we cannot control or easily predict and, generally, our clients sign service agreements that they can cancel on
short notice.
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Our standard client service agreement can generally be canceled by our clients (or us) with 30 days’ prior written notice. We regularly experience
client attrition and decreases in new client sales due to a variety of factors that are difficult for us to control or predict, including the overall national
economic conditions, client mergers and acquisitions, increases in our administrative and benefit services fees, client business failure and liquidity
issues, the effects of competition, and client decisions to administer HR in-house or via a non-PEO solution. If we were to experience WSE or client
attrition for any of the above reasons in excess of historic or expected rates, or if we incorrectly estimate the impact of the above factors on WSE or
client attrition rates, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Geographic  and  industry  market  concentration  makes  our  results  of  operations  vulnerable  to  regional  and  industry-specific  economic  and  health
factors.

Our top five markets,  California, New York, Florida, Texas and Georgia, accounted for approximately 60% in aggregate of our paid WSEs for the
year ended December 31, 2021. If any of those geographic regions suffers a downturn, even if the economy at the national level remains strong, or
experience higher  than expected medical  services  utilization,  due to  regional  health  issues,  including as a result  of  the COVID-19 pandemic,  the
portion of our business attributable to clients in that region could be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or results of operations.

In addition, most of our clients operate in a relatively small number of industries, including the technology, professional services, financial services,
life sciences and not-for-profit industries. As a result, if any of those specific industries suffers a downturn, even if the economy at the national level
remains strong, the portion of our business attributable to clients in that industry could be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Any failure in our business systems,  or in any third-party  business systems or service provider that  we rely upon, could reduce the quality  of  our
business services, harm our reputation and expose us to liability.

Our business is highly dependent on in-house and third-party data processing centers and systems that rely on the complex integration of numerous
hardware and software subsystems to manage a large volume of daily client and WSE transactions, including the processing of employee, payroll
and  benefits  data.  We  also  rely  on  third-party  systems  to  provide  services  for  our  clients  and  WSEs,  including  insurance  carrier  networks  and
databases that manage the benefits provided to, and claims made by, our clients and WSEs and electronic banking systems and payroll tax systems
that transmit payments and data to clients, WSEs and taxing agencies. These centers and systems have been, and could be disrupted by equipment
failures,  computer  server  or  systems  failures,  network  outages,  malicious  acts,  software  errors  or  defects,  vendor  performance  problems,  power
failures, natural disasters, terrorist actions or similar events. We have also experienced office closures on the East Coast on multiple occasions over
the past few years due to hurricane threats, and in California due to increased wildfire threats in the state. Our offices and data processing centers in
these and other locations will continue to face the risk of closure or damage in the future due to climate change.

Any delay or failure in our business continuity response to these events, or in the response of our third-party service providers,  even if  only for a
short  period  of  time,  can  have  a  significant  impact  on  our  clients  and  WSEs.  This  could  cause  clients  to  leave  us,  result  in  reduced  revenues,
increase our liability to our clients and WSEs, any of which could result in a materially adverse effect on our reputation and business. We also rely on
enterprise software applications licensed from third parties that  are updated from time to time.  Any failure of  these systems for  any reason could
delay or prevent us from providing services to our clients, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our client recovery programs have significant costs. These costs will not be recovered if these programs fail to achieve the business goals for which
they are designed, which could result in a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation and/or financial condition.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we created several programs to assist in the economic recovery of our existing SMB clients and enhance
our ability to retain these clients. These programs are designed to promote client loyalty, incentivize client retention, and to differentiate TriNet from
its peers in the PEO industry and in other competing HR services industries. However, these programs are also associated with significant costs,
and we cannot  guarantee that  we will  recover  these costs,  or  achieve our  intended client  loyalty,  retention  and product  differentiation  goals  from
these programs.

In April 2020, we created our Recovery Credit program. Eligible clients received one-time reductions against fees for future services, accounted for
as a discount,  to be received over the following 12 months.  As a result  of  the Recovery Credit,  we reduced our total  revenues by $128 million in
2020 and $17 million in 2021.
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If any of these programs, or any of our future client recovery programs, fails to generate the business impact for which they are designed, for any
reason, our financial performance will be negatively affected, which could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results  of  operations.  For  more  details  on  our  Recovery  Credit  program  and  2021  Credit  Program,  refer  to Note  1 in  Part  II,  Item  8.  Financial
Statements and Supplemental Data, in this Form 10-K.

Adverse changes in our insurance coverage, or in our relationships with key insurance carriers, could harm our business.

Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain competitive health and workers' compensation coverage options and insurance rates through
well-known insurance carriers. If we are unable to maintain competitive insurance rates or obtain popular and desirable coverage plans through well-
known insurance carriers, it could affect our ability to attract and retain clients, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Where
we  sponsor  insurance  coverage  and  we  are  not  responsible  for  any  deductibles,  our  carriers  set  the  fixed  cost  of  the  plan,  which  may  lead  to
uncompetitive fees. Even where we sponsor insurance under which we are responsible for deductibles, we may not be able to control our costs in a
way that would make our fees competitive.

In addition, broad adoption of our services in certain geographic regions or industries may make it more difficult for us to obtain competitive health
and/or workers' compensation insurance rates due to concentration of clients within a particular region or industry. For example, we have significant
concentrations of clients in California, New York, Florida, Texas and Georgia, which account for approximately 60% in aggregate of our paid WSEs
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The loss of any one or more of our key insurance vendors in these areas, or our inability to partner with
certain  vendors  that  are  better-known  or  more  desirable  to  our  clients  or  potential  clients,  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  financial
condition and results of operations.

We must continue to work to improve our services to meet the expectations of our clients and regulators, or we may lose our clients and materially
harm our business.

In order to attract and retain clients, we believe that we must compete in our industry effectively on the basis of the value proposition that we deliver
to our clients, including client experience and satisfaction, relevance and cost-effectiveness of our benefit plans, vertical market expertise, total price
of  service,  brand  awareness  and  reputation,  ability  to  innovate  and  respond  to  client  needs  rapidly,  access  to  online  and  mobile  solutions,  and
human resources subject matter  expertise.  The expectations of our clients and prospective clients in these areas change over time as a result  of
many factors outside of our control, such as competition, regulatory and technical changes, and changing trends in the demands employees place
on SMB employers. Regulatory changes may also mandate that we make changes to our services or benefit offerings.

To satisfy client expectations and regulatory requirements, we must timely and effectively identify, develop, or license appropriate technologies, and
incorporate them into the solutions that we provide. New services or upgrades may not be released according to schedule, or may contain defects
when released. Difficulties with the performance of our new technologies, or our ability to satisfy changes in regulatory requirements, could result in
adverse  publicity,  loss  of  sales,  delay  in  market  acceptance  of  our  services,  or  client  claims  against  us,  any  of  which  could  materially  harm our
business. Even if we are capable of satisfying client expectations in these areas, we may not be able to do so on a cost-effective basis, which could
have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  financial  condition  and  our  results  of  operations.  We  could  lose  market  share  if  our  competitors  develop
superior products and services or satisfy client or regulatory demands before we are able to do so. If we are unable to satisfy the evolving product
and  service  expectations  and  regulatory  requirements,  then  we  would  experience  lower  client  satisfaction,  fewer  new  clients  and  higher  client
attrition, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We  have  acquired,  and  may  in  the  future  acquire,  other  businesses  and  technologies,  which  can  divert  management's  attention  and  create
integration risks and other risks for our business.

We have completed numerous acquisitions of other businesses and technologies, and we expect that we will continue to pursue future acquisitions.
On  December  23,  2021,  we  entered  into  a  definitive  agreement  to  acquire  YourPeople,  Inc.  dba  Zenefits.  Acquisitions,  including  the  potential
acquisition of Zenefits, involve numerous other risks, some of which we have experienced in the past and which we may experience in the future,
including:

• over-valuing and over-paying for businesses and technologies,

• increased operating costs and unanticipated costs to successfully integrate the clients, WSEs, operations, systems, technologies, services and
personnel of the acquired business,

• establishing or maintaining required internal controls, procedures and policies for the acquired business,

• diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns,
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• litigation resulting from the activities of the acquired business,

• insufficient  revenues,  insurance  or  seller  indemnification  to  offset  increased  expenses  associated  with  the  acquisitions  and  unanticipated
liabilities of the acquired businesses,

• entering markets in which we have no prior experience and may not succeed, and

• potential loss of key employees or key clients of the acquired business as a result of the acquisition or integration of the acquired business.

We have  experienced  increased  operating  costs  to  resolve  the  challenges  of  prior  acquisitions.  If  we  fail  to  appropriately  integrate  any  acquired
business, we may fail to achieve our growth, service enhancement or operational efficiency objectives, and our business, results of operations and
financial condition could be harmed.

Our business and operations have undergone and will continue to undergo significant change as we seek to improve our operational effectiveness
and the support, services and products that we provide to our clients. If our clients and prospects do not accept these changes, or if we are unable
to effectively manage this change, our business and results of operations may suffer.

We have changed our operations and client service processes in recent periods in order to improve our operational effectiveness,  and to provide
improved client support, services and product options, and we will continue to do so in the future. For example, in 2020, we adopted a new client
service engagement support model, called Connect 360, that we believe will benefit our clients and WSEs by providing them with improved support..
Similarly, in 2021, we launched Financial Services Preferred, and a new product, called IOM, that offers clients the option to receive PEO services
from TriNet while also obtaining client-sponsored health benefits from a third-party broker that partners with TriNet. We have adopted robust remote
work  policies  and  practices  during  the  COVID-19  pandemic.  These  policies  and  practices  may  make  it  more  difficult  to  manage  and  implement
certain  program,  service  and product  initiatives  for  our  clients  and their  WSEs.  If  our  clients  and prospects  do not  accept  or  value these support
programs, services and products, and other similar changes we make in the future, we may lose clients, experience reduced onboarding rates, and
see  increased  operational  costs,  any  one  of  which  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  business,  financial  condition  and  results  of
operations.

In addition, managing these operational and process changes typically requires changes our internal operational, financial and management controls
and reporting systems and procedures while we simultaneously seek to effectively recruit,  integrate, train and motivate new corporate employees,
retain our existing corporate employees,  maintain our corporate culture,  effectively execute our business plan, satisfy our existing clients,  acquire
new  clients,  and  enhance  the  quality  and  scope  of  our  services.  These  activities  also  require  significant  operating  and  capital  expenditures  and
allocation of valuable management and employee resources. If we fail to manage these operational and process changes effectively, our costs and
expenses may increase more than we expect and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed.
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If we are unable to attract, maintain and manage qualified personnel, including our sales force, our business may be harmed.

To succeed, we must be able to attract and retain highly motivated and qualified personnel. Competition for skilled employees is intense and, if we
are unable to attract and retain the personnel we need, our business may suffer. For example, like many businesses we have experienced higher
than normal rates of employee turn-over during the COVID-19 pandemic and related "great resignation".

We have also experienced elevated sales force attrition in the past and may experience it  in the future,  for  a variety of  reasons,  including due to
changes in industry or client focus, compensation structure, third-party competition for sales talent and other factors. Newly hired sales personnel
are typically not productive for some period of time following their hiring, which results in increased near-term costs to us relative to their actual sales
contributions during this period. If  we are unable to effectively train and maintain an adequately seasoned sales force, our revenues likely will  not
increase at the rate that we anticipate, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our industry is competitive, which may limit our ability to maintain or increase our market share or improve our results of operations.

We face significant competition on a national and regional level from other PEOs, as well as other existing, and potential, companies and industries
that service, or may in the future service, client HR needs. Refer to the heading "Competition" under Part I, Item 1. Business, above for more details.
Our competitors, regardless of industry, may have greater marketing and financial resources than we have, and may be better positioned than we
are in certain markets. Increased competition in our industry could result in price reductions or loss of market share, any of which could harm our
business. We expect that we will continue to experience competitive pricing pressure.

Moreover, we may not be successful in convincing potential clients that the use of our services is a superior, cost-effective means of satisfying their
HR obligations relative to the way in which they currently satisfy these obligations either by themselves or by using the services of our competitors. If
we cannot  compete  effectively  against  other  PEOs or  against  the  alternative  means by  which  companies  meet  their  HR obligations,  or  if  we are
unable to convince clients or potential clients of the advantages of our offerings, our market share and business may suffer, resulting in a material,
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Data Privacy and Security Risks
Cyber-attacks or other security-related incidents could result in reduced revenue, increased costs, liability claims, regulatory penalties, and damage
to our reputation.

We and our third-party service providers and subcontractors collect, store, use, retain, disclose, transfer and otherwise process a significant amount
of confidential, sensitive and personal information from and about our actual and potential clients, WSEs and corporate employees, including bank
account and social security numbers, tax information, certain PHI, certain health claim information, retirement account information, and payroll data.
Maintaining the security and confidentiality of this information is critically important to our clients, WSEs and corporate employees.

Due to the size and complexity of our technology platform and services, the amount of confidential, sensitive and personal information that we store
and  the  number  of  clients,  WSEs,  corporate  employees  and  service  providers  with  access  to  this  information,  we  and  our  service  providers  are
potentially vulnerable to a variety of intentional and inadvertent cyber-attacks and other security-related incidents and threats.

Cybersecurity  threats  can  take  a  variety  of  forms.  Hackers  may  develop  and  deploy  viruses,  worms  and  other  malicious  software  programs  that
attack our networks and data centers or those of our service providers.  Other malicious actors may direct social engineering, phishing, credential
stuffing,  ransomware,  denial  or  degradation  of  service  attacks  and  similar  types  of  attacks  against  any  or  all  of  us,  our  clients  and  our  service
providers. Other threats include inadvertent security breaches or theft, misuse or unauthorized access or other improper actions by our employees,
clients,  WSEs,  service  providers  and other  business  partners.  Cyber-attacks  and other  security-related  incidents  are  increasing  in  frequency  and
evolving in nature.

Any actual  or  attempted cyber-attack  or  other  security-related incident  could have a material  adverse effect  on our business,  reputation,  financial
condition or results of operation. Any actual or attempted breach or disclosure of the confidential, sensitive and personal information that we possess
about  our  clients  and  WSE  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  business,  reputation,  financial  condition  or  results  of  operations.  Public
perception of, or even inaccurate or unfounded rumors of, any such attacks, incidents, breaches or disclosures, could have a material adverse effect
on our business, reputation, financial condition or results of operation.
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Any such attacks, incidents, breaches or disclosures could result in material financial liability by

• resulting in material fines, penalties, orders, sanctions and proceedings or actions against us or our service providers by regulatory authorities,
clients and other third parties,

• requiring us to indemnify clients and other third parties,

• damaging our reputation,

• forcing us to incur significant expenses to defend our actions and practices,

• delaying product and service development plans,

• resulting in unrelated compliance breaches as a result of system failures or management distraction, and

• increasing our costs of doing business.

TriNet  does  not  need  to  be  the  target  of  such  attacks,  incidents,  breaches  and  disclosures  for  them  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our
operations. For example, a cybersecurity attack on a key third-party software service provider could disrupt our services or compromise client data
entrusted to that service provider. In December 2021, a third party reported a security vulnerability in a commonly used Java-based application that
TriNet also uses called “Log4j”. After review, our security team determine that no security compromise had occurred within TriNet’s systems, but this
is no guarantee that a vulnerability identified in any other third-party software would not result in a security compromise. Similarly, a security incident
involving a client could result in access to TriNet’s systems. Any of these incidents, even if not initially directed at TriNet, could also have a material
adverse effect on our business operations, result in liability, fines and penalties or other regulatory sanctions, a loss of confidence in our ability to
provide our services, and/or harm our reputation and relationships with current or potential clients.

We, our clients and our service providers have been the victims of these types of threats, attacks and security breaches in the past,  and we, our
clients and our service providers expect to be victims again in the future. Cyber-attacks have disrupted, or resulted in unauthorized access to, our
networks, applications, bank accounts, and confidential, sensitive and personal information, or those of our clients or WSEs or service providers, in
the past and successful attacks may occur again in the future. We, our service providers and our clients have experienced other security incidents in
the past that led to disclosure of the confidential, sensitive or personal information we possess and we and they could experience such incidents in
the  future.  As  a  result  of  these  incidents,  we  have  in  the  past  reported,  and  expect  to  report  in  the  future,  data  breaches  to  regulators,  affected
individuals, clients and other third parties. While we do not believe that any such past events resulted in material expenditures or a material loss of
confidential, sensitive or personal information, we cannot guarantee that any future events will not have a material impact on our operations.

We  expend  significant  capital  and  other  resources  to  protect  against,  respond  to,  and  recover  from  any  potential,  attempted,  or  existing  cyber-
attacks or other security-related incidents and their consequences. The costs of identifying and remediating any threat, attack, breach, or disclosure,
and the costs associated with responding to litigation or  regulatory investigations,  could also have a material  adverse effect  on our business and
reduce our operating margins. Although we maintain insurance coverage, the amount of our insurance may not cover the costs associated with any
security incident, and we cannot be certain that cyber insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or
that  any  insurer  will  not  deny  coverage  as  to  any  future  claim.  Moreover,  there  could  be  public  announcements  regarding  any  security-related
incidents and any steps we take to respond to or remediate such incidents, if securities analysts or investors perceive these announcements to be
negative, could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
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Our efforts to protect against and to remediate cyber-attacks, other security-related incidents, and data breaches may not succeed and any such
event,  whether  intentional  or  inadvertent  and  whether  attributable  to  us  or  our  service  providers,  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our
business, reputation and the price of our common stock.

We have implemented policy, procedural, technical, physical, and administrative controls with the aim of protecting our networks, applications, bank
accounts,  and  the  confidential,  sensitive  and  personal  information  entrusted  to  us,  including  bank  account  and  social  security  numbers,  tax
information,  certain  medical  information,  certain  health  claim information,  retirement  account  information,  payroll  data  and other  PHI,  from cyber-
attacks and other security-related incidents. While we, and our service providers, have security measures and programs in place to prevent, detect,
and respond to cyber-attacks,  security-related incidents, data breaches and other similar threats,  these security measures and programs and our
collective efforts may not always succeed. Despite our efforts and those of our service providers,  we cannot fully eliminate the possibility of such
cyber-attacks, security-related incidents and other threats, whether intentional or inadvertent and whether internal or external and we, our clients or
our service providers may not discover a security incident for a significant period of time after the incident occurs.

In some cases, we perform risk assessments of our service providers or require them to undertake security measures through contract provisions.
However, we do not control our service providers and our ability to monitor their data security is limited, so we cannot ensure the security measures
they  take  will  be  sufficient  to  protect  our  confidential,  sensitive  and  personal  information.  Due  to  applicable  laws  and  regulations  or  contractual
obligations,  we  may  be  held  responsible  for  any  cyber-attack  or  other  security-related  incident  attributed  to  our  service  providers  regarding  the
information we share with them and any contractual protections we may have from our service providers may not be sufficient to adequately protect
us from any such liabilities and losses.

We have invested, and plan to continue investing, in resources to protect our information security ecosystem against cyber-attacks, other security-
related incidents, and data breaches and to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. However, the security protections and
strategies  that  we  implement,  and  the  investigation  and  remediation  efforts  we  undertake,  may  not  be  successful.  Any  security  breach,  whether
intentional  or  inadvertent,  could  result  in  the  access,  public  disclosure,  loss  or  theft  of  our  clients',  WSEs'  and corporate  employees’  confidential,
sensitive  and  personal  information,  which  could  negatively  affect  our  ability  to  attract  new  clients,  cause  existing  clients  to  terminate  their
agreements with us, result in significant reputational damage and subject us to significant lawsuits, regulatory fines, or other actions or liabilities, any
of which could materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.

We must  comply with constantly  evolving,  data privacy and security  laws and regulations,  which may require substantial  costs or  changes to our
business, and any actual or perceived compliance failure could result in reduced revenue, increased costs, liability claims, regulatory penalties, and
damage to our reputation.

We are subject to various federal, state and local laws, rules, and regulations, as well as contractual obligations, relating to the collection, storage,
use, retention, security, disclosure, transfer and other processing of confidential,  sensitive and personal information. Existing laws and regulations
are  constantly  evolving,  and  new  laws  and  regulations  that  apply  to  our  business  are  being  introduced  at  every  level  of  government  inside  and
outside  of  the  United  States.  For  example,  all  50  U.S.  states,  the  District  of  Columbia,  Guam,  Puerto  Rico,  the  Virgin  Islands  and Canada have
enacted data breach notification laws that may require us to notify WSEs, clients, corporate employees, or other third parties and regulators in the
event of unauthorized access to or disclosure of confidential, sensitive or personal information experienced by us or our service providers.
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In  addition  to  breach  notification  laws,  we  have  seen  increased  focus  at  every  level  of  government  inside  and  outside  of  the  United  States  on
regulating  the  collection,  storage,  use,  retention,  security,  disclosure,  transfer  and  other  processing  of  confidential,  sensitive  and  personal
information. For example, in recent years, many states have proposed or enacted new laws or amended existing laws. Certain state laws, including
the  CCPA  and  CPRA,  may  be  more  stringent  or  broader  in  scope,  or  offer  greater  individual  rights,  with  respect  to  confidential,  sensitive  and
personal  information than federal,  international  or  other  state  laws,  and such laws may differ  from each other,  which may complicate compliance
efforts,  requiring  attention  to  changing  regulatory  requirements.  We  believe  that  we  currently  comply  with  the  requirements  of  the  CCPA,  but
additional  provisions  of  the  CCPA became effective  in  2021 and will  become effective  in  2023.  In  2021 the  CCPA went  into  effect  and  imposed
certain obligations on businesses, such as a requirement to respond to consumer data access requests. We evaluated our obligations under CCPA
and ensured necessary compliance. The CPRA, which goes into effect in 2023, may impose additional obligations on us. While we are working to
comply  with  these  provisions,  we  cannot  guarantee  that  we  will  not  incur  significant  costs  or  that  our  efforts  will  be  successful.  As  a  sponsor  of
employee benefit plans with access to certain PHI, we are subject to regulation at the federal level, including under the HIPAA and the HITECH Act.
HIPAA contains restrictions and health data privacy, security and breach notification requirements with respect to the use and disclosure of PHI and
there are penalties and fines for HIPAA violations. Additionally, in 2021 the U.S. Department of Labor issued cybersecurity best-practices guidance
for sponsors, administrators, service providers and participants of defined contribution retirement plans, which guidance is relevant to the retirement
plans we maintain for our corporate employees and worksite employees.

For details regarding these data privacy and security laws and regulations discussed above and that apply to our operations, refer to Part I, Item 1.
Business, of this Form 10-K, under the heading "The Laws and Regulations that affect Our Business: Data Privacy and Security Regulations".
Complying with these and any other data privacy and security laws, rules and regulations, and with any new laws or regulations or changes to
existing laws, could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business, divert
resources from other initiatives and projects, and restrict the way products and services involving data are offered, all of which may have a material
adverse effect on our business. For example, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur additional costs to comply with the CCPA and other
similar regulations. Despite our efforts, in the future we may be unable to make required changes and modifications to our business practices in a
commercially reasonable manner, or at all. Given the rapid development of cybersecurity and data privacy laws, we expect to encounter inconsistent
interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations, as well as frequent changes to these laws and regulations. As a result, we may be
required to incur significant, unexpected compliance costs and we may be exposed to significant penalties or liability for non-compliance, the
possibility of fines, lawsuits (including class action privacy litigation), regulatory investigations, criminal or civil sanctions, audits, adverse media
coverage, public censure, other claims, significant costs for remediation and damage to our reputation, all of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business and operations. Any inability, or the perception of any inability, to adequately address data privacy or security-related
concerns, even if unfounded, or to comply with applicable laws, regulations, standards and other obligations relating to data privacy and security,
could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our relationships with clients and have a material adverse effect on our business.

Legal and Compliance Risks
Our business is  subject  to numerous complex laws,  and changes in,  uncertainty  regarding,  or  adverse application of  these laws could negatively
affect our business.

The services we provide to our clients are subject to numerous complex federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those described in
Part I, Item 1. Business, of this Form 10-K. These laws and regulations cover a diverse range of topics, including employer status, employee and
independent  contractor  classifications,  employee  benefits,  health  and  retirement  plans,  workers'  compensation,  employment  and  payroll  tax,
worksite safety, insurance and banking, wage and hour, anti-discrimination, and many topics specific to the industries of our clients. Many of these
laws  do  not  specifically  address  PEOs  or  co-employment  relationships,  and  regulators  are  often  unfamiliar  with  the  PEO  industry  and  co-
employment relationships, which can lead to unpredictable application, interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations at the federal,
state and local levels in relation to our business.

Any new laws, changes in existing laws, or any adverse application, interpretation or enforcement of new or existing laws, including those described
in  Part  I,  Item  1.  Business,  of  this  Form  10-K,  whether  they  apply  to  employers  generally  or  specifically  to  PEOs  or  to  our  co-employment
relationships could:

• reduce or eliminate the value and benefits that clients realize by using our services,

• change or eliminate the types of services we provide,

• require us to make significant changes to how we do business and provide services,
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• require us to modify our current business practices or operations,

• affect the extent and type of employee benefits that employers and co-employers can or must provide employees,

• alter the amount, timing and type of taxes employers, co-employers, clients and WSEs are required to pay and that we must manage for and
collect from our clients,

• increase the cost and complexity of the licensing requirements for our business operations,

• create or increase our liability and responsibilities to our clients and WSEs, and/or

• mandate new compliance requirements, disclosures or services.

Any of the above changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

For  example,  we  have  seen  a  growing  trend,  particularly  at  the  federal  level,  of  using  payroll  tax  credits,  deferrals  and  other  related  payroll  tax
programs as a mechanism for incentivizing SMB development and/or economic recovery. These programs are popular because they allow SMBs,
which often have income tax losses, to realize benefits via payroll tax reductions, rather than income tax reductions. However, these programs have
generally  not  been  designed  with  the  PEO industry  in  mind  and  rely  on  calculations  contained  in  client  income  tax  returns  (which  PEOs  do  not
process  in  their  role  as  the  co-employer)  and/or  other  client  data  that  cannot  be  verified  by  a  PEO,  even  though  the  resulting  tax  benefits  are
processed through the PEO’s payroll tax returns. Because minimal guidance exists in the statutes that create these programs, they are subject to
broad agency interpretation and confusion. In addition, the processes used to evaluate payroll tax filings are designed with individual taxpayers in
mind,  not  PEOs  that  aggregate  the  filings  of  many  clients,  which  can  further  increase  agency  confusion  and  make  it  difficult  to  predict  agency
interpretations.

Examples of these programs include the 2015 PATH Act, which allows SMBs to use research and development tax credits submitted on the SMB’s
income  tax  return  to  reduce  the  SMB’s  payroll  taxes,  and  the  CARES  Act  and  FFCRA  Act  payroll  tax  credit  and  payroll  tax  deferral  programs
enacted in 2020 and 2021, which allow SMBs to defer certain payroll tax obligations to a later date or to receive payroll tax credits based on SMB
employment  practices  that  are beyond our  control.  The IRS has taken positions that  we and other  PEOs,  rather  than clients,  are responsible  for
client errors and repaying rejected tax credit claims under these and similar programs. While our clients are contractually responsible for repaying us
for any rejected credits under these programs, a contract  does not guarantee our ability to recover rejected tax credits and any failure to recover
rejected tax credits from our clients would increase our operating expenses, which could result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and  results  of  operations.  Similarly,  and  the  IRS  has  taken  positions  that  the  tax  benefits  under  these  programs  should  be  calculated  on  an
aggregate  PEO,  rather  than  individual  client,  basis,  which  may  limit  our  ability  to  obtain  full  tax  benefits  for  our  clients  under  these  and  similar
programs and/or increase our exposure to credit risk if we are not able to recover excess tax credits paid to our clients. We cannot predict how these
positions will ultimately be resolved and if they are resolved unfavorably, we may be forced to discontinue supporting some or all of these programs
and/or incur tax expenses that we cannot recover from our clients, which could have a material adverse effect our ability to attract and retain SMB
clients.

These  developments,  and  any  other  new  laws,  changes  in  laws  or  adverse  application  or  interpretation  of  laws,  including  payroll  tax  incentive
programs, could reduce or eliminate the attractiveness of our services and our ability to support programs that clients want, provide clients with new
and  attractive  alternatives  to  our  services,  significantly  increase  our  compliance  costs  and  the  cost  to  provide  our  services,  require  us  to  make
substantial changes to the way in which we operate, or require us to pay client liabilities with no guarantee of subsequent recovery from our clients,
and any one of these outcomes could result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Changing  laws  and  regulations  governing  health  insurance  and  other  traditional  employee  benefits  at  the  federal,  state  and  local  level  could
negatively affect our business.

Changes to and continued uncertainty regarding the implementation and future of health care reform in the United States, at the federal, state and
local level, has the potential to substantially change the health insurance market for SMBs and how such employers provide health insurance to their
employees, which could have a materially adverse effect on how we provide our sponsored health benefits to our WSEs, and our ability to attract
and  retain  our  clients.  In  addition,  changes  at  the  federal,  state  and  local  level  to  the  laws  and  regulations  regarding  other  traditional  employee
benefits, such as retirement and workers’ compensation benefits, also have the potential to substantially change the types of benefit programs that
are available to SMBs and that we and other PEOs may be
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required  to  offer. Our  ability  to  comply  with,  and  adapt  our  service  offerings  to  take  advantage  of,  any  such  changes  could  require  significant
additional costs, divert management attention, or be prohibitive based on cost, technology or other factors, which could result in a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are not recognized as an employer of worksite employees under federal and state regulations, we and our clients could be adversely impacted.

In order to sponsor certain employee benefit plan offerings for WSEs, we must qualify as an employer of WSEs for certain purposes under the Code
and ERISA. In addition, our status as the employer for the purposes of ERISA is important for purposes of ERISA’s preemption of certain state laws.
The definition of employer under various laws is not uniform, and under both the Code and ERISA the term is defined in part by different facts and
circumstances tests.

Generally, these tests are designed to evaluate whether an individual is an independent contractor or employee and they provide substantial weight
to  whether  a  purported  employer  has  the  right  to  direct  and  control  the  details  of  an  individual's  work.  Some  factors  that  may  be  considered
important under these tests have included the employer’s degree of behavioral control (for example the extent of instructions, training and evaluation
of the work), financial control and the economic aspects of the work relationship, the type of relationship, as evidenced by the specific contract,  if
any,  whether  employee  benefits  are  provided,  whether  the  work  is  indefinite  in  duration  or  project-based,  and  whether  it  is  a  regular  part  of  the
employer’s business. However, a definitive judicial interpretation of “employer” in the context of PEOs has not been established.

We believe that  we qualify  as the employer of  WSEs for  the purposes of  Sections 3(5)  and 3(40) of  ERISA and that  our health plans are single-
employer plans that, as such, are entitled to ERISA’s preemption of the application of state law. The DOL, however, has determined on a facts and
circumstances  basis  that  certain  entities  in  the  HR outsourcing  industry  do not  qualify  as  common law employers.  In  addition,  the  DOL routinely
audits  employee benefit  plan  offerings  of  employers,  and these audits  can take  years  to  complete.  In  one routine  audit  of  one of  TriNet’s  health
plans,  the DOL has indicated that  while it  agrees that  we are an employer for  ERISA purposes,  it  believes that  wherever there is more than one
employer of a WSE, no employer may qualify as a single employer for ERISA purposes. This DOL interpretation is contrary to our interpretation of
the applicable ERISA facts and circumstances test, and we understand it also is contrary to the position of other national PEOs. We will continue to
vigorously defend our position that we are the sole employer of our WSEs for the purposes of Sections 3(5) and 3(40) of ERISA, and therefore that
our health plans are single-employer plans entitled to ERISA’s preemption of applicable state laws. While we have no current DOL audit on-going
regarding this issue, the DOL’s position remains uncertain, and this issue may arise in future audits of TriNet plans or the plans of other PEOs in our
industry. If it were ultimately determined that all health plans sponsored by PEOs are multiple-employer plans and subject to potential regulation at
the  state  level,  we  would  likely  adjust  our  business  model  and  the  manner  in  which  we  provide  employee  health  benefits  to  WSEs.  Any  such
adjustment would require significant investment in time, cost and management attention and would have a material impact on our clients and WSEs,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Similarly, to qualify for favorable tax treatment under the Code, certain employee benefit plans, such as 401(k) retirement plans and cafeteria plans
must  be  established  and  maintained  by  an  employer  for  the  exclusive  benefit  of  its  employees.  All  of  our  401(k)  retirement  plans  are  operated
pursuant to guidance provided by the IRS and have received favorable determination letters from the IRS confirming the qualified status of these
plans.  However,  the IRS uses its  own complex,  multi-factor  test  to ascertain  whether  an employment  relationship exists  between a worker  and a
purported  employer.  Although  we  believe  that  we  qualify  as  an  employer  of  WSEs  under  the  Code,  we  cannot  assure  you  that  the  IRS  will  not
challenge our position or continue to provide favorable determination letters. Moreover, the IRS' 401(k) guidance and qualification requirements are
not applicable to the operation of our cafeteria plans.

Further, if we are not recognized as an employer under the Code, we may be required to change the method by which we report and remit payroll
taxes to tax authorities. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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The definition of employers, employees and independent contractors is evolving. Changes to the laws and regulations that govern what it means to
be an employer or an employee may require us to make significant changes in our operations and may negatively affect our business.

National views on employers, employees and independent contractors are changing at a rapid rate, as evidenced by recent federal and state rule
changes.  In  September  2019,  California  passed  AB5,  a  law  that  could  potentially  reclassify  client  independent  contractors  as  employees.  In
November 2020, California voter passed Proposition 22, which supersedes AB5 for certain types of contractors. On August 20, 2021, a California
state  court  found  that  portions  of  Proposition  22  were  unconstitutional  and  further  held  that  the  entirety  of  Proposition  22  was  unenforceable.
Changes like these to the rules in any jurisdiction that define when a worker is an employee or independent contractor can increase or decrease the
pool of WSEs that we can co-employ and include in our TriNet sponsored benefit plans, which may negatively impact client demand for the services
we  provide,  require  us  to  modify  or  change  how  we  operate  our  business  and  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  our  business  and  results  of
operations.

In  January  2020,  the DOL issued a new rule  broadening the definition of  joint  employer  that  has been used under  the Fair  Labor  Standards Act
(FLSA)  for  more  than  sixty  years.  In  2022,  the  National  Labor  Relations  Board  (NLRB)  plans  to  create  a  new  rule  for  determining  whether  two
businesses are joint employers under the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA). Joint employment is not the same as co-employment, and we do not
believe that we are a joint employer under the DOL rule or any future NLRB rule, or that these rule changes impact our status as a co-employer.
While  the  DOL  rule  has  been  partially  vacated  by  a  district  court  decision,  these  changes  could  still  potentially  result  in  increased  FLSA  joint
employment claims, which could divert management attention and cause us to incur additional and potentially material costs to defend.

The  examples  above  highlight  the  impact  to  our  business  when  regulations  regarding  the  definitions  or  classification  of  employers,  employees,
independent  contractors  and  other  groups  of  workers  change.  Any  such  regulatory  changes  could  affect  the  way  in  which  we  provide  TriNet-
sponsored  benefits  to  our  WSEs,  the  way in  which  we report  and remit  payroll  taxes  to  tax  authorities,  and our  legal  liability  for  the  actions  and
inactions of our clients. Any of such regulatory changes could also require us to change the manner in which we operate our business, or provide
our services, and could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

If we do not comply with our regulatory license requirements, or if we are deemed to be operating in various non-PEO licensed industries without the
required licenses, we and our clients could be adversely impacted.

Most states require PEOs to hold a license and we are licensed as a PEO in all states that require such licenses. If we are not able to satisfy existing
or future PEO licensing requirements or other applicable regulations in any state, we may be prohibited from doing business in that state, including
having any clients within that state.

In  the  fourth  quarter  of  2021,  we  launched  a  new  product,  called  IOM,  that  offers  clients  the  option  to  receive  PEO  services  from  TriNet  while
obtaining client-sponsored health benefits from a third-party broker that partners with TriNet. TriNet does not broker insurance, but we do maintain
producer licenses in all 50 states and select U.S. territories. If we are not able to satisfy existing or future producer licensing requirements, or other
applicable regulations in any state,  we may not be able to operate this program in the same manner,  or we may lose the ability to collect certain
administrative fees, within that state.

In  addition,  state  regulatory  authorities  generally  impose  licensing  requirements  on  companies  acting  as  insurance  agents  or  third-party
administrators, such as those that handle health or retirement plan funding and claim processing. Other state regulatory authorities impose licensing
requirements on companies involved in the transmission of cash, such as banks, and other money transmitters. We do not believe that our current
activities  require  any  such  licenses,  but  we  and  others  in  our  industry  have  received  inquiries  from  regulatory  authorities  in  the  past  and  could
receive them in the future. If regulatory authorities in any state determine that we are acting as an insurance agent, third-party administrator, money
transmitter, or as any other regulated industry other than a PEO, we may need to hire additional personnel to manage regulatory compliance and
pay annual regulatory fees, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to legal and tax proceedings that may result in adverse outcomes.

We are subject to claims, lawsuits,  government investigations, and other legal and regulatory proceedings arising from the ordinary course of our
business. Refer to Note 10 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K for additional information about the
legal  proceedings  we  are  currently  involved  in  and  future  proceedings  that  we  may  face.  Current  and  future  legal  proceedings  may  result  in
substantial  costs  and may divert  management’s  attention  and resources,  which  may seriously  harm our  business,  results  of  operations,  financial
condition and liquidity.
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In  addition,  the  tax  authorities  in  the  U.S.  regularly  examine  our  tax  returns.  Refer  to Note  13 in  Part  II,  Item  8.  Financial  Statements  and
Supplementary  Data,  of  this  Form 10-K for  additional  details  regarding our  on-going tax examinations and disputes.  The ultimate outcome of  tax
examinations and disputes cannot be predicted with certainty. Should the IRS or other tax authorities assess additional taxes as a result of these or
other examinations,  we may be required to record charges to operations that  could have a material  impact  on our results  of  operations,  financial
position or cash flows.

Financial and Stock Ownership Risks
Our results of operations and stock price may fluctuate as a result of numerous factors, many of which are outside of our control.

Our future operating results and stock price are subject to fluctuations and quarterly variations based upon a variety of factors, many of which are
not within our control, including, without limitation:

• the volume and severity of health and workers' compensation insurance claims made by our WSEs, recorded as part of our insurance costs, and
the timing of related claims information provided by our insurance carriers,

• the amount and timing of our insurance premiums and other insurance costs, operating expenses and capital expenditures,

• the number of our new clients and the number of WSEs employed by each new client,

• the retention or loss of existing clients, for any reason, including third-party acquisition,

• a reduction in the number of WSEs employed by existing clients,

• the timing of client payments and payment defaults by clients,

• the costs associated with our acquisitions of companies, assets and technologies,

• any payments or draw downs on our credit facility,

• any unanticipated expenses, such as litigation or other dispute-related settlement payments and compliance expenses arising from changes in
regulations or regulatory enforcement,

• any expenses we incur for geographic and service expansion and service enhancements,

• any changes in laws or adverse interpretation or enforcement of laws, which may require us to change the manner in which we operate and/or
increase our regulatory compliance costs,

• any changes in our effective tax rate,

• the issuance of common stock or debt to pay for future acquisitions, which could dilute our stockholders or subject us to significant debt service
obligations,

• amortization expense, or the impairment of intangible assets and goodwill, associated with past or future acquisitions, and

• the impact of new accounting pronouncements.

In addition, the trading price of our common stock is subject to fluctuation in response to a variety of factors, including the factors above and below,
many of which are not within our control, including, without limitation:

• the overall performance of the equity markets,

• any trading activity, or a market expectation regarding such activity, by our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders,

• the economy as a whole, and its impact on SMBs and our clients,

• the performance and market perception of companies that investors believe are similar to us,

• any significant changes in the liquidity of our common stock, and

• market acceptance of our performance across non-financial factors, including evolving environmental, social, and governance factors favored by
investors and required by regulators.
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Many of the above factors are discussed in more detail elsewhere in this Risk Factors section and in Part II, Item 7. MD&A, of this Form 10-K. Many
of these factors are outside our control, and the variability and unpredictability of these factors have in the past and could in the future cause us to
fail to meet our expectations and the expectations of investors and any industry analysts who cover our shares, which could result in a decline in our
share price and reduced liquidity in our shares. In addition, the occurrence of one or more of these factors might cause our results of operations to
vary widely, which could lead to negative impacts on our margins, short-term liquidity, and our ability to retain or attract key personnel, and could
cause other unanticipated issues, including a downgrade of our securities by or change in opinion of industry analysts and a related decline in our
share price.

The terms of our credit facility may restrict our current and future operations, which would impair our ability to respond to changes in our business
and to manage our business.

Our  credit  facility  contains,  and  any  future  indebtedness  of  ours  would  likely  contain,  a  number  of  restrictive  covenants  that  impose  significant
operating and financial restrictions on us subject to customary exceptions, including restricting our ability to:

• incur, assume or prepay debt or incur or assume liens,

• pay dividends or distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock,

• make loans, investments or acquisitions,

• enter into sale-leaseback transactions,

• enter into new lines of business,

• complete a significant corporate transaction, such as a merger or sale of our company or its assets, and

• enter into agreements that prohibit the incurrence of liens or the payment by our subsidiaries of dividends and distributions.

Our failure to comply with these restrictions and the other terms and conditions under our credit facility could result in a default, which in turn could
result in the termination of the lenders’ commitments to extend further credit to us under our credit facility and acceleration of a substantial portion of
our  indebtedness  then  outstanding  under  our  credit  facility.  If  that  were  to  happen,  we  may  not  be  able  to  repay  all  of  the  amounts  that  would
become due under our indebtedness or refinance our debt, which could materially harm our business and force us to seek bankruptcy protection.

Atairos, our largest stockholder, may have significant influence over our Company, and the ownership of capital stock, and thus the voting control, of
our Company remains concentrated in our executive officers, directors and their affiliates, which limits your ability to influence corporate matters.

On  February  1,  2017,  an  entity  affiliated  with  Atairos  Group,  Inc.  (together  with  its  affiliates,  “Atairos”)  became  our  largest  stockholder  when  it
acquired  the  shares  of  TriNet  common  stock  previously  held  by  General  Atlantic.  In  connection  with  this  transaction,  we  appointed  Michael  J.
Angelakis,  the  Chairman  and  CEO  of  Atairos,  to  our  board  of  directors  and  agreed  to  nominate  Mr.  Angelakis  or  another  designee  of  Atairos
reasonably  acceptable  to  our  Nominating  and  Corporate  Governance  Committee  for  election  at  future  annual  meetings  until  Atairos’  beneficial
ownership falls below 15% of our common stock. As of January 31, 2022, Atairos beneficially owned approximately 33% of our outstanding common
stock, and all of our directors, executive officers and their affiliates, including Atairos, beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 38% of our
outstanding  common  stock.  As  a  result  Atairos,  particularly  when  acting  with  our  executive  officers,  directors  and  their  affiliates,  is  able  to  exert
substantial  influence  on  all  matters  requiring  stockholder  approval,  including  the  election  of  directors  and  approval  of  significant  corporate
transactions,  such  as  a  merger  or  other  sale  of  our  company  or  its  assets.  This  concentration  of  ownership  could  limit  the  ability  of  other
stockholders to influence corporate matters and may have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party from acquiring control over us.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

We lease space for our offices in various U.S. states, including the following:

Corporate Headquarters: Significant Client Service Centers:
• Dublin, California • Bradenton, Florida

• Reno, Nevada
• Indian Land, South Carolina
• Austin, Texas

For more information regarding our leases, refer to Note 8 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For the information required in this section, refer to Note 10 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information and Holders of Record

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TNET”.

As of February 7, 2022, we had 31 holders of record of our common stock per Computershare Trust Company N.A., our transfer agent. The actual
number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are
held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held
in a trust by other entities.

For information regarding our equity-based incentive plans, please refer to Part III,  Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters, of this Form 10-K.

Dividend Policy

We did not declare or pay cash dividends in 2021 or 2020. Payment of cash dividends in the future, if ever, will be at the discretion of our board of
directors  and  will  depend  on  then-existing  conditions,  including  our  financial  condition,  operating  results,  contractual  restrictions  under  our  credit
facility (refer to Note 9 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K), capital requirements, business prospects
and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

Performance Graph

The graph on the following page compares the cumulative return on our common stock since December 31, 2016 with the cumulative return on the
S&P 500  Index  and  a  Peer  Group  Index.  The  cumulative  return  is  based  on  the  assumption  that  $100  had  been  invested  in  TriNet  Group,  Inc.
common stock, the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index (S&P 500) and common stock of members of a Peer Group Index, all on December 31, 2016
and that all quarterly dividends were reinvested. The cumulative dollar returns shown on the graph represent the value that such investments would
have had at each year end.

TRINET 32 2021 FORM 10-K



STOCK ACTIVITIES Table of Contents

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among TriNet Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, and a Peer Group

 The Peer Group Index used in the chart above consists of the following companies:

Automatic Data Processing, Inc. Insperity, Inc. Paychex, Inc.

Barrett Business Services, Inc. Intuit, Inc.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about our purchases of TriNet common stock during the fourth quarter of 2021:

Period
Total Number of

Shares Purchased 

Weighted Average
Price

Paid Per Share

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans 

Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans
(in millions) 

October 1 - October 31, 2021 5,116 $ 98.36 — $ 264 
November 1 - November 30, 2021 45,279 $ 108.44 — $ 264 
December 1 - December 31, 2021 75,814 $ 95.15 6,202 $ 263 
Total 126,209 6,202 

(1) In May 2014, our board of directors approved a stock repurchase program pursuant to which we are authorized to repurchase our common stock in privately negotiated
and/or  open market  transactions,  including under  plans  complying with  Rule  10b5-1  under  the  Securities  Exchange Act  of  1934.  From time to  time,  our  board  of  directors
authorizes increases to our stock repurchase program and approved an aggregate total of $951 million as of December 31, 2021. The total remaining authorization for future
stock repurchases under our stock repurchase program was $263 million as of December 31, 2021. Our board of directors subsequently approved an aggregate total of $300
million under this program in February 2022. As a result, the total remaining authorization for future stock repurchases under our stock repurchase program was $563 million,
as of February 14, 2022. The program does not have an expiration date.
(2) Includes shares surrendered by employees to us to satisfy tax withholding obligations that arose upon vesting of restricted stock units granted pursuant to approved plans.
(3) We repurchased a total of approximately $1 million of our outstanding stock during the three months ended December 31, 2021.

We use our stock repurchase program to return value to our stockholders and to offset dilution from the issuance of stock under our equity-based
incentive plans and employee purchase plan. As part of our stock repurchase program, we repurchased approximately $94 million of our common
stock  in  2021  using  existing  cash  and  cash  equivalents  through  our  Rule  10b5-1  plan.  We  plan  to  use  current  cash  and  cash  generated  from
ongoing operating activities to fund our stock repurchase program.

(1)

(1)

(1) (2) (3)
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Our stock repurchases are subject to certain restrictions under the terms of our credit facility. For more information about our stock repurchases and
the restrictions imposed by our credit facility, refer to Note 9 and Note 12 in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this
Form 10-K.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Operational Highlights

Our consolidated results for 2021 reflect our continuing efforts to serve our existing clients throughout the COVID-19 pandemic and to support the
economic recovery of SMBs. We will continue to monitor and evaluate developments relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and will work to respond
appropriately to the impact of COVID-19 on our business and our clients' businesses.

During 2021 we:

• continued to grow total revenues as we achieved the highest Total WSEs in our history,

• entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Zenefits,

• established our 2021 Credit Program to benefit our eligible clients,

• hosted the 2  annual TriNet PeopleForce conference, our showcase customer and prospect conference focused on business transformation,
agility and innovation for small and medium-size businesses,

• introduced TriNet Financial Services Preferred, a new top-tier version of our HR solution that addresses the critical HR needs of businesses in
the financial services industry,

• launched 'Connect 360', an innovative service model intended to better meet client needs, and

• completed  a  $500  million  senior  notes  offering,  repaid  and  terminated  our  outstanding  term  loan,  and  replaced  our  existing  revolving  credit
facility with a new $500 million revolving credit facility.

Performance Highlights
Our results for 2021 when compared to 2020 are noted below:

$4.5B $455M 86%
Total revenues Operating income Insurance cost ratio

13 % increase 24 % increase 1 % increase

$338M $5.07 $376M
Net income Diluted EPS Adjusted Net income *

24 % increase 27 % increase 24 % increase

340,067 364,940
Average WSE Total WSE

5 % increase 10 % increase
* Non-GAAP measure. See definitions below under the heading "Non-GAAP Financial Measures".

We continued to achieve year-over-year revenue growth, reflecting our higher Average WSEs, rate increases and the $111 million decrease in the
Recovery Credit recognized in 2021 compared to 2020.

During 2021, our Average WSEs increased 5% and total WSEs increased 10% compared to 2020, primarily as a result of continued hiring by clients
in our installed base.

Increased medical services utilization in 2021, combined with increased volume due to WSE growth, resulted in higher insurance costs compared to
2020.

The growth in total revenues, partially offset by increases in insurance costs and operating expenses, resulted in increases in our net income and
Adjusted Net Income of 24%.

nd
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Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. For details of the critical
accounting judgments and estimates that could affect the Results of Operations, see the Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates section within
MD&A.

 Year Ended December 31, % Change
(in millions, except operating metrics data) 2021 2020 2019 2021 vs. 2020 2020 vs. 2019
Income Statement Data:
Professional service revenues $ 639 $ 544 $ 530 17 % 3 %
Insurance service revenues 3,901 3,490 3,326 12 5 
Total revenues 4,540 4,034 3,856 13 5 
Insurance costs 3,339 2,979 2,927 12 2 
Operating expenses 746 687 661 9 4 
Total costs and operating expenses 4,085 3,666 3,588 11 2 
Operating income 455 368 268 24 37 
Other income (expense):

Interest expense, bank fees and other (20) (21) (21) (5) — 
Interest income 6 10 23 (40) (57)

Income before provision for income taxes 441 357 270 24 32 
Income taxes 103 85 58 21 47 
Net income $ 338 $ 272 $ 212 24 % 28 %

Cash Flow Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities 218 546 471 (60)% 16 %
Net cash used in investing activities (135) (151) (188) (11) (20)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 12 (208) (176) (106) 18 

Non-GAAP measures :
Adjusted EBITDA 565 468 378 21 24 %
Adjusted Net income 376 303 236 24 28 
Corporate Operating Cash Flow 415 338 233 23 45 

Operating Metrics:
Insurance Cost Ratio 86 % 85 % 88 % 1 (3)%
Average WSEs 340,067 323,672 324,927 5 — 
Total WSEs 364,940 331,908 340,017 10 (2)

(1)    Refer to Non-GAAP measures definitions and reconciliations from GAAP measures under the heading "Non-GAAP Financial Measures".

The following table summarizes our balance sheet data as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

 Year Ended December 31, % Change
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019 2021 vs. 2020 2020 vs. 2019
Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 612 $ 301 $ 213 103 % 41 %
Working capital 700 290 228 141 % 27 %
Total assets 3,309 3,043 $ 2,748 9 % 11 %
Debt 495 369 391 34 % (6)%
Total stockholders’ equity 881 607 475 45 % 28 %

(1)
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A  discussion  regarding  our  financial  condition  and  results  of  operations  for  2020  compared  to  2019  can  be  found  under  Part  II,  Item  7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on February
16, 2021.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to financial measures presented in accordance with GAAP, we monitor other non-GAAP financial measures that we use to manage our
business, to make planning decisions, to allocate resources and to use as performance measures in our executive compensation plan. These key
financial measures provide an additional view of our operational performance over the long-term and provide information that we use to maintain and
grow our business.

The presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures is used to enhance the understanding of certain aspects of our financial performance. It is
not meant to be considered in isolation from, superior to, or as a substitute for the directly comparable financial measures prepared in accordance
with GAAP.

Non-GAAP Measure Definition How We Use The Measure
Adjusted EBITDA • Net income, excluding the effects of: 

- income tax provision, 
- interest expense, bank fees and other, 
- depreciation, 
- amortization of intangible assets, and 
- stock based compensation expense.

• Provides period-to-period comparisons on a consistent
basis and an understanding as to how our management
evaluates  the  effectiveness  of  our  business  strategies
by  excluding  certain  non-cash  charges  such  as
depreciation  and  amortization,  and  stock-based
compensation  recognized  based  on  the  estimated  fair
values. We believe these charges are either not directly
resulting  from  our  core  operations  or  not  indicative  of
our ongoing operations. 
•  Enhances  comparisons  to  prior  periods  and,
accordingly,  facilitates  the  development  of  future
projections and earnings growth prospects. 
•  Provides  a  measure,  among  others,  used  in  the
determination  of  incentive  compensation  for
management. 
• We also sometimes refer to Adjusted EBITDA margin,
which is the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to total revenues.

Adjusted Net Income • Net income, excluding the effects of:
- effective income tax rate ,
- stock based compensation,
- amortization of other intangible assets, net,
- non-cash interest expense , and

-  the  income  tax  effect  (at  our  effective  tax  rate  of
these pre-tax adjustments.

• Provides information to our stockholders and board of
directors to understand how our management evaluates
our  business,  to  monitor  and  evaluate  our  operating
results,  and  analyze  profitability  of  our  ongoing
operations  and  trends  on  a  consistent  basis  by
excluding certain non-cash charges.

Corporate Operating Cash Flows •  Net  cash  provided  by  (used  in)  operating  activities,
excluding the effects of: 
-  Assets  associated  with  WSEs  (accounts  receivable,
unbilled  revenue,  prepaid  expenses  and  other  current
assets) and 
-  Liabilities  associated  with  WSEs  (client  deposits  and
other  client  liabilities,  accrued  wages,  payroll  tax
liabilities and other payroll  withholdings,  accrued health
benefit  costs,  accrued  workers'  compensation  costs,
insurance  premiums  and  other  payables,  and  other
current liabilities).

•  Provides  information  that  our  stockholders  and
management  can  use  to  evaluate  our  cash  flows  from
operations  independent  of  the  current  assets  and
liabilities associated with our WSEs. 
•  Enhances  comparisons  to  prior  periods  and,
accordingly,  used  as  a  liquidity  measure  to  manage
liquidity  between  corporate  and  WSE  related  activities,
and  to  help  determine  and  plan  our  cash  flow  and
capital strategies.

(1)      Non-GAAP  effective  tax  rate  is  25.5%  for  2021,  2020  and  2019,  which  excludes  the  income  tax  impact  from stock  based  compensation,  changes  in  uncertain  tax
positions and nonrecurring benefits or expenses from federal legislative changes.

(2)    Non-cash interest expense represents amortization and write-off of our debt issuance costs and loss on a terminated derivative.

(1)

(2)
(1)
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Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures

The table below presents a reconciliation of Net income to Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Net income $ 338 $ 272 $ 212 
Provision for income taxes 103 85 58 
Stock based compensation 50 43 41 
Interest expense, bank fees and other 20 21 21 
Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets ¹ 54 47 46 
Adjusted EBITDA $ 565 $ 468 $ 378 
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 12.5 % 11.6 % 9.8 %

    Amount includes impairment of customer relationship intangibles and amortization of cloud computing arrangements included in operating expenses.

The table below presents a reconciliation of Net income to Adjusted Net Income:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Net income $ 338 $ 272 $ 212 
Effective income tax rate adjustment (10) (6) (11)
Stock based compensation 50 43 41 
Amortization of other intangible assets, net ¹ 12 5 5 
Non-cash interest expense 3 1 1 
Income tax impact of pre-tax adjustments (17) (12) (12)
Adjusted Net Income $ 376 $ 303 $ 236 

    Amount includes impairment of customer relationship intangibles.

The table below presents a reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to Corporate Operating Cash Flows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 218 $ 546 $ 471 

Less: Change in WSE related other current assets (51) 10 15 
Less: Change in WSE related liabilities (146) 198 223 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities - WSE $ (197) $ 208 $ 238 
Net cash provided by operating activities - Corporate $ 415 $ 338 $ 233 

 

(1)

 

(1)
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Operating Metrics

Worksite Employees (WSE)

Average WSE growth is a volume measure we use to monitor the performance of our business. Average WSEs increased 5% when comparing 2021
to 2020, primarily due to increased hiring by clients in our installed base across most verticals in 2021, led by our Technology vertical. Most of the
hiring in our installed based in 2021 was from clients that benefited from our Recovery Credit program that we launched in April 2020. Our Recovery
Credit program was designed to assist in the economic recovery of SMBs and to promote client loyalty and incentivize client retention.

Total WSEs can be used to estimate our beginning WSEs for the next period and, as a result,  can be used as an indicator of our potential future
success in growing our business and retaining clients.

Anticipated  revenues  for  future  periods  can  diverge  from  the  revenue  expectation  derived  from  Average  WSEs  or  Total  WSEs  due  to  pricing
differences  across  our  HR  solutions  and  services  and  the  degree  to  which  clients  and  WSEs  elect  to  participate  in  our  solutions  during  future
periods. In addition to focusing on growing our Average WSE and Total WSE counts, we also focus on pricing strategies, benefit participation and
service differentiation to expand our revenue opportunities. We report the impact of client and WSE participation differences as a change in mix.

In addition to focusing on retaining and growing our WSE base, we continue to review acquisition opportunities that would add appropriately to our
scale. We continue to invest in efforts intended to enhance client experience and manage attrition, through operational and process improvements.

Insurance Cost Ratio (ICR)

ICR  is  a  performance  measure  calculated  as  the  ratio  of  insurance  costs  to  insurance  service  revenues.  We  believe  that  ICR  promotes  an
understanding of our insurance cost trends and our ability to align our relative pricing to risk performance.

We purchase workers' compensation and health benefits coverage for our colleagues and WSEs. Under the insurance policies for this coverage, we
bear claims costs up to a defined deductible amount. Our insurance costs, which comprise a significant portion of our overall costs, are significantly
affected  by  our  WSEs’  health  and  workers'  compensation  insurance  claims  experience.  We  set  our  insurance  service  fees  for  workers’
compensation  and  health  benefits  in  advance  for  fixed  benefit  periods.  As  a  result,  increases  in  these  insurance  costs  above  our  projections,
reflected as a higher ICR, result  in lower net income. Conversely,  decreases in these insurance costs below our projections,  reflected as a lower
ICR, result in higher net income.
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Under our fully-insured workers' compensation insurance policies, we assume the risk for losses up to $1 million per claim occurrence (deductible
layer). The ultimate cost of the workers’ compensation services provided cannot be known until all the claims are settled. Our ability to predict these
costs  is  limited  by  unexpected  increases  in  frequency  or  severity  of  claims,  which  can  vary  due  to  changes  in  the  cost  of  treatments  or  claim
settlements.

Under  our  risk-based  health  insurance  policies,  we  assume  the  risk  of  variability  in  future  health  claims  costs  for  our  enrollees.  This  variability
typically  results  from  changing  trends  in  the  volume,  severity  and  ultimate  cost  of  medical  and  pharmaceutical  claims,  due  to  changes  to  the
components of medical cost trend. These trends change, and other seasonal trends and variability may develop. As a result, it is difficult for us to
predict our insurance costs with accuracy and a significant increase in these costs could have a material adverse effect on our business.

(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Insurance costs $ 3,339 $ 2,979 $ 2,927 
Insurance service revenues 3,901 3,490 3,326 
Insurance Cost Ratio 86 % 85 % 88 %

ICR increased due to the increase in medical services utilization in 2021, combined with COVID-19 testing, treatment and vaccination costs, which
together resulted in higher insurance costs. This was partially offset by the increase in insurance service revenues. While medical services utilization
has increased in 2021, the ICR remains below pre-pandemic levels, as access to medical systems was constrained in regions where increases in
hospitalizations arising from the COVID-19 Delta and Omicron variants reduced preventative and elective procedures.
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Total Revenues
Our  revenues  consist  of  professional  service  revenues  (PSR)  and insurance service  revenues  (ISR).  PSR represents  fees  charged to  clients  for
processing payroll-related transactions on behalf of our clients, access to our HR expertise, employment and benefit law compliance services, and
other  HR-related  services.  ISR  consists  of  insurance-related  billings  and  administrative  fees  collected  from  clients  and  withheld  from  WSEs  for
workers' compensation insurance and health benefit insurance plans provided by third-party insurance carriers.

In April  2020, we created our Recovery Credit  program to assist  in the economic recovery of  our existing SMB clients and enhance our ability  to
retain eligible clients. Eligible clients received one-time reductions against fees for future services, accounted for as a discount, to be received over
the following 12 months.

The reduction in total revenue under the Recovery Credit program was estimated each period based on the timing of when eligible clients received
the Recovery Credit and the ultimate amount of the total Recovery Credit.  As of June 30, 2021, we had fully recognized the maximum amount of
$145 million for the Recovery Credit and no further reduction to revenue will be recognized.

In March 2021, we created our 2021 Credit program, which was designed to return up to $25 million to eligible customers based on the performance
of  our  health  insurance costs  in  2021.  We recognized a $25 million reduction to  revenue for  credits  that  will  be paid to  eligible clients  under  this
program. These credits are recorded as a reduction to ISR and are payable within 12 months to eligible clients as of March 31, 2021.

In 2021, we recognized a reduction in revenue of $17 million for the Recovery Credit and $25 million for the 2021 Credit Program, compared to $128
million recognized in 2020 for the Recovery Credit.

Monthly total revenues per Average WSE is a measure we use to monitor the success of our pricing strategies. This measure increased 7% in 2021
compared to 2020.

We also use the following measures to further analyze changes in total revenue:
• Volume - the percentage change in period over period Average WSEs,
• Rate - the combined weighted average percentage changes in service fees for each vertical service and changes in service fees associated with

each insurance service offering,
• Mix - the change in composition of Average WSEs within our verticals combined with the composition of our enrolled WSEs within our insurance

service offerings, and
• Credit - the weighted average amounts recognized for the Recovery Credit and 2021 Credit programs.

   

PSR

ISR - % represents proportion of insurance service revenues to total
revenues

The growth  in  total  revenues  was  primarily  driven  by  higher  Average  WSEs and  growth  in  rate,  combined  with  the  $111  million  decrease  in  the
Recovery Credit recognized in 2021. This was partially offset by the $25 million reduction in revenue recognized for the 2021 Credit Program.
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Operating Income

Our  operating  income  consists  of  total  revenues  less  insurance  costs  and  OE.  Our  insurance  costs  include  insurance  premiums  for  coverage
provided by insurance carriers, reimbursement of claims payments made by insurance carriers or third-party administrators, and changes in accrued
costs  related  to  contractual  obligations  with  our  workers'  compensation  and  health  benefit  carriers.  Our  OE  consists  primarily  of  our  corporate
employees'  compensation  related  expenses,  which  includes  payroll,  payroll  taxes,  SBC,  bonuses,  commissions  and  other  payroll-and  benefits-
related costs.

The table below provides a view of the changes in components of operating income on a year-over-year basis.

(in millions)
$368 2020 Operating Income

+506
Higher total revenues primarily driven by higher Average WSEs, rate increases and a $111 million decrease in the Recovery
Credit recognized. This was partially offset by the $25 million reduction in revenue recognized for the 2021 Credit Program in
2021.

-360
Higher insurance costs primarily as a result of higher medical services utilization in 2021 compared to 2020 when we saw a
significantly lower than typical medical services utilization due to stay-at-home orders and social distancing practices due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.

-59
Higher OE primarily as a result of increased sales and marketing expense, higher payroll tax and assessments and D&A, together
with higher compensation and consulting expenses to support initiatives to improve client experience, enhance service offerings,
and improve processes.

$455 2021 Operating Income

Professional Service Revenues
Our clients are primarily billed on a fee per WSE per month per transaction. Our vertical approach provides us the flexibility to offer our clients in
different industries with varied services at different prices, which we believe potentially reduces the value of solely using Average WSE and Total
WSE counts as indicators of future potential revenue performance.
We also analyze changes in PSR with the following measures:
• Volume - the percentage change in period over period Average WSEs,
• Rate - the weighted average percentage change in fees for each vertical,
• Mix - the change in composition of Average WSEs across our verticals, and
• Recovery Credit - the weighted average amounts recognized for the Recovery Credit program.

   
The growth in PSR was driven by higher Average WSEs, a growth in rate and a $12 million decrease in the Recovery Credit recognized. The growth
in rate was weighted to our smaller clients, and included an increase in fees for other services, including COBRA administration. We continued to
experience  a  favorable  change  in  our  vertical  mix  of  WSEs,  as  SMBs  in  our  Technology,  Financial  Services  and  Professional  Services  verticals
returned to hiring at a faster rate than our Main Street vertical.
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Insurance Service Revenues

ISR consists of insurance services-related billings and administrative fees collected from clients and withheld from WSE payroll for health benefits
and workers' compensation insurance provided by third-party insurance carriers.

We use the following measures to analyze changes in ISR:

• Volume - the percentage change in period over period Average WSEs,
• Rate - the weighted average percentage change in fees associated with each of our insurance service offerings,
• Mix - all other changes including the composition of our enrolled WSEs within our insurance service offerings (health plan enrollment), and
• Credit - the weighted average amounts recognized for the Recovery Credit and 2021 Credit programs.

   
The growth in ISR was primarily driven by higher Average WSEs, rate increases and the $99 million decrease in the Recovery Credit recognized,
partially offset by the $25 million reduction in revenue recognized for the 2021 Credit Program.

Insurance Costs

Insurance costs  include insurance premiums for  coverage provided by insurance carriers,  payments  for  claims costs  and other  risk  management
services,  reimbursement  of  claims  payments  made  by  insurance  carriers  or  third-party  administrators  below  a  predefined  deductible  limit,  and
changes in accrued costs related to contractual obligations with our workers' compensation and health benefit carriers.
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We use the following measures to analyze changes in insurance costs:
• Volume - the percentage change in period over period Average WSEs,
• Rate - the weighted average percentage change in cost trend associated with each of our insurance service offerings, and
• Mix - all other changes including the composition of our enrolled WSEs within our insurance service offerings (health plan enrollment).

   

During 2020, stay-at-home orders and social distancing practices due to the COVID-19 pandemic decreased medical services utilization, particularly
in the second quarter, as enrollees deferred or cancelled elective procedures and reduced outpatient medical, dental and vision services. Medical
services  utilization  increased  in  2021  as  enrollees  returned  to  outpatient  medical,  dental  and  vision  care  and  elective  procedures.  The  higher
utilization was partially offset by reductions in some regions for part of the year due to the surges of the COVID-19 Delta and Omicron variants. As a
result, our medical services utilization in 2021 remained below pre-pandemic levels.

The  increase  in  medical  services  utilization  in  2021,  combined  with  increased  COVID-19  testing,  treatment  and  vaccination  costs,  caused  the
increase in  rate.  This  was partially  offset  by larger  positive  claims development  as our  accrued health  costs  and accrued workers'  compensation
costs as of December 31, 2020 were paid in 2021. The increase in volume was primarily driven by higher Average WSEs.
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Operating Expenses

OE  includes  cost  of  providing  services  (COPS),  sales  and  marketing  (S&M),  general  and  administrative  (G&A),  systems  development  and
programming (SD&P), and depreciation and amortization expenses (D&A).

We had approximately  2,800 corporate employees as of  December 31,  2021 in 11 offices across the U.S.  In 2021,  we continued to exit  expiring
leases due to our evolving remote work practices and policies. Our corporate employees' compensation-related expenses represent a majority of our
operating expenses. Compensation costs for our corporate employees include payroll, payroll taxes, SBC, bonuses, commissions and other payroll-
and benefits-related costs. Compensation-related expense represented 62% and 63% of our OE in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

In 2021, we experienced OE growth of 9% compared to 2020. The ratio of OE to total revenues was 16% and 17% in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

   

% represents portion of compensation related expense
included in operating expenses
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We analyze and present our OE based upon the business functions COPS, S&M, G&A and SD&P and D&A. The charts below provide a view of the
expenses of the business functions. Dollars are presented in millions and percentages represent year-over-year change.

       

(in millions)
$687 2020 Operating Expense

+2 COPS was consistent with the prior year.
+16 S&M increased, driven primarily by increased compensation and costs related to our 2nd annual TriNet PeopleForce conference.

+24 G&A increased, driven primarily by increased payroll tax and related payroll tax assessments, compensation and technology
services expenses to improve our systems and processes, and to enhance our efficiency.

+10 SD&P increased, driven primarily by increased consulting and technology services expenses as we continue to work to improve
our client experience and our systems and processes.

+7 D&A increased, driven primarily by the impairment of customer relationship intangibles.
$746 2021 Operating Expenses

The primary drivers to the changes in our OE are presented below:
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Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest and dividend income from investments, interest expense under our previous credit facility and
interest on our 3.50% Senior Notes due 2029 (our 2029 Notes) issued in February 2021.

 
Interest income decreased primarily due to lower average market interest rates. Interest expense, bank fees and other was consistent with the prior
period.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate (ETR) was 23% and 24% for 2021 and 2020, respectively. The change in ETR was primarily attributable to benefits associated
with a favorable adjustment of our previously disputed receivable from the IRS.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

Liquidity  is  a  measure  of  our  ability  to  access  sufficient  cash  flows  to  meet  the  short-term  and  long-term  cash  requirements  of  our  business
operations.  Our  principal  source  of  liquidity  for  operations  is  derived  from  cash  provided  by  operating  activities.  We  rely  on  cash  provided  by
operating activities to meet our short-term liquidity requirements, which primarily relate to the payment of corporate payroll and other operating costs,
and  capital  expenditures.  Our  cash  flow  related  to  WSE  payroll  and  benefits  is  generally  matched  by  advance  collection  from  our  clients.  To
minimize the credit risk associated with remitting the payroll and associated taxes and benefits costs, we require clients to prefund the payroll and
related payroll taxes and benefits costs.

We believe that we can meet our present and reasonably foreseeable operating cash needs and future commitments through existing liquid assets
and continuing cash flows from corporate operating activities.

Included in our balance sheets are assets and liabilities resulting from transactions directly or indirectly associated with WSEs, including payroll and
related taxes and withholdings, our sponsored workers' compensation and health insurance programs, and other benefit programs. Although we are
not subject to regulatory restrictions that require us to do so, we distinguish and manage our corporate assets and liabilities separately from those
current assets and liabilities held by us to satisfy our employer obligations associated with our WSEs as follows:
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December 31,
2021 2020

(in millions) Corporate WSE Total Corporate WSE Total
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 612 $ — $ 612 $ 301 $ — $ 301 
Investments 135 — 135 57 — 57 
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments 19 1,176 1,195 15 1,373 1,388 
Other current assets 91 406 497 59 355 414 
Total current assets $ 857 $ 1,582 $ 2,439 $ 432 $ 1,728 $ 2,160 
Total current liabilities 157 1,582 $ 1,739 $ 142 $ 1,728 $ 1,870 

Working capital $ 700 $ — $ 700 $ 290 $ — $ 290 

As of December 31, 2021, we did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect
on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Working capital for WSEs related activities

We designate funds to ensure that we have adequate current assets to satisfy our current obligations associated with WSEs, the Recovery Credit
liability  and  2021  Credit  Program  liability.  We  expect  the  Recovery  Credit  and  2021  Credit  Program  aggregate  liability  of  $48  million  as  of
December  31,  2021  to  be  settled  over  the  following  12  months.  We  manage  our  WSE  payroll  and  benefits  obligations  through  collections  of
payments from our clients which generally occur two to three days in advance of client payroll dates. We regularly review our short-term obligations
associated with our WSEs (such as payroll and related taxes, insurance premium and claim payments) and designate funds required to fulfill these
short-term obligations, which we refer to as PFC. PFC is included in current assets as restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments.

We  manage  our  sponsored  benefit  and  workers'  compensation  insurance  obligations  by  maintaining  collateral  funds  in  restricted  cash,  cash
equivalents and investments. These collateral amounts are generally determined at the beginning of each plan year and we may be required by our
insurance  carriers  to  adjust  our  collateral  balances  when  facts  and  circumstances  change.  We  regularly  review  our  collateral  balances  with  our
insurance carriers and anticipate funding further collateral in the future based upon our capital requirements. We classify our restricted cash, cash
equivalents and investments as current and noncurrent assets to match against the anticipated timing of payments to carriers.

The following table summarizes our workers' compensation obligations, gross of collateral, as of December 31, 2021,

 Payments Due by Period

(in millions) Total
Less than 1

year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than 5

years
Workers' compensation obligations $ 198 $ 57 $ 62 $ 26 $ 53 

(1) Represents estimated payments that are expected to be made to carriers for various workers' compensation programs under the contractual obligations. These obligations
include the costs of reimbursing the carriers for paying claims within the deductible layer in accordance with the workers' compensation insurance policy.

Working capital for corporate purposes

Corporate working capital as of December 31, 2021 increased $410 million from December 31, 2020, primarily driven by a $311 million increase in
corporate unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and a $78 million increase in corporate investments.

(1)
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We use our available cash and cash equivalents to satisfy our operational and regulatory requirements and to fund capital expenditures. We believe
that we can meet our present and reasonably foreseeable operating cash needs and future commitments through existing liquid assets, continuing
cash flows from corporate operating activities and the potential  issuance of  debt or  equity securities.  We believe our existing corporate cash and
cash equivalents and positive working capital will be sufficient to meet our working capital expenditure needs for at least the next twelve months.
The following table summarizes our purchase obligations as of December 31, 2021,

 Payments Due by Period

(in millions) Total
Less than 1

year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than 5

years
Purchase obligations $ 150 $ 87 $ 56 $ 7 $ — 

(1) Our purchase obligations primarily consist of software licenses, consulting and maintenance agreements, and sales and marketing events pertaining to various agreements.

Cash Flows

The following table presents our cash flow activities for the stated periods:

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020

Corporate WSE Total Corporate WSE Total
Net cash provided by (used in):   

Operating activities $ 415 $ (197) $ 218 $ 338 $ 208 $ 546 
Investing activities (119) (16) (135) (69) (82) (151)
Financing activities 12 — 12 (208) — (208)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted $ 308 $ (213) $ 95 $ 61 $ 126 $ 187 
Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted:

Beginning of period $ 352 $ 1,291 $ 1,643 $ 291 $ 1,165 $ 1,456 
End of period $ 660 $ 1,078 $ 1,738 $ 352 $ 1,291 $ 1,643 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted $ 311 $ — $ 311 $ 88 $ — $ 88 
Restricted (3) (213) (216) (27) 126 99 

Operating Activities

Components of net cash provided by operating activities are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 218 $ 546 

Net cash provided by operating activities - Corporate $ 415 $ 338 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities - WSE $ (197) $ 208 

The year-over-year change in net cash used in operating activities for WSE purposes was primarily driven by timing of client payments, payments of
payroll  and  payroll  taxes,  settlement  of  the  Recovery  Credit,  and  insurance  claim  activities.  We  expect  the  changes  in  restricted  cash  and  cash
equivalents to correspond to WSE cash provided by (or used in) operations as we manage our obligations associated with WSEs through restricted
cash.

Our corporate operating cash flows in 2021 increased when compared to 2020 due to the increase in our net income and the timing of our payments
of corporate obligations.

(1)
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the periods presented below primarily consisted of purchases of investments and capital expenditures, partially
offset by proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments.

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020
Investments:

Purchases of investments $ (444) $ (327)
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 349 224 
Other — (12)

Cash used in investments $ (95) $ (115)

Capital expenditures:
Software and hardware $ (33) $ (33)
Office furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements (7) (3)

Cash used in capital expenditures $ (40) $ (36)
Cash used in investing activities $ (135) $ (151)

Investments

We invest a portion of available cash in investment-grade securities with effective maturities less than five years that are classified on our balance
sheets as investments.

We also invest funds held as collateral to satisfy our long-term obligation towards workers' compensation liabilities. These investments are classified
on our  balance  sheets  as  restricted  cash,  cash  equivalents  and  investments.  We review the  amount  and  the  anticipated  holding  period  of  these
investments  regularly  in  conjunction  with  our  estimated  long-term  workers'  compensation  liabilities  and  anticipated  claims  payment  trend.  At
December 31, 2021, our investments had a weighted average duration of less than two years and an average S&P credit rating of AA.

As of December 31, 2021, we held approximately $2.3 billion in restricted and unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, of which $612
million  was  unrestricted  cash  and  cash  equivalents  and  $303  million  was  unrestricted  investments.  Refer  to Note 2 in  Part  II,  Item  8.  Financial
Statements and Supplemental Data, in this Form 10-K for a summary of these funds.

In December 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Zenefits. The total purchase price of $220 million, subject to customary closing
adjustments, will be settled by the issuance of up to $20 million of TriNet stock to eligible selling shareholders, with the remainder paid in cash from
corporate  working capital.  The acquisition is  subject  to  customary  closing conditions and regulatory  approval  and is  expected to  close in  the first
quarter of 2022.

Capital Expenditures
During 2021, we continued to make investments in software and hardware and we enhanced our existing service offerings and technology platform.
We expect capital investments in our software and hardware to continue in the future.
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Financing Activities

Net  cash  provided  by  (used  in)  financing  activities  in  the  years  ended  December  31,  2021  and  2020  consisted  of  our  debt  and  equity-related
activities.

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020
Financing activities

Repurchase of common stock, net of issuance $ (109) $ (186)
Proceeds from issuance of 2029 Notes 500 — 
Repayment of borrowings (370) (22)
Payment of debt issuance costs (7) — 
Payment of long-term financing fees (2) — 
Draw down from revolving credit facility — 234 
Repayment of borrowings under revolving credit facility — (234)

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 12 $ (208)

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we repurchased 1,161,909 shares of our common stock for approximately $94 million through our stock
repurchase program. As of December 31, 2021, approximately $263 million remained available for repurchase under all authorizations by our board
of directors. We plan to use current cash and cash generated from ongoing operating activities to fund this stock repurchase program.

In February 2022, our board of directors authorized a $300 million incremental increase to our ongoing stock repurchase program initiated in May
2014. We use this program to return value to our stockholders and to offset dilution from the issuance of stock under our equity-based incentive plan
and employee purchase plan.

In  February  2021,  we  issued  $500  million  aggregate  principal  amount  of  our  2029  Notes.  $370  million  of  the  proceeds  was  used  to  repay  and
terminate  the  2018  Term  Loan  A.  The  remaining  funds  were  used  for  general  corporate  purposes.  Refer  to Note 6 in  Part  II,  Item  8.  Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K for further information.

In February 2021, concurrently with the closing of our 2029 Notes offering, we entered into a new $500 million revolving credit facility under a new
credit  agreement  (our  2021  Credit  Agreement).  The  2021  Credit  Agreement  includes  a  $100  million  letter  of  credit  sub-facility  and  a  $40  million
swingline sub-facility. We also have the option to incur incremental credit facilities of up to the greater of $450 million and 100% of EBITDA for the
most  recent  period  of  four  fiscal  quarters  for  which  financial  statements  have been delivered.  Such  incremental  facilities  are  subject  to  obtaining
additional commitments from lenders. At December 31, 2021, we had $500 million available under our 2021 Credit Agreement.

Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021, $500 million aggregate principal of our 2029 Notes was outstanding. The Indenture governing the 2029 Notes includes
restrictive covenants limiting our ability to: (i)  create liens on certain assets to secure debt; (ii)  grant subsidiary guarantees of certain debt without
also providing a guarantee of the 2029 Notes; and (iii) consolidate or merge with or into, or sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our
assets to, another person, subject, in each case, to certain customary exceptions.

Our 2021 Credit Agreement includes a $500 million revolving credit facility. The 2021 Credit Agreement includes negative covenants that limit our
ability to incur indebtedness and liens, sell assets and make restricted payments, including dividends and investments, subject to certain exceptions.
In addition, the 2021 Credit Agreement also contains other customary affirmative and negative covenants and customary events of default. The 2021
Credit Agreement also contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain certain maximum total net leverage ratios.

We were in compliance with all financial covenants under our 2021 Credit Agreement at December 31, 2021.
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Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates

Our consolidated financial  statements  are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require us to make estimates,  judgments,  and assumptions
that  affect  reported  amounts  of  assets,  liabilities,  revenues  and  expenses,  and  the  related  disclosures  of  contingent  assets  and  liabilities.  These
estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Some of
the assumptions are highly uncertain at the time of estimation. To the extent actual experience differs from the assumptions used, our consolidated
financial statements could be materially affected. For additional information about our accounting policies, refer to Note 1 in Part II, Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form 10-K.

The following items require significant estimation or judgment:

Insurance Costs

We  purchase  workers'  compensation  and  health  benefits  coverage  for  our  employees  and  WSEs.  As  part  of  these  insurance  policies,  we  bear
claims  costs  up  to  a  defined  deductible  amount  and  as  a  result,  we  establish  accrued  insurance  costs  including  both  known  claims  filed  and
estimates for incurred but not reported claims.

We use external  actuaries to evaluate,  review and recommend estimates of  our accrued workers'  compensation and health insurance costs.  The
accrued  costs  studies  performed  by  these  qualified  external  actuaries  analyze  historical  claims  data  to  develop  a  range  of  our  potential  ultimate
costs  using  loss  development,  expected  loss  ratio  and  frequency/severity  methods  in  accordance  with  Actuarial  Standards  of  Practice.  These
methods are applied to classes of the claims data organized by policy year and risk class.

Key judgments and evaluations in arriving at loss estimates by class and the accrued costs selection overall include:

• the selection of method used and the relative weights given to selecting the method used for each policy year,

• the underlying assumptions of LDF used in these models,

• the effect of any changes to the insurers' claims handling and payment processes,

• evaluation of medical and indemnity cost trends, costs from changes in the risk exposure being evaluated and any applicable changes in legal,
regulatory or judicial environment.

We  review  and  evaluate  these  judgments  and  the  associated  recommendations  in  concluding  the  adequacy  of  accrued  costs.  Our  quarterly
reserving process involves the collaboration of our qualified external actuaries and our actuarial and finance departments to approve a single point
best  estimate.  In selecting this best estimate,  management considers the actuarial  estimates and applies informed judgment regarding qualitative
factors that may not be fully captured in these actuarial estimates. Such factors include, but are not limited to: the timing of the emergence of claims,
volume and complexity of claims, social and judicial trends, and the extent of our historical loss data versus industry information. Where adjustments
are necessary these are recorded in the period in which the adjustments are identified.

These accrued costs may vary in subsequent quarters from the amount estimated. Certain assumptions used in estimating these accrued costs are
highly judgmental. Our accrued costs, results of operations and financial condition can be materially impacted if actual experience differs from the
assumptions used in establishing these accrued costs.

Accrued Workers' Compensation Costs

Under our policies, we are responsible for reimbursing the insurance carriers for workers' compensation losses up to $1 million per claim occurrence
(Deductible Layer). As workers' compensation costs for a particular period are not known for many years after the losses have occurred, these costs
represent  our  best  estimate  of  unpaid  claim  losses  and  loss  adjustment  expenses  within  the  deductible  layer  in  accordance  with  our  insurance
policies.  We  use  external  actuaries  to  evaluate,  review  and  recommend  accrued  workers'  compensation  costs  on  a  quarterly  basis.  The  data  is
segmented by class and state and analyzed by policy year, and states where we have small exposure are aggregated into a single grouping.
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We use a combination of loss development, expected loss ratio and frequency/severity methods which include the following inputs, assumptions and
analytical techniques:

• Historical  volume  and  severity  of  workers'  compensation  cost  experience,  exposure  data  and  industry  loss  experience  related  to  TriNet’s
insurance policies,

• inputs of WSEs’ job responsibilities and location,

• estimates of future cost trends,

• expected  loss  ratios  for  the  latest  accident  year  or  prior  accident  years,  adjusted  for  the  loss  trend,  the  effect  of  rate  changes  and  other
quantifiable factors, and

• LDFs to project the reported losses for each accident year to an ultimate basis.

Final  cost  settlements  may  vary  materially  from  the  present  estimates,  particularly  when  payments  do  not  occur  until  well  into  the  future.  In  our
experience, plan years related to workers' compensation programs may take 10 years or more to be fully settled.

We believe  that  our  estimate  of  accrued  workers'  compensation  costs  is  most  sensitive  to  LDFs  given  the  long  reporting  and  paid  development
patterns  for  our  workers'  compensation  loss  costs.  Our  methods  of  estimating  accrued  workers'  compensation  costs  rely  on  these  LDFs  and  an
estimate of future cost trend.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of changes in the LDFs on our year end estimate of insurance costs (in millions of dollars):

Change in loss development factor Change in insurance costs
-5.0% ($33)
-2.5% ($19)
+2.5% $20
+5.0% $40

Accrued Health Insurance Costs

We  sponsor  and  administer  a  number  of  employee  benefit  plans,  including  group  health,  dental,  vision  and  life  insurance  as  an  employer  plan
sponsor under section 3(5) of the ERISA. Approximately 84% of our group health insurance costs relate to risk-based plans in which we agree to
reimburse our carriers for any claims paid within an agreed-upon per-person deductible layer up to a maximum aggregate exposure limit per policy.
These deductible dollar limits and maximum limits vary by carrier and year.

Costs covered by these insurance plans generally develop on average within three to six months so insurance costs and accrued health insurance
costs include estimates of reported losses and claims incurred but not yet paid (IBNP). Data is grouped and analyzed by insurance carrier.

To estimate accrued health benefits costs we use a number of inputs, assumptions and analytical techniques:

• historical loss claims payment patterns and medical cost trend rates related to TriNet’s insurance policies,

• current period claims costs and claims reporting patterns (completion factors), and

• plan enrollment.

Medical cost trend rates are a significant factor we use in developing our accrued health insurance costs. Medical cost trends are developed through
an analysis  of  claims incurred in prior  months,  provider  pricing and indicators  of  health care utilization,  including pharmacy utilization trends,  and
outpatient and inpatient utilization. Many factors may cause medical cost trend to vary from our estimates.
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The following table illustrates the sensitivity of changes in the medical cost trend on our year end estimate of insurance costs (in millions of dollars):

Change in medical cost trend Change in insurance costs
+3.0% $21
+2.0% $14
+1.0% $7
-1.0% $(7)
-2.0% $(14)
-3.0% $(21)

Completion factors are an actuarial estimate based on historical experience and analysis of current trends, of paid costs to carriers as a percentage
of  the expected ultimate  costs  to  carriers.  Many factors  may cause actual  claims submissions  rates  from our  carriers  to  vary  from our  estimated
completion factors, including carrier claims processing patterns, the mix of providers and the mix of electronic versus manual claims submitted to our
carriers.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of changes in completion factors on our year end estimate of insurance costs (in millions of dollars):

Change in completion factors Change in insurance costs
-0.75% $16
-0.50% $11
-0.25% $5
+0.25% $(5)
+0.50% $(11)
+0.75% $(16)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer  to Note 1 in  Part  II,  Item  8,  Financial  Statements  and  Supplementary  Data,  of  this  Form  10-K  for  additional  information  related  to  recent
accounting pronouncements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. Changes in U.S. interest rates affect the interest earned on
the Company's cash, cash equivalents and the fair value of our investments.

Our cash equivalents consist primarily of money market mutual funds, which are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk. Our investments are
subject  to  interest  rate  risk  because these securities  generally  include a fixed interest  rate.  As a result,  the market  values of  these securities  are
affected by changes in prevailing interest rates. We attempt to limit our exposure to interest rate risk and credit risk by investing in instruments that
meet  the  minimum  credit  quality,  liquidity,  diversification  and  other  requirements  of  our  investment  policy.  Our  investments  consist  of  liquid,
investment-grade securities. The risk of rate changes on investment balances was not material at December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of TriNet Group, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TriNet Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, the related consolidated statements  of  income and comprehensive income, stockholders’  equity,  and cash flows,  for  each of  the three
years  in  the  period  ended  December  31,  2021,  and  the  related  notes  (collectively  referred  to  as  the  "financial  statements").  In  our  opinion,  the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results
of  its  operations  and its  cash flows for  each of  the three years  in  the period ended December  31,  2021,  in  conformity  with  accounting  principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We  have  also  audited,  in  accordance  with  the  standards  of  the  Public  Company  Accounting  Oversight  Board  (United  States)  (PCAOB),  the
Company's  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  December  31,  2021,  based  on  criteria  established  in Internal  Control  -  Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of  Sponsoring Organizations  of  the Treadway Commission and our  report  dated February  14,  2022,
expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These  financial  statements  are  the  responsibility  of  the  Company's  management.  Our  responsibility  is  to  express  an  opinion  on  the  Company's
financial  statements  based  on  our  audits.  We  are  a  public  accounting  firm  registered  with  the  PCAOB  and  are  required  to  be  independent  with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit  to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing  procedures  to  assess  the  risks  of  material  misstatement  of  the  financial  statements,  whether  due  to  error  or  fraud,  and  performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion
on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Accrued Workers’ Compensation and Health Insurance Costs - Refer to Note 1 and Note 7 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company offers its clients and worksite employees (WSEs) workers' compensation insurance and health insurance coverage through insurance
policies provided by third-party insurance carriers. The Company is obligated to reimburse the insurance carriers for losses up to defined deductible
limits,  in  accordance  with  the  insurance  policies.  Accrued  workers’  compensation  and  health  insurance  costs  are  established  to  provide  for  the
estimated unpaid costs of reimbursing the carriers.
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The accrued workers’ compensation costs include estimates of unpaid claim losses and loss adjustment expenses. The estimates are based on the
Company’s  historical  and industry  loss experience,  exposure data,  an estimate  of  future  cost  trends,  expected loss ratios,  and loss development
factors. Accrued workers' compensation costs, as of December 31, 2021, were $190 million.

The accrued health insurance costs include estimates for reported losses and estimates for claims incurred but not paid. The estimates are based
on  the  Company’s  historical  claim  payment  patterns  and  medical  cost  trends,  current  period  claim  costs  and  claim  reporting  patterns,  and  plan
enrollment. Accrued health insurance costs as of December 31, 2021, were $174 million.

Both the accrued workers’ compensation and health insurance costs are established using actuarial methods followed in the insurance industry and
the Company uses third-party actuaries to develop these estimates.

Given  the  subjectivity  of  estimating  the  value  of  the  accrued  workers’  compensation  and  health  insurance  costs,  performing  audit  procedures  to
evaluate  whether  accrued  workers’  compensation  and  health  insurance  costs  recorded  for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2021  required  a  high
degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our actuarial specialists.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the accrued workers’ compensation and health insurance costs included the following, among others:

• We tested the effectiveness of controls related to accrued workers’ compensation and health insurance costs.

• We  tested  the  underlying  data  that  served  as  inputs  into  the  actuarial  analyses,  including  testing  historical  claims  and  enrollment  data  and
recreating the claim loss triangles.

• With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we evaluated the methods and key assumptions used by management to estimate the accrued
workers’ compensation and health insurance costs:

◦ Compared management’s prior-year assumptions of expected development and ultimate loss to actuals incurred during the current year to
identify and evaluate potential bias in the determination of the accrued workers’ compensation and health insurance costs.

◦ Developed an independent range of  estimates of  the accrued costs,  utilizing loss development factors and future cost  trends for  accrued
workers’  compensation costs  and claim payment  patterns and medical  trend rates for  accrued health insurance costs.  We compared our
estimated ranges to management’s estimates.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California

February 14, 2022

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of TriNet Group, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of TriNet Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company”) as of December 31, 2021, based
on criteria  established in Internal  Control  -  Integrated  Framework  (2013) issued  by  the  Committee  of  Sponsoring  Organizations  of  the  Treadway
Commission  (COSO).  In  our  opinion,  the  Company  maintained,  in  all  material  respects,  effective  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of
December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We  have  also  audited,  in  accordance  with  the  standards  of  the  Public  Company  Accounting  Oversight  Board  (United  States)  (PCAOB),  the
consolidated  financial  statements  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2021,  of  the  Company  and  our  report  dated  February  14,  2022,
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The  Company’s  management  is  responsible  for  maintaining  effective  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and  for  its  assessment  of  the
effectiveness  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  included  in  the  accompanying  Management’s  Report  on  Internal  Control  Over  Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted  our  audit  in  accordance  with  the  standards  of  the  PCAOB.  Those standards  require  that  we plan  and perform the  audit  to  obtain
reasonable assurance about  whether  effective internal  control  over financial  reporting was maintained in all  material  respects.  Our audit  included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design  and  operating  effectiveness  of  internal  control  based  on  the  assessed  risk,  and  performing  such  other  procedures  as  we  considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  is  a  process  designed  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial
reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  accounting  principles.  A
company’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  includes  those  policies  and  procedures  that  (1)  pertain  to  the  maintenance  of  records  that,  in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and  that  receipts  and  expenditures  of  the  company  are  being  made  only  in  accordance  with  authorizations  of  management  and  directors  of  the
company;  and  (3)  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  prevention  or  timely  detection  of  unauthorized  acquisition,  use,  or  disposition  of  the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because  of  its  inherent  limitations,  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  may  not  prevent  or  detect  misstatements.  Also,  projections  of  any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California

February 14, 2022
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TRINET GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions except per share data) 2021 2020 2019
Professional service revenues $ 639 $ 544 $ 530 
Insurance service revenues 3,901 3,490 3,326 
Total revenues 4,540 4,034 3,856 
Insurance costs 3,339 2,979 2,927 
Cost of providing services 264 262 245 
Sales and marketing 202 186 190 
General and administrative 176 152 137 
Systems development and programming 50 40 43 
Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets 54 47 46 
Total costs and operating expenses 4,085 3,666 3,588 
Operating income 455 368 268 
Other income (expense):

Interest expense, bank fees and other (20) (21) (21)
Interest income 6 10 23 

Income before provision for income taxes 441 357 270 
Income taxes 103 85 58 
Net income $ 338 $ 272 $ 212 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of income taxes (5) 4 — 
Comprehensive income $ 333 $ 276 $ 212 

Net income per share:
Basic $ 5.13 $ 4.03 $ 3.04 
Diluted $ 5.07 $ 3.99 $ 2.99 

Weighted average shares:
Basic 66 67 70 
Diluted 67 68 71 

See accompanying notes.
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TRINET GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,
(in millions, except share and per share data) 2021 2020
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 612 $ 301 
Investments 135 57 
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments 1,195 1,388 
Accounts receivable, net 15 18 
Unbilled revenue, net 324 246 
Prepaid expenses, net 67 63 
Other current assets 91 87 
Total current assets 2,439 2,160 

Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, noncurrent 166 210 
Investments, noncurrent 168 138 
Property, equipment and software, net 79 79 
Operating lease right-of-use asset 42 51 
Goodwill 294 294 
Other intangible assets, net 6 18 
Other assets 115 93 

Total assets $ 3,309 $ 3,043 
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and other current liabilities $ 86 $ 50 
Long-term debt — 22 
Client deposits and other client liabilities 97 134 
Accrued wages 369 309 
Accrued health insurance costs, net 174 172 
Accrued workers' compensation costs, net 55 59 
Payroll tax liabilities and other payroll withholdings 929 1,095 
Operating lease liabilities 11 11 
Insurance premiums and other payables 18 18 
Total current liabilities 1,739 1,870 

Long-term debt, noncurrent 495 348 
Accrued workers' compensation costs, noncurrent, net 135 138 
Deferred taxes 11 22 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 41 49 
Other non-current liabilities 7 9 

Total liabilities 2,428 2,436 
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 10)
Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock — — 
($0.000025 par value per share; 20,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding at December 31, 2021
and 2020)

Common stock and additional paid-in capital 808 747 
($0.000025 par value per share; 750,000,000 shares authorized; 65,968,224 and 66,456,663 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively)

Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit) 74 (144)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (1) 4 

Total stockholders' equity 881 607 
Total liabilities & stockholders' equity $ 3,309 $ 3,043 

See accompanying notes.
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TRINET GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Total Stockholders' Equity, beginning balance $ 607 $ 475 $ 375 
Common Stock and Additional Paid-In Capital:

Beginning balance 747 694 641 
Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options 1 — 2 
Issuance of common stock for employee stock purchase plan 10 9 9 
Stock based compensation expense 50 44 42 
Ending balance 808 747 694 

Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit):
Beginning balance (144) (219) (266)
Net income 338 272 212 
Cumulative effect of accounting change — (1) — 
Repurchase of common stock (94) (178) (140)
Awards effectively repurchased for required employee withholding taxes (26) (18) (25)
Ending balance 74 (144) (219)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income:
Beginning balance 4 — — 
Other comprehensive (loss) income (5) 4 — 
Ending balance (1) 4 — 

Total Stockholders' Equity, ending balance $ 881 $ 607 $ 475 

See accompanying notes.
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TRINET GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Operating activities

Net income $ 338 $ 272 212 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 82 67 57 
Stock based compensation 50 43 41 
Amortization of ROU asset, lease modification and impairment 12 15 16 
Accretion of discount rate on lease liabilities 2 2 — 
Amortization of (premium) discount on investments 3 1 (1)
Deferred income taxes (9) (42) (7)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net 3 (7) 5 
Unbilled revenue, net (78) 39 19 
Prepaid expenses, net (5) (12) (5)
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 33 19 (15)
Client deposits and other client liabilities (37) 87 (12)
Accrued wages 60 (82) 40 
Accrued health insurance costs, net 2 5 32 
Accrued workers' compensation costs, net (7) (9) (20)
Payroll taxes payable and other payroll withholdings (166) 194 172 
Operating lease liabilities (13) (19) (17)
Other assets (50) (38) (34)
Other liabilities (2) 11 (12)
Net cash provided by operating activities 218 546 471 

Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities (444) (327) (302)
Proceeds from sale and maturity of marketable securities 349 224 159 
Acquisitions of property and equipment (40) (36) (45)
Other — (12) — 

Net cash used in investing activities (135) (151) (188)
Financing activities

Repurchase of common stock (94) (178) (140)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 11 10 11 
Awards effectively repurchased for required employee withholding taxes (26) (18) (25)
Proceeds from issuance of 2029 Notes 500 — — 
Repayment of borrowings (370) (22) (22)
Payment of debt issuance costs (7) — — 
Payment of long-term financing costs (2) — — 
Draw down from revolving credit facility — 234 — 
Repayment of borrowings under revolving credit facility — (234) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 12 (208) (176)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted 95 187 107 

Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted and restricted:
Beginning of period 1,643 1,456 1,349 
End of period $ 1,738 $ 1,643 $ 1,456 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paid $ 12 $ 16 19 
Income taxes paid, net 129 123 62 

See accompanying notes.
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TRINET GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business
TriNet  Group,  Inc.  (TriNet,  or  the  Company,  we,  our  and  us),  a  professional  employer  organization,  provides  comprehensive  human  resources
solutions for small and medium-size businesses under a co-employment model. These HR solutions include multi-state payroll processing and tax
administration,  employee  benefits  programs,  including  health  insurance  and  retirement  plans,  workers'  compensation  insurance  and  claims
management,  employment  and  benefit  law  compliance,  and  other  HR-related  services.  Through  the  co-employment  relationship,  we  are  the
employer of record for certain employment-related administrative and regulatory purposes for the worksite employees (WSEs), including:

• compensation through wages and salaries,

• certain employer payroll-related tax payments,

• employee payroll-related tax withholdings and payments,

• employee benefit programs, including health and life insurance, and others, and

• workers' compensation coverage.

Our clients are responsible for the day-to-day job responsibilities of the WSEs.

We operate in one reportable segment. All of our service revenues are generated from external clients. Less than 1% of our revenue is generated
outside of the U.S.

Basis of Presentation

Our  consolidated  financial  statements  are  prepared  in  conformity  with  generally  accepted  accounting  principles  in  the  United  States  of  America
(GAAP). All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The  preparation  of  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  GAAP  requires  us  to  make  estimates  and  assumptions  that  affect  certain  reported
amounts and related disclosures.

These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable from the facts available to
us. Some of the assumptions are highly uncertain at the time of estimation. To the extent actual experience differs from the assumptions used, our
consolidated financial statements could be materially affected.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when the promised services are transferred to our clients, in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to
receive in exchange for services. We generate all of our revenue from contracts with clients. We disaggregate revenues into professional services
revenues and insurance services revenues as reported on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. In the majority of our
contracts, both the client and the Company may terminate the contract without penalty by providing a 30-day notice.

Performance Obligations

At contract inception, we assess the services promised in our contracts with clients and identify a performance obligation for each distinct promise to
transfer to the client a service or bundle of services. We determined that the following distinct services represent separate performance obligations:

• Payroll and payroll tax processing,

• Health benefits services,
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• Workers’ compensation services, and

• A right to receive future services at a discount through our Recovery Credit program.

Payroll and payroll tax processing performance obligations include services to process payroll and payroll tax-related transactions on behalf of our
clients. Revenues associated with this performance obligation are reported as professional service revenues and recognized using an output method
in which the promised services are transferred when a client's  payroll  is  processed by us and WSEs are paid.  Professional  service revenues are
stated  net  of  the  gross  payroll  and  payroll  tax  amounts  funded by  our  clients.  Although  we assume the  responsibilities  to  process  and remit  the
payroll  and payroll  related obligations,  we do not  assume employment-related  responsibilities  such as determining  the amount  of  the payroll  and
related payroll obligations. As a result, we are the agent in this arrangement for revenue recognition purposes.

Health  benefits  and  workers'  compensation  services  include  performance  obligations  to  provide  TriNet-sponsored  health  benefits  and  workers'
compensation insurance coverage through insurance policies provided by third-party insurance carriers and settle high deductible amounts on those
policies. Revenues associated with these performance obligations are reported as insurance services revenues and are recognized using the output
method over the period of time that the client and WSEs are covered under TriNet-sponsored insurance policies.

We  control  the  selection  of  health  benefits  and  workers'  compensation  coverage  made  available.  As  a  result,  we  are  the  principal  in  this
arrangement for revenue recognition purposes and insurance services revenues are reported gross.

In April  2020, we created our Recovery Credit  program to assist  in the economic recovery of  our existing SMB clients and enhance our ability  to
retain these clients. Under this one-time program eligible clients will receive reductions against fees for future services, accounted for as a discount,
over the following 12 months. This option to renew future services at a discount represents a material right and is accounted for as a performance
obligation (Recovery Credit). This performance obligation will be satisfied when the clients have successfully renewed the services contracts and the
future services are transferred. 

The consideration we receive that is allocated to this performance obligation is deferred as an unsatisfied performance obligation and is included in
client deposits and other client liabilities on the balance sheet. The amount of consideration we defer each period is dependent on the timing of when
eligible clients will receive the Recovery Credit, which is subject to a limit on the total amount of $145 million.

The change in the balance of the Recovery Credit unsatisfied performance obligation was as follows:

(in millions) 2021 2020
Balance at beginning of period $ 92 $ — 

(+) Accruals 17 128 
(-) Distributions to clients (86) (36)

Balance at end of period $ 23 $ 92 

We  generally  charge  new  clients  a  nominal  upfront  non-refundable  fee  to  recover  our  costs  to  set  them  up  on  our  TriNet  platform  for  payroll
processing and other  administrative  services,  such as benefit  enrollments.  These fees are accounted for  as part  of  our  transaction price and are
allocated among the performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling prices.

Client Deposits and Other Client Liabilities

Client deposits and other client liabilities represents our contractual commitments and payables to clients, including indemnity guarantee payments
received from clients, amounts prefunded by clients for their payroll and related taxes and other withholding liabilities before payroll is processed or
due for payment, as well as service fee consideration received for unsatisfied performance obligations of $23 million.
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Variable Consideration and Pricing Allocation

Our  contracts  with  clients  generally  do  not  include  any  variable  consideration.  However,  from  time  to  time,  we  may  offer  credits  to  our  clients
considered  to  be  variable  consideration.  Incentive  credits  related  to  contract  renewals  are  recorded  as  a  reduction  to  revenue  as  part  of  the
transaction price at contract inception and are allocated among the performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling prices. Credits
based on the performance of our insurance costs are recorded as a reduction to insurance services revenues and included in client deposits and
other client liabilities on the balance sheet.  In 2021, we accrued $25 million under our 2021 Credit  Program, payable within 12 months to eligible
clients as of March 31, 2021, related to the expected performance of our health insurance costs for the year.

We allocate  the  total  transaction  price  to  each  performance  obligation  based on the  estimated  relative  standalone  selling  prices  of  the  promised
services  underlying  each  performance  obligation.  The  transaction  price  for  the  payroll  and  payroll  tax  processing  performance  obligations  is
determined upon establishment of the contract that contains the final terms of the arrangement, including the description and price of each service
purchased.  The estimated service fee is  determined based on observable inputs  and include the following key assumptions:  target  profit  margin,
pricing strategies including the mix of services purchased and competitive factors, and client and industry specifics.

The  transaction  price  for  health  benefits  insurance  and  workers'  compensation  insurance  performance  obligations  is  determined  during  the  new
client  on-boarding and enrollment processes based on the types of benefits  coverage the clients and WSEs have elected and the applicable risk
profile  of  the  client.  We estimate  our  service  fees  based on  actuarial  forecasts  of  our  expected  insurance  premiums and loss  sensitive  premium
costs, and amounts to cover our costs to administer these programs.

We require our clients to prefund payroll and related taxes and other withholding liabilities before payroll is processed or due for payment. Under the
provision of our contracts with clients, we generally will process the payment of a client’s payroll only when the client successfully funds the amount
required. As a result, there is no financing arrangement for the contracts. However, certain contracts to provide payroll and payroll tax processing
services  permit  the  client  to  pay  certain  payroll  tax  components  ratably  over  periods  of  up  to  12  months  rather  than  as  payroll  tax  is  otherwise
determined  and  due,  which  may  be  considered  a  significant  financing  arrangement  under  ASC Topic  606.  However,  as  the  period  between  our
performing the service under the contract and when the client pays for the service is less than one year, we have elected, as a practical expedient,
not to adjust the transaction price.

Unbilled Revenue

We  recognize  WSE  payroll  and  payroll  tax  liabilities  in  the  period  in  which  the  WSEs  perform  work.  When  clients'  pay  periods  cross  reporting
periods, we accrue the portion of the unpaid WSE payroll where we assume, under state regulations, the obligation for the payment of wages and
the corresponding payroll tax liabilities associated with the work performed prior to period-end. These estimated payroll and payroll tax liabilities are
recorded in accrued wages. The associated receivables, including estimated revenues, offset by advance collections from clients and an allowance
for credit losses, are recorded as unbilled revenue. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, advance collections included in unbilled revenue were $8
million and $24 million, respectively.
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Contract Costs

We recognize as deferred commission expense the incremental cost to obtain a contract with a client for certain components under our commission
plans for sales representatives and channel partners that are directly related to new clients onboarded as we expect to recover these costs through
future service fees. Such assets are amortized over the estimated average client tenure. These commissions are earned on the basis of the revenue
generated from payroll and payroll tax processing performance obligations. When the commission on a renewal contract is not commensurate with
the commission on the initial contract, any incremental commission will be capitalized and amortized over the estimated average client tenure. If the
commission for both the initial contract and renewal contracts are commensurate, such commissions are expensed in the contract period. The below
table summarizes the amounts capitalized and amortized during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Deferred commission expense:

Capitalized $ 28 $ 29 $ 45 
Amortized 25 19 10 

Certain commission plans pay a commission on estimated professional service revenues over the first 12 months of the contract with clients. The
portion  of  commission  paid  in  excess  of  the  actual  commission  earned  in  that  period  is  recorded  as  prepaid  commission.  When  the  prepaid
commission is considered earned, it is classified as a deferred commission expense and subject to amortization. We do not have material contract
liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Insurance Costs

Our  insurance  plans  are  provided  by  third-party  insurance  carriers  under  risk-based  or  guaranteed-cost  insurance  policies.  Under  risk-based
policies,  we  agree  to  reimburse  our  carriers  for  any  claims  paid  within  an  agreed-upon  per-person  deductible  layer  up  to  a  maximum aggregate
exposure limit per policy. These deductible dollar limits and maximum limits vary by carrier and year. Under guaranteed-cost policies, our carriers
establish the premiums and we are not responsible for any deductible.

Insurance  costs  include  insurance  premiums  for  coverage  provided  by  insurance  carriers,  payments  for  claim  costs  and  other  risk  management
services,  reimbursement  of  claims  payments  made  by  insurance  carriers  or  third-party  administrators  below  a  predefined  deductible  limit,  and
changes in accrued costs related to contractual obligations with our workers' compensation and health benefit carriers.

At policy inception, annual workers' compensation premiums are estimated by the insurance carriers based on projected wages over the duration of
the policy period and the risk categories of the WSEs. We initially pay premiums based on these estimates. As actual wages are realized, premium
expense  recorded  may  differ  from estimated  premium expense,  creating  an  asset  or  liability  throughout  the  policy  year.  Such  asset  or  liability  is
reported on our consolidated balance sheets as prepaid expenses or insurance premiums and other payables, respectively.

Accrued Workers' Compensation Costs

We have secured workers' compensation insurance policies with insurance carriers to administer and pay claims for our clients and WSEs. We are
responsible  for  reimbursing  the  insurance  carriers  for  losses  up  to  $1  million  per  claim  occurrence  (deductible  layer).  Insurance  carriers  are
responsible for administering and paying claims. We are responsible for reimbursing each carrier up to a deductible limit per occurrence. Accrued
workers'  compensation  costs  represent  our  liability  to  reimburse  insurance  carriers  for  our  share  of  their  losses  and  loss  adjustment  expenses.
These  accrued  costs  are  established  to  provide  for  the  estimated  ultimate  costs  of  paying  claims  within  the  deductible  layer  in  accordance  with
workers' compensation insurance policies. These accrued costs include estimates for reported and incurred but not reported (IBNR) losses, accrued
costs on reported claims, and expenses associated with processing and settling the claims. In establishing these accrued costs, we use an external
actuary to provide an estimate of undiscounted future cash payments that would be made to settle the claims based upon:
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• historical loss experience, exposure data, and industry loss experience related to TriNet’s insurance policies,

• inputs including WSE job responsibilities and location,

• historical volume and severity of workers' compensation claims,

• an estimate of future cost trends,

• expected  loss  ratios  for  the  latest  accident  year  or  prior  accident  years,  adjusted  for  the  loss  trend,  the  effect  of  rate  changes  and  other
quantifiable factors, and

• loss development factors to project the reported losses for each accident year to an ultimate basis.

We  assess  the  accrued  workers'  compensation  costs  on  a  quarterly  basis.  For  each  reporting  period,  changes  in  the  actuarial  methods  and
assumptions resulting from changes in actual claims experience and other trends are incorporated into the accrued workers'  compensation costs.
Adjustments  to  previously  established accrued costs  estimates are reflected in  the results  of  operations for  the period in  which the adjustment  is
identified. Such adjustments could be significant, reflecting any variety of new adverse or favorable trends. Accordingly, final claim settlements may
vary materially from the present estimates, particularly when those payments may not occur until well into the future. In our experience, plan years
related to workers' compensation programs may take ten years or more to be settled.

We  do  not  discount  accrued  workers'  compensation  costs.  Costs  expected  to  be  paid  within  one  year  are  recorded  as  accrued  workers'
compensation costs. Costs expected to be paid beyond one year are included in accrued workers' compensation costs, less current portion.

We  have  collateral  agreements  with  various  insurance  carriers  where  either  we  retain  custody  of  funds  in  trust  accounts  which  we  record  as
restricted cash and cash equivalents,  or remit  funds to carriers.  Collateral  whether held by us, or the carriers,  is used to settle our insurance and
claim deductible obligations to them. Collateral requirements are established at the policy year and are re-assessed by each carrier annually. Based
on the results of each assessment, additional collateral may be required for or paid to the carrier or collateral funds may be released or returned to
the Company. In instances where we pay collateral to carriers and the agreement permits net settlement of obligations against collateral held, we
record our accrued costs net of that collateral (Carrier Collateral Offset). We offset Carrier Collateral Offset against our obligation due within the next
12 months before applying against long-term obligations. Collateral balances in excess of accrued costs are recorded in other assets.

Accrued Health Insurance Costs

We sponsor  and  administer  a  number  of  employee  benefit  plans,  including  group  health,  dental,  and  vision  as  an  employer  plan  sponsor  under
section  3(5)  of  the  ERISA.  In  2021,  the  majority  of  our  group  health  insurance  costs  related  to  risk-based  plans.  Our  remaining  group  health
insurance costs were for guaranteed-cost policies.

Accrued health  insurance costs  are established to provide for  the estimated unpaid costs  of  reimbursing the carriers  for  paying claims within  the
deductible layer in accordance with risk-based health insurance policies. These accrued costs include estimates for reported losses, plus estimates
for  claims  incurred  but  not  paid.  We  assess  accrued  health  insurance  costs  regularly  based  upon  external  actuarial  studies  that  include  other
relevant factors such as current and historical claims payment patterns, plan enrollment and medical trend rates.

In certain carrier  contracts we are required to prepay the expected claims activity  for  subsequent periods.  These prepaid balances by agreement
permit  net  settlement  of  obligations  and  offset  the  accrued  health  insurance  costs.  As  of  December  31,  2021  and  2020,  prepayments  and
miscellaneous receivables offsetting accrued health insurance costs were $54 million and $49 million, respectively. When the prepaid amount is in
excess of our recorded liability the net asset position is included in prepaid expenses. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, accrued health insurance
costs offsetting prepaid expenses were $79 million and $58 million, respectively.
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Leases

We determine if  a  new contractual  arrangement  is  a lease at  contract  inception.  If  a  contract  contains a lease,  we evaluate whether  it  should be
classified as an operating or  a finance lease.  If  applicable as a lease,  we record our  lease liabilities and right-of-use (ROU) assets  based on the
future  minimum  lease  payments  over  the  lease  term  and  only  include  options  to  renew  a  lease  in  the  future  minimum  lease  payments  if  it  is
reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. For certain leases with original terms of twelve months or less we recognize the lease expense
as incurred and we do not recognize lease liabilities and ROU assets.

We measure our lease liabilities based on the future minimum lease payments discounted over the lease term. We determine our discount rate at
lease  inception  using  our  incremental  borrowing  rate,  which  is  based  on  our  outstanding  term  debts  that  are  collateralized  by  certain  corporate
assets. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the weighted-average rate used in discounting the lease liability was 3.9% and 4.0%, respectively.

We measure our ROU assets based on the associated lease liabilities adjusted for any lease incentives such as tenant improvement allowances and
classify operating ROU assets in other assets in our consolidated balance sheets. For operating leases, we recognize expense for lease payments
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments. Investments with original maturity dates of three months
or less are considered cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments presented on our consolidated balance sheets include:

• cash and cash equivalents in trust accounts functioning as security deposits for our insurance carriers,

• payroll  funds collected representing cash collected in advance from clients  which we designate as restricted for  the purpose of  funding WSE
payroll and payroll taxes and other payroll related liabilities, and

• amounts held in trust for current and future premium and claim obligations with our insurance carriers, which amounts are held in trust according
to the terms of the relevant insurance policies and by the local insurance regulations of the jurisdictions in which the policies are in force.

Investments

Our investments are primarily classified as available-for-sale and are carried at estimated fair value.

Unrealized  gains  and  losses  are  reported  as  a  component  of  accumulated  other  comprehensive  income,  net  of  deferred  income  taxes.  The
amortized cost of debt investments is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts from the date of purchase to the earliest call
date for premiums or the maturity date for discounts. Such amortization is included in interest income as an addition to or deduction from the coupon
interest earned on the investments. We use the specific identification method to determine realized gains and losses on the sale of available-for-sale
securities. Realized gains and losses are included in interest income in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and comprehensive
income.

We  assess  our  investments  for  credit  impairment.  We  review  several  factors  to  determine  whether  an  unrealized  loss  is  credit  related,  such  as
financial  condition and future prospects  of  the issuer.  To the extent  that  a  security's  amortized cost  basis  exceeds the present  value of  the cash
flows expected to be collected from the security, an allowance for credit losses will be recognized. If management intends to sell or will more likely
than  not  be  required  to  sell  the  security  before  any  anticipated  recovery,  a  write  down  will  be  recognized  in  earnings  measured  as  the  entire
difference between the amortized cost and the then-current fair value.

We have investments within our unrestricted and our restricted accounts. Unrestricted investments are recorded on the balance sheet as current or
noncurrent based upon the remaining time to maturity, and investments subject to restrictions are classified as current or noncurrent based on the
expected payout of the related liability.
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Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive  income  consists  of  net  income  and  other  comprehensive  income.  Other  comprehensive  (loss)  income  includes  those  gains  and
losses  included  in  comprehensive  income,  but  excluded  from  net  income,  in  accordance  with  GAAP.  Other  comprehensive  (loss)  income  is
comprised of immaterial net unrealized gains or losses arising on available-for-sale investments, net of deferred taxes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair  value is  an exit  price,  representing the amount  that  would be received to  sell  an asset  or  paid to  transfer  a  liability  in  an orderly  transaction
between market  participants  at  the measurement  date.  As such,  fair  value is  a market-based measurement  that  should be determined based on
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability.

Our  financial  assets  recorded  at  fair  value  on  a  recurring  basis  are  comprised  of  cash  equivalents,  available-for-sale  marketable  securities  and
certificates of deposits. We measure certain financial assets at fair value for disclosure purposes, as well as on a nonrecurring basis when they are
deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired. Our other current financial assets and liabilities have fair values that approximate their carrying value
due to their short-term nature.

Assets  and  liabilities  recorded  at  fair  value  are  measured  and  classified  in  accordance  with  a  three-tier  fair  value  hierarchy  based  on  the
observability of the inputs available in the market to measure fair value, summarized as follows:

• Level 1—observable inputs for identical assets or liabilities, such as quoted prices in active markets,

• Level 2—inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly,

• Level 3—unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires that we develop our own assumptions.

The fair  value hierarchy requires us to maximize the use of  observable inputs and minimize the use of  unobservable inputs when measuring fair
value. We classify our cash equivalents, investments and long-term debt in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

Accounts Receivable

Our accounts receivable represents outstanding gross billings to clients, net of an allowance for estimated credit losses. We require our clients to
prefund payroll and related liabilities before payroll is processed or due for payment. If a client fails to fund payroll or misses the funding cut-off, at
our  sole discretion,  we may pay the payroll  and the resulting amounts  due to us are recognized as accounts receivable.  When client  payment  is
received in advance of our performance under the contract, such amount is recorded as client deposits. We establish an allowance for credit losses
based on the credit  quality  of  clients,  current  economic  conditions,  the age of  the  accounts  receivable  balances,  historical  experience,  and other
factors that may affect clients’ ability to pay, and charge-off amounts against the allowance when they are deemed uncollectible. The allowance was
immaterial at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Property, Equipment and Software

We record property and equipment at historical cost and compute depreciation using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets or the lease terms, generally three years to five years for software and office equipment, five years to seven years for furniture and fixtures,
and  the  shorter  of  the  asset  life  or  the  remaining  lease  term  for  leasehold  improvements.  We  expense  the  cost  of  maintenance  and  repairs  as
incurred and capitalize leasehold improvements.

We capitalize internal and external costs incurred to develop internal-use computer software during the application development stage. Application
development stage costs include software configuration,  coding, and installation.  Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated  useful  life,  typically  ranging  from  three  years  to  five  years,  commencing  when  the  software  is  placed  into  service.  We  expense  costs
incurred during the preliminary project stage, as well as general and administrative, overhead, maintenance and training costs, and costs that do not
add functionality to existing systems.
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We periodically  assess the likelihood of  unsuccessful  completion of  projects  in progress,  as well  as monitor  events or  changes in circumstances,
which might suggest that impairment has occurred and recoverability should be evaluated. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount
of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds the future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.

We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. An asset is considered impaired if the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future net cash flows the asset is expected to
generate.  An  impairment  charge  is  recognized  for  the  amount  by  which  the  carrying  amount  of  the  assets  exceeds  its  fair  value.  Assets  to  be
disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less selling costs.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our  goodwill  and identifiable  intangible  assets  with  indefinite  useful  lives  are  not  amortized,  but  are  tested  for  impairment  on  an  annual  basis  or
when an event occurs or circumstances change in a way to indicate that there has been a potential  decline in the fair  value of the reporting unit.
Goodwill impairment is determined by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. All goodwill
is associated with one reporting unit within our one reportable segment.

Annually, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit has declined
below its carrying value. This assessment considers various financial,  macroeconomic,  industry, and reporting unit specific qualitative factors.  We
perform our annual impairment testing in the fourth quarter. Based on the results of our reviews, no impairment loss was recognized in the results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives ranging from one year to ten years using either the
straight-line  method  or  an  accelerated  method.  Intangible  assets  are  reviewed  for  indicators  of  impairment  at  least  annually  and  evaluated  for
impairment  whenever  events  or  changes  in  circumstances  indicate  that  the  carrying  amount  of  an  asset  may  not  be  recoverable.  Based  on  the
results of our reviews, we recognized a $7 million impairment charge for customer contract lists for the year ended December 31, 2021. There were
no impairment charges recognized for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Advertising Costs

We expense the costs of producing advertisements at the time production occurs, and expense the cost of running advertisements in the period in
which the advertising space or airtime is used as sales and marketing expense. Advertising costs were $21 million, $19 million, and $18 million for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Stock Based Compensation

Our stock based awards to employees include time based and performance based restricted stock units and restricted stock awards, stock options
and an employee stock purchase plan. Compensation expense associated with restricted stock units and restricted stock awards is based on the fair
value of common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense associated with stock options and employee stock purchase plan are based on
the estimated grant date fair value method using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Expense is recognized using a straight-line amortization
method over the respective vesting period for awards that are ultimately expected to vest, with adjustments to expense recognized in the period in
which forfeitures occur.

Income Taxes

We account for our provision for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which we recognize income taxes payable or refundable
for current year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax effect of events that have been recognized in either our financial statements
or tax returns. We measure our current and deferred tax assets and liabilities based on provision of enacted tax laws of those jurisdictions in which
we operate. The effect of changes in tax laws and regulations, or interpretations, is recognized in our consolidated financial statements in the period
that includes the enactment date.
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We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes, as well as the expected benefits of using net operating loss and other carryforwards.
We  are  required  to  establish  a  valuation  allowance  when  it  is  determined  more  likely  than  not  that  the  deferred  tax  assets  will  not  be  realized.
Provision  for  income  taxes  may  change  when  estimates  used  in  determining  valuation  allowances  change  or  when  receipt  of  new  information
indicates the need for adjustment in valuation allowances. Changes in valuation allowances are reflected as a component of the provision for income
taxes in the period the change is enacted.

We recognize a reserve for uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return when it is concluded that tax positions are not more
likely than not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on
the technical merits of the positions. Assumptions, judgment and the use of estimates are required in determining if the more likely than not standard
has been met when developing the provision for income taxes and in determining the expected benefit. The tax benefits of the position recognized in
the financial statements are then measured based on the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon settlement with
a  taxing  authority.  Unrecognized  tax  benefits  due  to  tax  uncertainties  that  do  not  meet  the  minimum  probability  threshold  are  included  as  other
liabilities and are charged to earnings in the period that such determination is made. We recognize interest  and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions  as  a  component  of  income tax  expense.  Accrued interest  and penalties  are  included in  other  non-current  liabilities  on the  consolidated
balance sheet.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments subject to concentrations of credit risk include cash, cash equivalents and investments (unrestricted and restricted), accounts
receivable, and amounts due from insurance carriers.  We maintain these financial  assets principally in domestic financial  institutions.  We perform
periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these institutions. Our exposure to credit risk in the event of default by the financial institutions
holding these funds is limited to amounts currently held by the institution in excess of insured amounts.

Under the terms of professional services agreements, clients agree to maintain sufficient funds or other satisfactory credit at all times to cover the
cost of their current payroll, all accrued paid time off, vacation or sick leave balances, and other vested wage and benefit obligations for all their work
site employees. We generally require payment from our clients on or before the applicable payroll date.

For certain clients,  we require an indemnity guarantee payment (IGP) supported by a letter of credit,  bond, or a certificate of deposit  from certain
financial institutions. The IGP typically equals the total payroll and service fee for one average payroll period.

No  client  accounted  for  more  than  10%  of  total  revenues  in  the  years  ended  December  31,  2021,  2020  and  2019.  Bad  debt  expense,  net  of
recoveries was immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently adopted accounting guidance

Credit  Losses  - We adopted  ASU 2016-13  -  Financial  Instruments  -  Credit  Losses  (ASC Topic  326)  effective  January  1,  2020  using  a  modified
retrospective approach, under which we recognized the cumulative effects of initially applying this guidance as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings on January 1, 2020 with unchanged comparative periods. We are required to use forward-looking information when evaluating
an allowance for our accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and other financial assets measured at amortized cost. ASC Topic 326 also modified the
impairment guidance for available-for-sale debt securities to require an allowance for credit losses. The adoption of ASC Topic 326 did not have a
material effect on our financial statements.

Recognizing and Measuring Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities From Contracts With Customers Acquired in a Business Combination – We will
early adopt ASU 2021-08 – Business Combinations (Topic 805) effective January 1, 2022. ASU 2021-08 amends ASC 805 to add contract assets
and contract liabilities to the list of exceptions to the recognition and measurement principles that apply to business combinations and requires that
we  recognize  and  measure  contract  assets  and  contract  liabilities  acquired  in  a  business  combination  in  accordance  with  ASC  Topic  606.  The
adoption of ASU 2021-08 will not have a material effect on our financial statements.
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NOTE 2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS - UNRESTRICTED AND RESTRICTED

Under  the terms of  the  agreements  with  certain  of  our  workers'  compensation  and health  benefit  insurance carriers,  we are  required  to  maintain
collateral in trust accounts for the benefit of specified insurance carriers and to reimburse the carriers’ claim payments within our deductible layer.
We invest  a  portion  of  the  collateral  amounts  in  marketable  securities.  We report  the  current  and noncurrent  portions  of  these  trust  accounts  as
restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments on the consolidated balance sheets.

We require our clients to prefund their payroll and related taxes and other withholding liabilities before payroll is processed or due for payment. This
prefund is  included in  restricted  cash,  cash equivalents  and investments  as payroll  funds collected,  which is  designated to  pay pending payrolls,
payroll tax liabilities and other payroll withholdings.

We also invest available corporate funds, primarily in fixed income securities which meet the requirements of our corporate investment policy and
are classified as available for sale (AFS).

Our total cash, cash equivalents and investments are summarized below:
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

(in millions)
Cash and cash

equivalents

Available-for-sale
marketable
securities Total

Cash and cash
equivalents

Available-for-sale
marketable
securities Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 612 $ — $ 612 $ 301 $ — $ 301 
Investments — 135 135 — 57 57 
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments

Payroll funds collected 1,012 — 1,012 1,228 — 1,228 
Collateral for health benefits claims 25 98 123 16 82 98 
Collateral for workers' compensation claims 58 — 58 60 — 60 
Other security deposits 2 — 2 2 — 2 
Total restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments 1,097 98 1,195 1,306 82 1,388 

Investments, noncurrent — 168 168 — 138 138 
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, noncurrent

Collateral for workers' compensation claims 29 137 166 36 174 210 
Total $ 1,738 $ 538 $ 2,276 $ 1,643 $ 451 $ 2,094 

NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, and fair value of our AFS investments as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are
presented below:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

(in millions)
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
Fair

Value
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value
Asset-backed securities $ 49 $ — $ — $ 49 $ 24 $ — $ — $ 24 
Corporate bonds 167 1 (1) 167 126 2 — 128 
U.S. government agencies and government-sponsored
agencies 17 — — 17 27 1 — 28 
U.S. treasuries 285 1 (1) 285 261 4 — 265 
Certificate of deposit 11 — — 11 — — — — 
Other debt securities 9 — — 9 6 — — 6 
Total $ 538 $ 2 $ (2) $ 538 $ 444 $ 7 $ — $ 451 

Gross unrealized losses were immaterial as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Unrealized losses on fixed income securities are principally caused by changes in interest rates and the financial condition of the issuer. In analyzing
an issuer's  financial  condition,  we consider  whether  the securities  are issued by the federal  government  or  its  agencies,  whether  downgrades by
credit  rating  agencies  have  occurred,  and  industry  analysts'  reports.  As  we  have  the  ability  to  hold  these  investments  until  maturity,  or  for  the
foreseeable future, no
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impairment  charges  were  deemed  necessary.  Actual  maturities  may  differ  from  contractual  maturities  because  borrowers  may  have  the  right  to
prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties.

The fair value of debt investments by contractual maturity are shown below:

(in millions) December 31, 2021
One year or less $ 193 
Over one year through five years 310 
Over five years through ten years 10 
Over ten years 25 
Total fair value $ 538 

The gross proceeds from sales and maturities of AFS securities for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 are presented below. We
had immaterial gross realized gains and losses from sales of investments for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Gross proceeds from sales $ 162 $ 93 $ 76 
Gross proceeds from maturities 187 131 83 
Total $ 349 $ 224 $ 159 

NOTE 4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
We use an independent pricing source to determine the fair value of our securities. The independent pricing source utilizes various pricing models
for  each  asset  class;  including  the  market  approach.  The  inputs  and  assumptions  for  the  pricing  models  are  market  observable  inputs  including
trades of comparable securities, dealer quotes, credit spreads, yield curves and other market-related data.

We have not  adjusted the prices obtained from the independent  pricing service  and we believe the prices  received from the independent  pricing
service are representative of the prices that would be received to sell the assets at the measurement date (exit price).

The  carrying  value  of  the  Company's  cash  equivalents  and  restricted  cash  equivalents  approximate  their  fair  values  due  to  their  short-term
maturities.

We did not have any Level 3 financial instruments recognized in our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. There were
no transfers between levels as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

TRINET 74 2021 FORM 10-K



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Table of Contents

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

The  following  tables  summarize  our  financial  instruments  by  significant  categories  and  fair  value  measurement  on  a  recurring  basis  as  of
December 31, 2021 and 2020:

(in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total
December 31, 2021
Cash equivalents:
  Money market mutual funds $ 4 $ — $ 4 
  U.S. treasuries — 21 21 
Total cash equivalents 4 21 25 
Investments:

Asset-backed securities — 49 49 
Corporate bonds — 137 137 
U.S. government agencies and government-sponsored agencies — 2 2 
U.S. treasuries — 106 106 
Other debt securities — 9 9 

Total investments — 303 303 
Restricted cash equivalents:

Money market mutual funds 93 — 93 
Certificate of deposit — 1 1 

Total restricted cash equivalents 93 1 94 
Restricted investments:

Corporate bonds — 30 30 
U.S. government agencies and government-sponsored agencies — 15 15 
U.S. treasuries — 179 179 
Certificate of deposit — 11 11 

Total restricted investments — 235 235 
Total investments and restricted cash equivalents and investments $ 97 $ 560 $ 657 
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(in millions) Level 1 Level 2 Total
December 31, 2020
Cash equivalents:
  Money market mutual funds $ 2 $ — $ 2 
  U.S. treasuries — 11 11 
Total cash equivalents 2 11 13 
Investments:

Asset-backed securities — 24 24 
Corporate bonds — 93 93 
U.S. government agencies and government-sponsored agencies — 5 5 
U.S. treasuries — 67 67 
Other debt securities — 6 6 

Total investments — 195 195 
Restricted cash equivalents:

Money market mutual funds 99 — 99 
Total restricted cash equivalents 99 — 99 
Restricted investments:

Corporate bonds — 35 35 
U.S. government agencies and government-sponsored agencies — 23 23 
U.S. treasuries — 198 198 

Total restricted investments — 256 256 
Total investments and restricted cash equivalents and investments $ 101 $ 462 $ 563 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Disclosure

Long-Term Debt
The fair value of our 2029 Notes was obtained from a third-party pricing service and is based on observable market inputs. As such, the fair value of
the senior notes is considered Level 2 in the hierarchy for fair value measurement. As of December 31, 2021, our 2029 Notes were carried at their
cost, net of issuance costs, and had a fair value of $500 million.

Our 2018 Term Loan was floating rate debt prior to being repaid and terminated in 2021. The fair  value of our 2018 Term Loan approximated its
carrying value (exclusive of  issuance costs)  at  December 31, 2020. The fair  value of  our 2018 Term Loan was estimated based on a discounted
cash flow, which incorporates credit spreads and market interest rates to estimate the fair value and is considered Level 3 in the hierarchy for fair
value measurement.

NOTE 5. PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND SOFTWARE, NET

Property, equipment and software, net, consists of the following:

(in millions) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Software $ 236 $ 204 
Office equipment, including data processing equipment 31 28 
Leasehold improvements 25 24 
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 17 16 
Projects in progress 1 1 
Total 310 273 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (231) (194)
Property and equipment, net $ 79 $ 79 
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Projects  in  progress  consist  primarily  of  development  costs  for  internally  developed software,  which we capitalize  and amortize  on a  straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life.

The following table summarizes our depreciation expense and capitalized internally developed software costs and related depreciation expense.

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Depreciation expense $ 42 $ 42 $ 41 
Capitalized internally developed software costs 33 36 31 
Depreciation expense for capitalized internally developed software costs 33 31 29 

NOTE 6. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

(in millions) Amount
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 289 

Additions 5 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 294 

Additions — 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 294 

Other intangibles consists of customer contact lists with a weighted average amortization period of 10 years:

(in millions) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Gross carrying amount $ 98 $ 98 
Accumulated amortization (92) (80)
Net carrying amount $ 6 $ 18 

Amortization  of  intangible  assets  during  the  years  ended  December  31,  2021,  2020  and  2019  was  $5  million  for  each  period.  We  evaluate  the
remaining useful  life  of  intangible assets  quarterly  to  determine whether  events  and circumstances warrant  a revision to the estimated remaining
useful  life.  During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recognized a $7 million impairment of a customer relationship intangible due to higher
than expected attrition.

Expense related to intangibles amortization in future periods as of December 31, 2021 is expected to be as follows:

Year ending December 31:
Amount 

(in millions)
2022 $ 4 
2023 2 
2024 and thereafter — 

Total $ 6 
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NOTE 7. ACCRUED WORKERS' COMPENSATION COSTS

The following table summarizes the accrued workers’ compensation cost activity for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Total accrued costs, beginning of year $ 205 $ 214 $ 238 
Incurred

Current year 66 64 72 
Prior years (23) (20) (31)

Total incurred 43 44 41 
Paid

Current year (10) (8) (14)
Prior years (40) (45) (51)

Total paid (50) (53) (65)
Total accrued costs, end of year $ 198 $ 205 $ 214 

The following tables summarize workers' compensation liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets:

(in millions) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Total accrued costs, end of year $ 198 $ 205 
Collateral paid to carriers and offset against accrued costs (8) (8)
Total accrued costs, net of carrier collateral offset $ 190 $ 197 
Payable in less than 1 year

(net of collateral paid to carriers of $2 and $3 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively) $ 55 59

Payable in more than 1 year
(net of collateral paid to carriers of $6 and $5 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively) 135 138 

Total accrued costs, net of carrier collateral offset $ 190 $ 197 

Incurred  claims  related  to  prior  years  represent  changes  in  estimates  for  ultimate  losses  on  workers'  compensation  claims.  For  the  years  ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the favorable development is due to lower than expected reported claim frequency and severity for the more
recent years.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had $43 million and $45 million, respectively, of collateral held by insurance carriers of which $8 million for
both periods was offset against accrued workers' compensation costs as the agreements permit and are net settled of insurance obligations against
collateral held.

NOTE 8. LEASES
Our leasing activities predominantly consist of leasing office space that we occupy, which we have classified as operating leases. Our leases are
comprised  of  fixed  payments  with  remaining  lease  terms  of  1  to  7  years,  one  of  which  includes  an  option  to  extend  for  up  to  5  years.  As  of
December 31, 2021, we have not included any options to extend or cancel in the calculation of our lease liability or ROU asset. We do not have any
significant residual value guarantees or restrictive covenants in our leases.

We  recognized  operating  lease  expense  of  $13  million,  $17  million  and  $19  million  for  the  years  ended  December  31,  2021,  2020  and  2019,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the weighted average remaining lease term on our operating leases was 5.2 years and 5.8 years, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2021 were as follows:
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(in millions) December 31, 2021
2022 $ 13 
2023 12 
2024 9 
2025 8 
2026 7 
2026 and thereafter 9 

Total future minimum lease payments $ 58 
Less: imputed interest (6)
Total operating lease liabilities $ 52 

Current portion 11 
Non-current portion 41 

NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT AND REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, long-term debt consisted of the following:

(in millions) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
2018 Term Loan A $ — $ 370 
2029 Notes 500 — 
Principal amount 500 370 
Deferred issuance costs (5) — 
Less: current portion — (22)
Long-term debt, noncurrent $ 495 $ 348 

Annual contractual interest rate 3.50 % 1.77 %
Effective interest rate 3.67 % 1.87 %

In February 2021, we issued $500 million aggregate principal of 3.50% senior unsecured notes maturing in March 2029 (our 2029 Notes). The 2029
Notes are a senior  unsecured obligation of  TriNet  Group,  Inc.  and rank equally  with  all  of  its  existing and future  senior  unsecured indebtedness.
Interest  payments on the 2029 Notes are due semi-annually  in  arrears  on March 1 and September  1,  beginning on September  1,  2021.  The net
proceeds were used to repay and terminate our 2018 Term Loan and for general corporate purposes.

We may voluntarily redeem the 2029 Notes, in whole or in part, (1) at any time prior to March 1, 2024 at (a) 100% of their principal amount, plus a
“make whole” premium or (b) with the net cash proceeds received from an equity offering at a redemption price equal to 103.50% of the principal
amount,  provided the aggregate principal  amount of  all  such redemptions does not exceed 40% of the original  aggregate principal  amount of  the
2029 Notes; (2) at any time on or after March 1, 2024 at a prepayment price equal to 101.75% of the principal amount; (3) at any time on or after
March 1, 2025 at a prepayment price equal to 100.875%of the principal amount; and (4) at any time on or after March 1, 2026 at a prepayment price
equal to 100% of the principal amount; in each case, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but excluding, the date of redemption.

In February 2021, concurrently with the closing of the 2029 Notes offering, we entered into a new $500 million revolving facility (our 2021 Revolver)
under a new credit agreement (our 2021 Credit Agreement) and our 2018 Credit Agreement was terminated. Letters of credit issued pursuant to the
revolving  facility  reduce  the  amount  available  for  borrowing  under  the  2021  Revolver.  As  of  December  31,  2021,  we  had  remaining  capacity  of
$491 million under our 2021 Revolver.

The annual interest rate for borrowings under our 2021 Revolver is calculated based on an applicable London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) tenor
of  our  choosing,  plus  a  margin  of  1.25%  to  2.00%,  or,  at  our  option,  the  alternative  base  rate  (ABR),  plus  a  margin  of  0.25%  to  1.00%.  The
applicable LIBOR or ABR margin is based on our Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the 2021 Credit Agreement. The ABR is the highest of (a) the
applicable Federal
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Reserve Bank of New York rate, as defined in our 2021 Credit Agreement plus 0.50% (b) the prime rate, and (c) one month LIBOR adjusted daily
plus 1.00%.

In the event TriNet Group, Inc. receives a Corporate Issuer Credit Rating that is one level below investment grade rating or higher from at least two
Nationally  Recognized  Statistical  Rating  Organizations,  then  rating  based  pricing  applies  and,  for  so  long  as  rating-based  pricing  applies,
irrespective of the Total Leverage Ratio, the LIBOR margin will be 1.125% and the ABR margin will be 0.125%.

The indenture  governing our  2029 Notes includes restrictive  covenants  limiting our  ability  to:  (i)  create  liens on certain  assets  to  secure debt;  (ii)
grant a subsidiary guarantee of certain debt without also providing a guarantee of the 2029 Notes; and (iii) consolidate or merge with or into, or sell
or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets to, another person, subject, in each case, to certain customary exceptions.

The  2021  Credit  Agreement  includes  negative  covenants  that  limit  our  ability  to  incur  indebtedness  and  liens,  sell  assets  and  make  restricted
payments, including dividends and investments, subject to certain exceptions. In addition, the 2021 Credit Agreement also contains other customary
affirmative and negative covenants and customary events of default. The 2021 Credit Agreement also contains a financial covenant that requires the
Company  to  maintain  certain  maximum  total  net  leverage  ratios.  We  were  in  compliance  with  all  financial  covenants  under  the  2021  Credit
Agreement at December 31, 2021.

NOTE 10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Contingencies
On September 29, 2020, a class action was filed in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida against the directors of certain
TriNet subsidiaries and other TriNet employees on behalf of participants in two retirement plans available to TriNet’s eligible worksite employees, the
TriNet 401(k) Plan and the TriNet Select 401(k) Plan. The complaint is similar to claims recently brought against a number of employers including
PEOs and generally alleges that  the defendants violated certain fiduciary obligations to Plan participants under the Employee Retirement Income
Security  Act  of  1974 with respect  to overseeing plan investment  and recordkeeping fees.  At  this  time,  we are unable to reasonably estimate any
possible loss, or range of loss, with respect to this matter. We believe the claims are without merit.

We are and, from time to time, have been and may in the future become involved in various litigation matters, legal proceedings, and claims arising
in the ordinary course of our business, including disputes with our clients or various class action, collective action, representative action, and other
proceedings  arising  from  the  nature  of  our  co-employment  relationship  with  our  clients  and  WSEs  in  which  we  are  named  as  a  defendant.  In
addition, due to the nature of our co-employment relationship with our clients and WSEs, we could be subject to liability for federal and state law
violations,  even if  we do not  participate in such violations.  While our agreements with our clients contain indemnification provisions related to the
conduct of our clients, we may not be able to avail ourselves of such provisions in every instance. We have accrued our current best estimates of
probable losses with respect to these matters, which are individually and in aggregate immaterial to our consolidated financial statements.

While the outcome of the matters described above cannot be predicted with certainty, management currently does not believe that any such claims
or  proceedings  will  have  a  materially  adverse  effect  on  our  consolidated  financial  position,  results  of  operations,  or  cash  flows.  However,  the
unfavorable resolution of any particular matter or our reassessment of our exposure for any of the above matters based on additional information
obtained in the future could have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

NOTE 11. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

Equity Based Incentive Plans

Our  2019  Equity  Incentive  Plan  (the  2019  Plan),  approved  in  May  2019,  provides  for  the  grant  of  stock  awards,  including  stock  options,  RSUs,
RSAs, and other stock awards. There were approximately 2 million shares available for grant under the 2019 Plan as of December 31, 2021.

The 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 Plan), was replaced by the 2019 Plan, except that any outstanding awards granted under the 2009 Plan
remain in effect pursuant to their terms.
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Stock Options

Stock options are granted to employees at exercise prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the dates of grant. Stock options
generally  have  a  maximum  contractual  term  of  10  years.  Stock  options  generally  vest  over  4  years,  and  are  generally  forfeited  if  the  employee
terminates service prior to vesting.

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Number 
of Shares

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term
(in years)

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
(in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2020 379,985 $ 15.10 3.2 $ 25 
Exercised (73,118) 10.20 

Balance at December 31, 2021 306,867 $ 16.20 2.2 $ 24 

(1)    All options are vested and exercisable.

Year Ended December 31,
Additional Disclosures for Stock Options (in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Total fair value of options vested $ — $ — $ 1 
Total intrinsic value of options exercised 6 4 9 
Cash received from options exercised 1 1 2 

Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) and Restricted Stock Awards (RSAs)

Time-based RSUs and RSAs generally vest over a four-year term. Performance-based RSUs and RSAs are subject to vesting requirements and are
earned, in part, based on certain financial performance metrics as defined in the grant notice. Actual number of shares earned may range from 0%
to 200% of the target award. Performance-based awards granted in 2021 and 2020 are earned based on a single-year performance period subject
to  subsequent  multi-year  time-based vesting  with  50% of  the  shares  earned vesting  in  one year  after  the  performance period  and the remaining
shares in the year after. The performance-based awards granted in 2019 were previously cancelled. RSUs and RSAs are generally forfeited if the
participant terminates service prior to vesting.

The following tables summarize RSU and RSA activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Time-based RSUs and RSAs

Total Number
of RSUs

Total Number
of RSAs

Total Number
of Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2020 1,230,071 30,026 1,260,097 $ 54.04 
Granted 562,881 — 562,881 83.71 
Vested (603,674) (24,282) (627,956) 54.91 
Forfeited (180,351) — (180,351) 60.96 

Nonvested at December 31, 2021 1,008,927 5,744 1,014,671 $ 68.74 

Year Ended December 31,
Additional Disclosures for equity-based plans 2021 2020 2019
Total grant date fair value of shares granted (in millions) $ 47 $ 50 $ 38 
Total grant date fair value of shares vested (in millions) $ 34 $ 31 $ 30 
Shares withheld to settle payroll tax liabilities related to vesting of
shares held by employees 207,603 230,569 315,762 

(1)
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Performance-based RSUs and RSAs

Total Number
of RSUs

Total Number
of RSAs Total Number Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2020 167,127 16,052 183,179 $ 52.89 
Granted 246,349 — 246,349 67.70 
Vested (145,207) (16,052) (161,259) 52.24 
Forfeited (13,045) — (13,045) 61.33 

Nonvested at December 31, 2021 255,224 — 255,224 $ 67.16 

Year Ended December 31,
Additional Disclosures for equity-based plans 2021 2020 2019
Total grant date fair value of shares granted (in millions) $ 16 $ 10 $ 4 
Total grant date fair value of shares vested (in millions) $ 8 $ 5 $ 11 
Shares withheld to settle payroll tax liabilities related to vesting of shares held
by employees 77,787 48,787 135,877 

(1)    Amount includes fair value of finalized additional grant related to the most recently ended performance period.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Our  2014  Employee  Stock  Purchase  Plan  (ESPP)  offers  eligible  employees  an  option  to  purchase  shares  of  our  common  stock  through  payroll
deductions. The purchase price is equal to the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of our common stock on the offering date or 85% of the fair
market value of our common stock on the applicable purchase date. Offering periods are approximately six months in duration and will  end on or
about May 15 and November 15 of each year. The plan is considered to be a compensatory plan. As of December 31, 2021, approximately 4 million
shares were reserved for future issuances under the ESPP.

In applying the Black Scholes option valuation model for the ESPP options, we use the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Expected Term (in Years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected Volatility 21-35% 40-83% 27-42%
Risk-Free Interest Rate 0.4-0.7% 0.2-1.6% 1.6-2.5%
Expected Dividend Yield 0 % 0 % 0 %
Shares Issued under ESPP 136,861 236,887 207,324 

(1)

TRINET 82 2021 FORM 10-K



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Table of Contents

Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation expense is measured based on the fair  value of  the stock award on the grant  date and recognized over the requisite
service period for  each separately  vesting portion of  the stock award.  Stock based compensation expense and other disclosures for  stock based
awards made to our employees pursuant to the equity plans were as follows: 

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Cost of providing services $ 12 $ 9 $ 8 
Sales and marketing 6 6 3 
General and administrative 29 26 28 
Systems development and programming costs 3 2 2 
Total stock based compensation expense $ 50 $ 43 $ 41 
Total stock based compensation capitalized $ 1 $ 1 $ 1 
Income tax benefit related to stock based compensation expense $ 10 $ 9 $ 11 
Tax benefit realized from stock options exercised and similar awards $ 16 $ 14 $ 18 

The table below summarizes unrecognized compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 associated with the following:

Amount 
(in millions)

Weighted-Average Period (in
Years)

Nonvested time based RSUs and RSAs $ 64 2.38
Nonvested performance based RSUs and RSAs 15 1.44

NOTE 12. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock

The following table shows the beginning and ending balances of our issued and outstanding common stock for the year ended December 31, 2021,
2020, and 2019:

Year Ended 
December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Shares issued and outstanding, beginning balance 66,456,663 69,065,491 70,596,559 

Issuance of common stock from vested restricted stock units 748,881 659,689 1,036,119 
Issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options 73,118 81,026 187,504 
Issuance of common stock for employee stock purchase plan 136,861 236,887 207,324 
Repurchase of common stock (1,161,909) (3,307,074) (2,510,376)
Awards effectively repurchased for required employee withholding taxes (285,390) (279,356) (451,639)

Shares issued and outstanding, ending balance 65,968,224 66,456,663 69,065,491 

Stock Repurchases

In February 2020, our board of directors authorized a $300 million incremental increase to our ongoing stock repurchase program. In February 2022,
our board of directors authorized a further $300 million incremental increase to this stock repurchase program. This repurchase authorization has no
expiration. We retire shares in the period they are acquired and account for the payment as a reduction to stockholders' equity.

The following table summarizes the share repurchases under this program for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:
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Year Ended 
December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Total cost (in millions) $ 94 $ 178 $ 140 
Total shares 1,161,909 3,307,074 2,510,376 
Average price per share $ 81.13 $ 53.85 $ 55.64 

As of December 31, 2021, $263 million remains available for repurchase under all authorizations approved by the board of directors.
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NOTE 13. INCOME TAXES

Provision for Income Taxes

We are  subject  to  tax  in  U.S.  federal  and  various  state  and  local  jurisdictions,  as  well  as  Canada.  We  are  open  to  federal  and  significant  state
income tax examinations for tax year 2016 and subsequent years. The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Current:

Federal $ 86 $ 96 $ 53 
State 28 30 12 

   Foreign 1 1 — 
 Total Current 115 127 65 

Deferred:
Federal (7) (33) (2)
State (3) (9) (5)
Foreign (2) — — 
Total Deferred (12) (42) (7)

Total $ 103 $ 85 $ 58 

The U.S. federal statutory income tax rate reconciled to our effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

(in millions, except percent)
Pre-Tax
Income

Tax
Expense/(Benefit)

Percent of
Pre-Tax
Income
(Loss)

Pre-Tax
Income

Tax
Expense/(Benefit)

Percent of
Pre-Tax
Income
(Loss)

Pre-Tax
Income

Tax
Expense/(Benefit)

Percent of
Pre-Tax
Income
(Loss)

$ 441 $ 357 $ 270 
U.S. federal statutory tax rate $ 93 21 % $ 75 21 % $ 57 21 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 32 7 25 7 20 7 
Tax rate change (1) — — — — — 
Nondeductible meals, entertainment and
penalties 2 — — — 1 — 
Stock based compensation (2) — (2) — (1) — 
Uncertain tax positions (1) — 1 — — — 
Tax credits (7) (2) (6) (2) (7) (3)
State and tax return to provision
adjustments (10) (2) (7) (2) (8) (3)
Other (3) (1) (1) — (4) (1)
Total $ 103 23 % $ 85 24 % $ 58 21 %

Our effective income tax rate decreased by 1% to 23% in 2021 from 24% in 2020. The decrease was primarily attributable to benefits associated
with a favorable adjustment of our previously disputed receivable from the IRS.
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Deferred Income Taxes

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating losses (federal and state) $ 3 $ 3 
Accrued expenses 20 14 
Accrued workers' compensation costs 9 9 
Recovery credit 13 26 
Operating lease liabilities 13 15 
Stock based compensation 3 3 
Tax benefits relating to uncertain positions 1 1 
Tax credits (federal and state) 6 8 

Total 68 79 
Valuation allowance (5) (5)
Total deferred tax assets 63 74 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (37) (37)
Deferred service revenues — (20)
Prepaid commission expenses (24) (22)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (10) (13)
Other (1) (2)

Total deferred tax liabilities (72) (94)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (9) $ (20)

As of December 31, 2021, we have an acquired federal net operating loss of $2 million which can be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31,
2021 and 2020, we have various state net operating loss carryforwards of $45 million and $39 million, respectively,  most of which, if  unused, will
expire in years 2022 through 2040. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we have state tax credit carryforwards (net of federal benefit) of $6 million
that will begin expiring in 2026.

The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2021 included $7 million of excess tax benefits resulting from equity incentive plan
activities.

We  previously  paid  Notices  of  Proposed  Assessments  disallowing  employment  tax  credits  totaling  $11  million,  plus  interest  of  $4  million  in
connection with the IRS examination of Gevity HR, Inc.  and its subsidiaries,  which was acquired by TriNet in June 2009. TriNet filed suit  in June
2016 to recover  the disallowed credits,  and the issue is  being resolved through the litigation process.  TriNet  and the U.S.  filed cross motions for
summary  judgment  in  federal  district  court.  On September  17,  2018,  the  district  court  granted  our  motion  for  summary  judgment  and denied  the
U.S.'s motion. On January 18, 2019, the district court entered judgment in favor of TriNet in the amount of $15 million, plus interest. The U.S. filed a
notice of appeal of the federal district court's decision on March 18, 2019. The U.S. filed its opening brief in the court of appeals on June 10, 2019
and we filed our answering brief on July 24, 2019 to which the government filed its reply brief on September 6, 2019. Oral arguments occurred on
March 11, 2020. On November 5, 2020, the court of appeals affirmed the district court’s judgement in favor of TriNet. The April 5, 2021 deadline for
the IRS to petition the Supreme Court for review passed without a petition. TriNet received payment of the full amount of the judgment in February
2022.
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Valuation Allowance

We have recorded a valuation allowance to reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets that may not be realized, related to state tax credits
and state net operating loss carryforwards. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the valuation allowance is presented in the table
below:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Valuation allowance at January 1 $ 5 $ 5 $ 7 

(Credited) Charged to net income — — (2)
Valuation allowance at December 31 5 5 5 

Uncertain Tax Positions

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits (excluding interest and penalties) related to uncertain income tax
provisions, which would affect the effective tax rate if recognized, is presented in the table below:

Year Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2021 2020 2019
Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1 $ 8 $ 7 $ 6 

Additions for tax positions of prior periods — 1 1 
Additions for tax positions of current period 1 1 1 
Reductions for tax positions of prior period:

Settlements with taxing authorities — (1) — 
Lapse of applicable statute of limitations (1) — (1)
Adjustments to tax positions (1) — — 

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 $ 7 $ 8 $ 7 

As  of  December  31,  2021  and  2020,  the  total  amount  of  gross  interest  and  penalties  accrued  were  immaterial.  The  unrecognized  tax  benefit,
including accrued interest and penalties, is included in other non-current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

It  is reasonably possible the amount of the unrecognized benefit  could increase or decrease within the next twelve months, which would have an
impact on net income.
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NOTE 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic EPS is computed based on the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is computed based on
those  shares  used  in  the  basic  EPS computation,  plus  potentially  dilutive  shares  issuable  under  our  equity-based  compensation  plans  using  the
treasury stock method. Shares that are potentially anti-dilutive are excluded.

The following table presents the computation of our basic and diluted EPS attributable to our common stock:

 Year Ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2021 2020 2019
Net income $ 338 $ 272 $ 212 
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 66 67 70 
Basic EPS $ 5.13 $ 4.03 $ 3.04 
Net income $ 338 $ 272 $ 212 
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 66 67 70 
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units 1 1 1 
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 67 68 71 
Diluted EPS $ 5.07 $ 3.99 $ 2.99 
Common stock equivalents excluded from income per
diluted share because of their anti-dilutive effect 1 1 1 

NOTE 15. 401(k) PLAN

The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) plan for the benefit of corporate employees. Under our 401(k) plan, eligible employees may
elect to contribute based on their eligible compensation. The Company matches a portion of employee contributions, which amounted to $15 million,
$12 million, and $14 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

We also maintain multiple  employer  defined contribution plans,  which cover  WSEs for  client  companies electing to participate in the plan and for
their  internal  staff  employees.  We  contribute,  on  behalf  of  each  participating  client,  varying  amounts  based  on  the  clients’  policies  and  serviced
employee elections.

NOTE 16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We have service agreements with certain stockholders that we process their employees' payrolls and payroll taxes. From time to time, we also enter
into  sales  and  purchases  agreements  with  various  companies  that  have  a  relationship  with  our  executive  officers  or  members  of  our  board  of
directors. The relationships are typically equity investment firm clients on which a board member serves in an executive role, an equity investment by
those  firms  in  a  client/vendor  company,  or  other  clients/vendors  on  which  our  executive  officer  or  board  member  serves  as  a  member  of  the
client/vendor company's board of directors. We have received $14 million, $22 million, and $25 million in total revenues from such related parties
during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

We have also entered into various software license agreements with software service providers who have board members in common with us. We
paid the software service providers $2 million, $1 million, and $10 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, for services
we received, respectively.
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NOTE 17. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In December 2021, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Zenefits, a leading cloud HR platform which provides innovative and intuitive
HR,  benefits,  payroll  and  employee  engagement  software  purpose-built  for  small  and  medium-size  businesses.  We  believe  the  acquisition  of
Zenefits will allow us to diversify our product offering to include an Administrative Services Organization (ASO), enabling us to dynamically service
SMBs throughout their lifecycle and expand the customers we serve.

The total purchase price of $220 million, subject to customary closing adjustments, will be settled by the issuance of up to $20 million of TriNet stock
to eligible selling shareholders, with the remainder paid in cash. The acquisition is subject to customary closing conditions and regulatory approval
and is expected to close in the first quarter of 2022.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2021, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the Exchange Act).

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2021, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2021 in ensuring that

i. information  required  to  be  disclosed  by  the  Company  in  reports  that  it  files  or  submits  under  the  Exchange  Act  is  accumulated  and
communicated  to  the  Company’s  management,  including  the  Chief  Executive  Officer  and  Chief  Financial  Officer,  to  allow  timely  decisions
regarding required disclosure and

ii. such  information  is  recorded,  processed,  summarized  and  reported  within  the  time  periods  specified  in  the  Securities  and  Exchange
Commission's rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control  over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)  and 15d-15(f)
promulgated  under  the  Exchange  Act  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  the
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that a misstatement of our financial
statements would be prevented or detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We have performed an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 based upon criteria
set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on this assessment, we determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. This audit report appears in Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Form
10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2021 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Not applicable.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to TriNet Group Inc.’s Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2021.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of the report:

(1) The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed in the “Index to Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data.

(2)  Financial  statement  schedules  have  been  omitted,  since  the  required  information  is  not  applicable  or  is  not  present  in  amounts  sufficient  to
require  submission  of  the  schedule,  or  because  the  information  required  is  included  in  the  consolidated  financial  statements  and  accompanying
notes included in this Form 10-K.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by Reference  

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit Form  File No.  Exhibit  Filing  

Filed
Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of TriNet Group, Inc.

8-K 001-36373 3.1 4/1/2014  

3.2 Certificate of Correction of Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of TriNet Group, Inc.

10-Q 001-36373 3.1 11/2/2017

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of TriNet Group, Inc. S-1/A 333-192465 3.4 3/4/2014  
4.1 Registration Rights Agreement, by and between

TriNet Group, Inc. and AGI-T, L.P., dated as of
February 1, 2017.

8-K 001-36373 4.1 2/2/2017

4.2 Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered
Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.

10-K 001-36373 4.2 2/13/2020

4.3 Indenture, dated February 26, 2021, among the
Company, the guarantors listed therein and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee.

8-K 001-36373 4.1 2/26/2021

4.4 Form of 3.500% Senior Notes due 2029 (included in
exhibit 4.1).

8-K 001-36373 4.2 2/26/2021

4.5 Credit Agreement dated as of February 26, 2021,
among TriNet USA, Inc. as Holdings, the lenders
from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

8-K 001-36373 10.1 2/26/2021

10.1* Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan. S-1/A 333-192465 10.3 3/14/2014

10.2* Form of Option Agreement and Option Grant Notice
under the Amended and Restated 2009 Equity
Incentive Plan.

S-1/A 333-192465 10.4 3/4/2014

10.3* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and
Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice under the
Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.

S-1/A 333-192465 10.6 3/4/2014

10.4* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement and
Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under the
Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.

10-Q 001-36373 10.1 4/30/2018

10.5* Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement and
Restricted Stock Grant Notice under the Amended
and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.

10-Q 001-36373 10.3 4/30/2018

10.6* Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award
Agreement and Performance-Based Restricted
Stock Grant Notice under the 2009 Equity Incentive
Plan, as amended through February 20, 2014.

10-Q 001-36373 10.4 4/30/2018

10.7* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement and
Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under the
Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.

10-Q 001-36373 10.2 4/29/2019
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Incorporated by Reference  
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10.8* TriNet Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan. 10-Q 001-36373 10.1 7/25/2019
10.9* Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock

Unit Grant Notice and Non-Employee Director
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the
TriNet Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
effective as of January 15, 2020.

10-Q 001-36373 10.4 4/28/2020

10.10* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice under the
TriNet Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan
effective as of March 4, 2021.

10-Q 001-36373 10.4 4/26/2021

10.11* Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit
Grant Notice and Performance-Based Restricted
Stock Unit Award Agreement under the TriNet
Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan effective as
of March 4, 2020.

10-Q 001-36373 10.5 4/26/2021

10.12* 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1/A 333-192465 10.7 3/14/2014  
10.13* 2015 Executive Bonus Plan. 8-K 001-36373 N/A 3/11/2015
10.14* Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director

Compensation Policy.
10-K 001-36373 10.17 X

10.15* TriNet Group, Inc. Severance Benefit Plan. 10-K 001-36373 10.10 4/1/2016
10.16* TriNet Group Inc. Amended and Restated Executive

Severance Benefit Plan
10-Q 001-36373 10.5 4/30/2018

10.17 Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and
between TriNet Group, Inc. and each of its directors
and executive officers.

S-1/A 333-192465 10.8 3/4/2014

10.18* Employment Agreement, dated November 9, 2009,
between Burton M. Goldfield and TriNet Group, Inc.

S-1/A 333-192465 10.9 2/13/2014

10.19* Second Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated December 31, 2016, between
Edward Griese and TriNet Group, Inc.

10-Q 001-36373 10.2 8/1/2017

10.20 Separation Agreement between Edward Griese and
TriNet Group, Inc. dated December 31, 2021.

X

10.21* Employment Agreement, dated November 19, 2018,
between Samantha Wellington and TriNet Group,
Inc.

10-K 001-36373 10.22 2/14/2019

10.22* Second Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement, dated July 25, 2020, between TriNet
USA, Inc. and Olivier Kohler.

8-K 001-36373 10.2 11/19/2020

10.23* Employment Agreement dated August 13, 2020,
between TriNet Group, Inc. and Kelly Lee Tuminelli.

10-Q 001-36373 10.1 10/26/2020

10.24* Stockholder Agreement, by and between TriNet
Group, Inc. and AGI-T, L.P., dated as of December
21, 2016

8-K  001-36373 10.1 12/22/2016

21.1  List of Subsidiaries.      X
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Herewith
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent

registered public accounting firm.
X

24.1
 

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of
this report).

          

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

101.INS

 

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance
document does not appear in the Interactive Data
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

         X

101.SCH
 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document.          X

101.SCHCAL
 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Calculation Linkbase Document.          X

101.CALDEF
 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Definition Linkbase Document.          X

101.DEFLAB
 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Label
Linkbase Document.          X

101.LABPRE
 

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
Presentation Linkbase Document.          X

101.PRE104 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document. Cover Page Interactive Data File
(embedded with the Inline XBRL document). X

* Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
** Document has been furnished, is deemed not filed and is not to be incorporated by reference into any of the Company’s filings under the Securities Act

of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in any such
filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Dublin, State of California, on the day of 14  February, 2022.

 

 TRINET GROUP, INC.
  
Date: February 14, 2022  By: /s/ Burton M. Goldfield
   Burton M. Goldfield
   Chief Executive Officer
    
Date: February 14, 2022  By: /s/ Kelly Tuminelli
   Kelly Tuminelli
   Chief Financial Officer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS,  that  each person whose signature  appears below constitutes  and appoints  Burton M.  Goldfield,
Kelly Tuminelli and Samantha Wellington, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the full power of
substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place or stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report and to file the
same,  with  exhibits  thereto,  and  other  documents  in  connection  therewith,  with  the  Securities  and  Exchange  Commission,  hereby  ratifying  and
confirming all that any of said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

th
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Burton M. Goldfield Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) February 14, 2022
Burton M. Goldfield

/s/ Kelly Tuminelli Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer) February 14, 2022

Kelly Tuminelli

/s/ Michael J. Angelakis Director February 14, 2022
Michael J. Angelakis

/s/ Katherine August-deWilde Director February 14, 2022
Katherine August-deWilde

/s/ Martin Babinec Director February 14, 2022
Martin Babinec

/s/ H. Raymond Bingham Director February 14, 2022
H. Raymond Bingham

/s/ Paul Chamberlain Director February 14, 2022
Paul Chamberlain

/s/ Ralph Clark Director February 14, 2022
Ralph Clark

/s/ Maria Contreras-Sweet Director February 14, 2022
Maria Contreras-Sweet

/s/ David C. Hodgson Director February 14, 2022
David C. Hodgson

/s/ Dr. Jacqueline Kosecoff Director February 14, 2022
Dr. Jacqueline Kosecoff

/s/ Wayne B. Lowell Director February 14, 2022
Wayne B. Lowell

/s/ Myrna Soto Director February 14, 2022
Myrna Soto
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Exhibit 10.14
TRINET GROUP, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

Adopted on March 10, 2015
Effective Date: January 01, 2015
Revised: July 17, 2017, June 4, 2020, March 23, 2021
Reviewed and Revised: May 27, 2021

This Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (the “Policy”) documents the terms and conditions of the cash and equity
compensation that non-employee members of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of TriNet Group, Inc. (“TriNet”) may earn for their service on the
Board from and after January 1, 2015. This Policy amends, restates and supersedes in its entirety any prior policies adopted by the Board or the
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) prior to the date this Policy is adopted

Philosophy

This Policy is designed to attract and retain experienced, talented individuals to serve on the Board. The Board anticipates that the Compensation
Committee will generally review Director compensation on an annual basis; provided, that the Board may, in its sole discretion, review and approve
changes to director compensation from time to time as the Board determines is appropriate. The Policy, as amended from time to time, may take
into account the time commitment expected of Directors, best practices and market rates in director compensation, the economic position of TriNet,
broader economic conditions, historical compensation structure, the advice of the compensation consultant(s) that the Compensation Committee or
the Board may retain from time to time, and the potential dilutive effect of equity awards on TriNet’s stockholders.

Under this Policy, Directors receive cash compensation in the form of retainers to recognize their day to day contributions, the level of responsibility
as well as the necessary time commitment involved in serving in a leadership role and/or on committees. Directors also receive equity compensation
because TriNet  believes that  stock  ownership,  in  coordination  with  TriNet’s  stock  ownership  guidelines,  provides  an incentive  to  act  in  ways that
maximize  long-term  stockholder  value.  Further,  TriNet  believes  that  stock-based  awards  are  essential  to  attracting  and  retaining  talented  Board
members.

Eligible Directors

Only members of the Board who are not concurrently  employees of TriNet are eligible for compensation under this Policy (each such member,  a
“Director”). Any director may also decline compensation per policy of their affiliated entity or for any other reason prior to the start of the period of
service to which the compensation relates.

Annual Cash Compensation

All Directors will be entitled to annual cash compensation set forth below for 2015 and thereafter. The annual cash compensation set forth below is
payable in equal quarterly installments, in arrears following the end of each quarter in which the service occurred, pro-rated for any partial quarters
of service. All annual cash fees are vested upon payment.



Annual Retainer
(Chair)

Annual Retainer
(non-Chair)

Fee per1
Meeting

Board $85,000* $60,000* $1,500
Audit Committee $30,000 $15,000 $1,000
Compensation Committee $30,000 $15,000 $1,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee $15,000 $7,500 $500
Risk Committee $15,000 $7,500 $500

* Effective May 27, 2021, the Annual Retainer Fees for Board Members was increased by $10,000.

Equity Compensation

Equity awards will be granted under the TriNet Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan or any successor thereto (the “Plan”) and shall be subject to
the terms of  the  Plan and any applicable  award agreement  in  effect  on the date  of  the  grant.  All  equity  awards granted under  this  Policy  will  be
documented on the applicable form of equity award agreement most recently approved for use by the Board (or a duly authorized committee thereof)
for Directors. As set forth in the Plan, the terms of the equity awards described in this Policy will be automatically adjusted upon any Capitalization
Adjustment (as defined and provided for under the Plan). To the extent there is any conflict between this Policy and the Plan, the Plan will control.

1. Initial  Grant:  On the date of a Director’s initial  election or appointment to the Board, the Director will  be automatically,  and without further
action by the Board, granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with an aggregate value of $200,000 (or, $300,000, in the case of a new Director who is
to serve as Chairman of the Board upon his or her initial appointment) of TriNet’s Common Stock multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is
the number of days that will elapse between the Director’s date of initial appointment or election and the first anniversary of the date of grant of the
Company’s most recent Annual Grants (as defined below) and the denominator of which is 365. Such RSUs will vest on the first anniversary of the
Company’s most recent Annual Grants, subject to the Director’s Continuous Service through such date. Such RSUs are referred to in this Policy as
the “Initial Grant.”  A  Director  whose initial  election  or  appointment  falls  on  the  same date  as  the  date  of  the  Annual  Grant  (i.e.,  the  first  regular
quarterly board meeting of the calendar year) will not be eligible for an Initial Grant. A Director who served as an employee of TriNet or one of its
subsidiaries during the one year period immediately prior to his or her initial election or appointment to serve on the Board as a Director will not be
eligible for an Initial Grant.

If the Board meeting and the Committee meeting are on the same day, only the Board meeting fee is paid.

2. Annual Grant: Subject to Section 1, on the date of the Company’s first regular quarterly board meeting of each calendar year, each person
who is then serving as a Director will be automatically, and without further action by the Board, granted RSUs with an aggregate value of $200,000
(or $300,000, in the case of the Chairman of the Board) of TriNet’s Common Stock. Such RSUs will vest as to 100% of the shares on the date of
Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders for the year immediately following the date of grant, in each case provided that the Director remains a
Non-Employee Director (as defined in the 2019 Plan) of the Company as of the date of the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Such RSUs
are referred to in this Policy as the “Annual Grants”.

3. Vesting; Acceleration: Vesting of awards granted under this Policy will cease if the Director resigns from the Board or otherwise ceases to
serve as a Director, unless the Compensation Committee or the Board determines that the circumstances warrant acceleration of vesting. All equity
awards granted under this Policy will vest in full immediately prior to a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan), subject to the Director remaining a
Non-Employee Director of the Company as of the day prior to the closing of the Change in Control.

1 



4. Number of Shares subject to RSUs. The number of shares subject to any RSUs granted pursuant to this Policy will be determined based on
the approved dollar  amount of  the RSUs divided by the closing price of  one share of  TriNet’s  Common Stock,  as quoted by the New York Stock
Exchange, on the date of grant or, if the date of grant is not a trading day, the immediately preceding trading day, determined in accordance with the
Plan, rounded up to the nearest whole share.

Annual Maximum Remuneration

The  maximum  annual  amount  of  compensation  (including  cash  and  equity  compensation)  is  $750,000  for  each  Director  for  each  calendar  year
beginning on or  after  January  1,  2019,  through the calendar  year  beginning on January  1,  2024,  or,  if  earlier,  through the last  calendar  year  not
covered  by  a  subsequent  stockholder  approval  of  a  different  maximum  annual  amount  of  compensation  for  Directors.  The  proposed  maximum
amount  covers  all  forms  of  cash,  stock  and  other  compensation  (other  than  reimbursements  for  reasonable  out-of-pocket  expenses  incurred  in
attending Board and committee meetings).

Expenses

The Company will reimburse Directors for ordinary, necessary and reasonable out-of-pocket travel expenses to cover in-person attendance at and
participation in Board and committee meetings.



SEPARATION AGREEMENT

THIS SEPARATION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of December 31, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and among TriNet
Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with its successors and assigns, the “Company”), and Edward Griese (the “Executive”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Executive is currently serving as the Senior Vice President, Insurance Services of the Company pursuant to the Second Amended and
Restated Employment Agreement entered into by the Company and the Executive on December 28, 2016 (the “Employment Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company have mutually agreed to provide for an orderly transition of the Executive’s duties and responsibilities
and the Executive desires to assist the Company in realizing such an orderly transition;

WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company mutually desire that the Executive continues in his current role,  with the Executive’s current roles and
responsibilities, until the Separation Date defined below;

WHEREAS, the Executive and the Company mutually desire that the Executive thereafter provide consulting services to the Company;

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the foregoing, the Executive and the Company have negotiated and reached an agreement with respect to all rights, duties
and obligations arising between them, including, but in no way limited to, any rights, duties and obligations that have arisen or might arise out of or are in any
way related to the Executive’s continued employment with the Company and the conclusion of that employment.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the covenants and mutual promises recited below, the parties agree as follows:

1. Separation from Employment. Executive shall continue to serve as Senior Vice President, Insurance Services in all respects until December 31, 2021
(the “Separation Date”), which will be the Executive’s last day of employment with the Company.

2. Compensation. As compensation for the Executive’s continuing employment and service hereunder, in recognition of the Executive’s contributions to
the Company, and as consideration for the Release (as defined below), and the respective terms and conditions thereof, and the other promises of the
Executive contained in this Agreement, which shall be deemed to include the Executive’s agreement to (A) remain in the employ of the Company as described
above through the Separation Date, (B) cause ER Griese Consulting, LLC to enter a consulting agreement with the Company in the form attached as
Appendix C, (C) timely and accurately respond to other matters involving the Company about which the Executive has or may have personal knowledge
(other than the Executive’s separation or any other claim the Executive may bring against the Company that is not released under the Release), (D) comply
with the Company’s Business Ethics and Code of Conduct Policy and other policies relating to conduct, as in effect from time to time and applicable to its
senior management colleagues, and
(E) subject to 7(a) below, comply with all covenants to which the Executive has agreed as part of his employment with the Company, including, but not
limited to, the Restrictive Covenants in the Executive’s TriNet equity awards (an example of which is attached hereto as Appendix D) and the Proprietary
Information and Invention Agreement with the Executive (the “Proprietary Information Agreement),” a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A),
(the covenants described in the immediately preceding clauses (A) through (E) are collectively referred to herein as the “Covenants”); provided, that the
Executive timely signs and returns this Agreement, complies with Sections 8, 10, and 14 below, among others, and does not revoke the Release, the Company
will provide the Executive with the following compensation and benefits:

(a) Base Salary and Benefit Plan Participation. Until the Separation Date, the Executive will (i) receive his base salary as in effect on the Effective Date
and (ii) participate in the Company’s retirement and welfare benefit



plans, perquisite programs, expense reimbursement and vacation policies, as such plans, programs and policies may be in effect from time to time
(collectively, the “Plans”). For any expense reimbursement requests the Executive does not submit via the TriNet Expense site before the Separation Date,
within 10 calendar days of the Separation Date, the Executive shall submit them via email to Maureen.kleven@trinet.com, for review/approval by the CEO,
with a spreadsheet documenting the final expense reimbursement request for expenses incurred through the Separation Date. For each expense, the
Executive shall provide the merchant’s name, expense type, expense amount, client, attendee(s), and relevant notes, and the Executive shall include all
relevant receipts with the email. The final expense request shall be reviewed for accuracy and policy compliance and processed in accordance with TriNet’s
regular practice. The Executive shall receive any reimbursement owed by check sent to his last known mailing address.

(b) Benefits Upon Separation Date. Subject to the Executive (i) not unilaterally terminating his employment with the Company prior to the Separation
Date without mutual consent of the Company and (ii) not being terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 2(c) below), the Executive
shall, without duplicating any amounts provided under Section 2(a), be invited to participate in the TriNet Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive
Severance Benefit Plan (the “Severance Plan”), subject to the terms and conditions of the Severance Plan; provided that, the Executive’s execution of a
Participation Notice under the Severance Plan shall not entitle the Executive to participate in the Severance Plan until the additional conditions set forth in
this Agreement are met. Nothing in the Severance Plan shall limit the obligations of the Executive toward the Company under this Agreement, including
without limitation the Executive’s obligations with respect to return of Company property, confidential information and intellectual property.

(c) Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” will mean (i) a willful act or omission involving gross misconduct or fraud that results in material
injury to the Company, (ii) a willful refusal or failure to follow lawful and reasonable directions of the Board or an individual to whom the Executive reports
(as appropriate), (iii) a willful and habitual neglect of duties, (iv) a material breach by the Executive of this Agreement, the PIIA or any other contract or
agreement between the Executive and by the Company or (v) the commission of a felony or crime involving fraud, dishonesty or moral turpitude under the
laws of the United States or any state thereof. No act, omission or failure to act by the Executive shall be deemed “willful” unless committed without good
faith and without reasonable belief that the act, omission or failure to act was in the Company’s best interests.

3. Employment Location. Except as set forth herein, until the Separation Date the Executive may continue to perform his duties as Senior Vice
President, Insurance Services from any location in the United States.

4. No Additional Entitlements. The Executive understands and acknowledges that he will have no further entitlements, other than (a) those cash, stock
and other amounts recited in Section 2(b) and otherwise under this Agreement and (b) accrued rights and entitlements that have vested as of the Separation
Date under the Plans. The Executive hereby acknowledges that the Executive has no interest in or claim of right to reinstatement, reemployment or
employment with the Company, and the Executive forever waives any interest in or claim of right to any future employment by the Company.

5. Withholding. All payments required to be made by the Company hereunder to the Executive shall be subject to withholding of such amounts
relating to taxes as the Company may reasonably determine it should withhold pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

6. Section 409A Compliance. It is intended that any amounts payable under this Agreement and the Company’s and the Executive’s exercise of authority
or discretion hereunder shall be exempt from or comply with the provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 409A and the treasury regulations and guidance
thereunder (“Section 409A”) whether pursuant to the short-term deferral exception under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A- 1(b)(4), the involuntary
separation pay play exception under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), or otherwise, so as not to subject the Executive to the payment of
interest and tax penalty which may be imposed under Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, if, at the Executive’s
separation from service, (a) the Executive is a specified employee as defined in Section 409A and (b) any of the payments or benefits provided hereunder
constitute deferred compensation under Section 409A, then, and only to the extent required by such provisions, the date of payment of such payments or
benefits otherwise provided shall be delayed for a period of six months following the separation from service, and any amounts so delayed shall be paid during



the seventh month following separation from service. Any reimbursement amounts payable under this Agreement shall be paid promptly after receipt of a
properly documented request for reimbursement from the Executive, provided no amount shall be paid later than December 31 of the year following the year
during which the reimbursable amounts were incurred by the Executive.

7. Executive Protections; Defend Trade Secrets Act.

(a) Nothing in this Agreement or otherwise limits the Executive’s ability to communicate directly with and provide information, including documents, not
otherwise protected from disclosure by any applicable law or privilege to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), or any other federal, state
or local governmental agency or commission or self-regulatory organization (each such agency, commission or organization, a “Government Agency”)
regarding possible legal violations, without disclosure to the Company. The Company may not retaliate against the Executive for any of these activities,
and nothing in this Agreement requires the Executive to waive any monetary award or other relief that the Executive might become entitled to from the
SEC or any other Government Agency.

(b) Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, the Executive and the Company acknowledge and agree that the Executive shall not have criminal or
civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (i) is made (A) in confidence to a federal, state, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and (B) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or
(ii) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In addition and without limiting the
preceding sentence, if the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, the Executive may disclose the
trade secret to the Executive’s attorney and may use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the Executive (X) files any document containing
the trade secret under seal and (Y) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

8. Execution of Agreement; Release of Claims. The payments and benefits to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement are contingent upon (a) the
Executive executing and delivering to the Company this Agreement and a release of claims in the form attached to this Agreement as Appendix B (the
“Release”) within twenty-one (21) days of the date of this Agreement but not sooner than December 31, 2021, and (b) the Executive not revoking the Release.
The parties agree that the Executive’s execution and non-revocation of the Release under this Section 8 shall constitute execution and non-revocation of the
Release referenced in Section 5(a) of the Severance Plan.

9. Return of Property. Subject to Section 7(a) hereof, on or prior to the Separation Date, the Executive will return all of the Company’s property. Such
property includes, but is not limited to, the original and any copies of any confidential information or trade secrets, keys, pass cards, building identity cards,
mobile telephones, tablet devices, corporate credit cards, customer lists, files, brochures, documents or computer disks or printouts, equipment and any other
item relating to the Company and its business, provided that it would not be a violation of this
Section 9 for the Executive to retain copies of publicly-filed documents. Further, other than in the performance of the Executive’s duties and subject to Section
7(a) hereof, the Executive will not take, procure, or copy any property of the Company before, on, after or in anticipation of the Separation Date. For purposes
of this Section 9, “Company” shall include the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive may keep a Company
provided laptop computer and its contents following the Separation Date in order to facilitate transition of duties until the Company requests its return.

10. Cooperation. Subject to Section 7(a) hereof, in consideration for the promises and payments by the Company pursuant to this Agreement, at the request
of the Company, the Executive agrees to timely and accurately respond to reasonable requests by the Company to the extent reasonably possible with respect to
the transition of his duties following his Separation date and other matters involving the Company about which the Executive has or may have personal
knowledge (other than the Executive’s separation or any other claim the Executive may bring against the Company that is not released under the Releases),
including any such matters which may arise after the Separation Date, including without limitation the Shiqiong Huang et. al. vs. TriNet HR III, et al. 401(k)
litigation matter; provided that the Company shall reimburse the Executive for any out-of-pocket expenses reasonably related to such requests that are approved
by the Company in advance; provided, further, that, if the incurrence of such expenses is necessary for the Executive to comply with the terms of this Section
10, the Executive shall not be



required to comply with this Section 10 until such approval is granted. For purposes of this Section 10, “Company” shall include the Company, its subsidiaries
and affiliates.

11. Resignations. Effective as of the Separation Date, unless otherwise requested by the Company in writing, the Executive will, automatically and without
further action on the part of the Executive or any other person or entity, resign from all offices, boards of directors (or similar governing bodies), committees of
such boards of directors (or similar governing bodies) and committees of the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates, other than the office of Vice President of
the Company, from which office the Executive will automatically and without further action on the part of the Executive or any other person or entity, resign on
the Separation Date. In addition, and without limiting the effectiveness of the resignations in the immediately preceding sentence, upon request of the Company,
effective on the Separation Date, the Executive will execute and deliver to the Company a written resignation from his position as SVP, Insurance Services of
the Company. The Executive agrees that he shall execute any such further documents and instruments as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to carry
out the intent of this Section 11.

12. Non-Reliance. The Executive represents to the Company and the Company represents to the Executive that in executing this Agreement they do not rely
and have not relied upon any representation or statement not set forth herein made by the other or by any of the other’s agents, representatives or attorneys with
regard to the subject matter, basis or effect of this Agreement, or otherwise. The Executive (a) has reviewed with his own advisors the tax and legal
consequences of entering into and the payments under this Agreement, (b) is relying solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the
Company, its agents or advisors, and (c) understands that he (and not the Company) shall be responsible for his own tax liability that may arise as a result of
entering into and the payments under this Agreement, other than the Company’s liability with respect to any required tax withholdings thereon.

13. Assignability. The rights and benefits under this Agreement are personal to the Executive and such rights and benefits shall not be subject to
assignment, alienation or transfer, except to the extent such rights and benefits are lawfully available to the estate or beneficiaries of the Executive upon death.
The Company may assign this Agreement to any parent, affiliate or subsidiary and shall require any entity which at any time becomes a successor whether by
merger, purchase, or otherwise acquires all or substantially all of the assets, stock or business of the Company, to expressly assume this Agreement.

14. Confidentiality, Intellectual Property, Non-Solicitation and Non-Disparagement. Subject to Section 7(a) hereof, the Company and the Executive
acknowledge and agree that the provisions of the Proprietary Information Agreement, and all other Covenants shall continue to apply to the Executive prior
to and after the Separation Date as if fully set forth in this Agreement. In addition, and in consideration of the compensation described in Section 2 hereof,
and the Company’s commitments hereunder, the Company and the Executive also agree, subject to Section 7(a) hereof, as follows:

(a) Non-Solicitation. The Executive acknowledges that the provisions of the Proprietary Information Agreement relating to non-solicitation of
employees shall apply for a period of twelve months following the Separation Date.

(b) Non-Disparagement. At all times on and after the Effective Date, the Executive will not disparage, place in a false or negative light or criticize, or make
any false statements that may damage the reputation of, orally or in writing, the business, products, policies, decisions, directors, officers or employees of the
Company to any person; provided, however, that (i) this provision shall not apply to any truthful statements as may be required by the Executive in the course
of his duties; provided, further, that this provision shall not apply to any truthful statements made by the Executive to the Board (or a committee or
subcommittee of the Board) if such statements are provided at the request of the Board (or a committee or subcommittee thereof) in the course of carrying out
its duties and responsibilities and (ii) that the Executive may respond accurately and fully to any question, inquiry, or request for information when required
by legal process or in response to a governmental inquiry.

(c) Injunctive Relief. It is recognized and acknowledged by the Executive that a breach of the covenants contained in this Section 14 will cause irreparable
damage to the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates and their respective goodwill, the exact amount of which will be difficult or impossible to ascertain,
and that the remedies



at law for any such breach will be inadequate. Accordingly, the Executive agrees that in the event of a breach of any of the covenants contained in this
Section 14, in addition to any other remedy which may be available at law or in equity, the Company will be entitled to specific performance and injunctive
relief. The Executive agrees not to raise as a defense or objection to the request or granting of such relief that any breach of this Agreement is or would be
compensable by an award of money damages, and the Executive agrees to waive any requirements for the securing or posting of any bond in connection
with such remedy. For purposes of this Section 14, “Company” shall include the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates.

This Agreement does not, in any way, restrict or impede the Executive from exercising protected rights, including those under the California Fair
Employment and Housing Act (FEHA), the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), or the federal securities laws, including the Dodd-Frank Act, to the
extent that such rights cannot be waived by agreement or from complying with any applicable law or regulation or a valid order of a court of competent
jurisdiction or an authorized government agency; provided that such compliance does not exceed that required by the law, regulation, or order. The
Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to the Company’s Chief Legal Officer at Samantha.Wellington@TriNet.com.

15. Entire Agreement. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement, together with the Appendices hereto and the other documents,
Company plans and Company policies referred to herein, including, without limitation the Proprietary Information Agreement, any equity agreements and all
agreements thereunder or related thereto to which the Executive is a party, constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the parties and
supersedes any prior agreements, written or oral, with respect to the subject matter hereof, including the termination of the Executive’s employment after the
Effective Date and all amounts to which the Executive shall be entitled, other than as specifically provided in this Agreement. The Executive acknowledges
and agrees that this Agreement supersedes the terms regarding the Executive’s termination of employment set forth in the Employment Agreement, including
without limitation the severance benefits set forth therein.

16. Severability/Reasonable Alteration. In the event that any part or provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable by a court
of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions thereof shall nevertheless continue to be valid and enforceable as though the invalid or unenforceable part
or provision had not been included therein. Further, in the event that any part or provision hereof shall be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to
exceed the maximum time period, scope or activity restriction that such court deems reasonable and enforceable, then the parties expressly authorize the court
to modify such part or provision so that it may be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law.

17. No Strict  Construction.  The  language  used  in  this  Agreement  will  be  deemed  to  be  the  language  chosen  by  the  Executive  and  the  Company  to
express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction will be applied against the Executive or the Company.

18. Insurance. The Company presently maintains general liability insurance on an occurrence basis which covers the professional activities of
professionals of the Company. The Company will continue to provide such coverage for the past activities of the Executive to the same extent as such
coverage is provided with respect to the past activities of other former professionals of the Company.

19. Applicable Law, Venue and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware,
without regard to conflicts of laws principles, rules or statutes of any jurisdiction. The parties irrevocably agree that all actions to enforce an arbitrator’s
decision pursuant to
Section 21 of this Agreement may be instituted and litigated in federal, state or local courts sitting in Santa Clara County, California and each of such parties
hereby consents to the jurisdiction and venue of such court, waives any objection based on forum non conveniens and any right to a jury trial as set forth in
Section 20 of this Agreement.

20. Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE EXECUTIVE AND THE COMPANY HEREBY WAIVES, RELEASES AND RELINQUISHES ANY
AND ALL RIGHTS HE/IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTIONS ARISING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
AS A RESULT OR IN CONSEQUENCE OF THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY CLAIM OR ACTION TO
REMEDY ANY BREACH OR ALLEGED BREACH HEREOF, TO ENFORCE ANY TERM



HEREOF, OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY RIGHT, BENEFIT OR OBLIGATION ACCORDED OR IMPOSED BY THIS AGREEMENT.

21. Arbitration. To provide a mechanism for rapid and economical dispute resolution, the Executive and the Company agree that any and all disputes,
claims, or causes of action, in law or equity, arising from or relating to this Agreement (including the Release) or its enforcement, performance, breach, or
interpretation, or arising from or relating to the Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination of the Executive’s employment with the
Company, will be resolved, to the fullest extent permitted by law, by final, binding, and confidential arbitration held in Santa Clara County, California and
conducted by JAMS, Inc. (“JAMS”), under its then applicable JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules and Procedures. By agreeing to this arbitration procedure,
both the Executive and the Company waive the right to resolve any such dispute through a trial by jury or judge or by administrative proceeding. The Executive
will have the right to be represented by legal counsel at any arbitration proceeding at his expense. The arbitrator will: (a) have the authority to compel adequate
discovery for the resolution of the dispute and to award such relief as would otherwise be available under applicable law in a court proceeding; and (b) issue a
written statement signed by the arbitrator regarding the disposition of each claim and the relief, if any, awarded as to each claim, the reasons for the award, and
the arbitrator’s essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based. The Company will bear all fees for the arbitration, except for any attorneys’
fees or costs associated with the Executive’s personal representation. The arbitrator, and not a court, will also be authorized to determine whether the
provisions of this paragraph apply to a dispute, controversy or claim sought to be resolved in accordance with these arbitration procedures. Notwithstanding the
provisions of this paragraph, the parties are not prohibited from seeking injunctive relief in a court of appropriate jurisdiction to prevent irreparable harm on
any basis, pending the outcome of arbitration. Any awards or orders in such arbitrations may be entered and enforced as judgments in the federal and the state
courts of any competent jurisdiction.

The parties agree that the arbitration shall be kept confidential. The existence of the arbitration, any non-public information provided in the arbitration, and
any submissions, orders or awards made in the arbitration (together, the “Confidential Arbitration Information”) shall not be disclosed to any non-party
except the tribunal, JAMS, the parties, their counsel, experts, witnesses, accountants and auditors, insurers and reinsurers, and any other person necessary to
the conduct of the arbitration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a party may disclose Confidential Arbitration Information to the extent that disclosure may be
required to fulfill a legal duty, protect or pursue a legal right, or enforce or challenge an award in bona fide legal proceedings. This confidentiality provision
survives termination of the contract and of any arbitration brought pursuant to the contract.

22. Severance Plan Claims. Notwithstanding the foregoing Sections 19, 20 and 21, any claim for benefits under the Severance Plan shall be
administered under the terms of the Severance Plan.

23. Counterparts and Facsimiles. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed as an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Signed copies of this Agreement may be delivered by .pdf, .jpeg or fax and will be accepted as an
original.

24. Expenses. Each of the Company and the Executive shall bear its/his own costs and expenses in connection with the negotiation and documentation of
this Agreement.

25. No Reliance Upon Other Statements. This Agreement is entered into without reliance upon any statement or representation of any party
hereto or parties hereby released other than the statements and representations contained in writing in this Agreement.

26. Amendment/Waiver. This Agreement may not be modified without the express written consent of the parties hereto. Any failure by any party to
enforce any of its rights and privileges under this Agreement shall not be deemed to constitute waiver of any rights and privileges contained herein.

27. Notice. Any notice to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested,
addressed as follows:



To the Executive at:

The most recent address provided by the Executive to the Company

To the Company at:

TriNet Group Inc. One Park Plaza 6  Floor
Dublin, California 94568
Attn: Samantha Wellington, SVP & Chief Legal Officer

1. Company Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Divisions. For purposes of this Agreement, references to “subsidiaries,” “affiliates” or “divisions” of the
Company shall mean and include those entities or persons publicly identified by the Company as a subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company and such
other entities or persons actually known by the Executive to be a subsidiary, affiliate or division of the Company.

[Signature Page Follows]

th



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has duly executed this Separation Agreement as of the date and year first set forth above.

TRINET GROUP INC.

By:______________________________
Its: President and Chief Executive Officer, Burton Goldfield

EXECUTIVE

By:______________________________
Edward Griese

  



  
Appendix B

RELEASE AGREEMENT

This Release Agreement (this “Agreement”) is  entered into by Edward Griese (the “Executive”),  on the one hand, and TriNet  Group, Inc.
(the “Company”), on the other hand (the Executive and the Company are referred to collectively as the “Parties”).

1. Release. In consideration of the compensation payable to the Executive under the terms and conditions of the Separation Agreement dated December 31,
2021, by and between the Executive and the Company (the “Separation Agreement”), and for other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby
acknowledged,  the  Executive,  for  himself  and for  his  heirs,  executors,  administrators,  trustees  and legal  representatives,  and their  respective  successors  and
assigns  (collectively,  the  “Releasors”),  hereby releases,  remises,  and acquits  the  Company and its  subsidiaries  and affiliates  and all  of  their  respective  past,
present and future parent entities, subsidiaries, divisions, affiliates and related business entities, any of their respective assets, employee benefit plans or funds,
or  past,  present  or  future  directors,  officers,  fiduciaries,  agents,  trustees,  administrators,  managers,  supervisors,  shareholders,  investors,  employees,  legal
representatives, agents or counsel, and their respective successors and assigns, whether acting on behalf of the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates or, in
their individual capacities (the “Released Party” or “Released Parties”), from any and all claims, known or unknown, which the Releasors have or may have
against any Released Parties arising on or prior to the date that the Executive executes this Release, and any and all liability which any such Released Party
may have to the Releasors, whether denominated claims, demands, causes of action, obligations, damages or liabilities arising from any and all bases, however
denominated, including but not limited to
(a) any claim under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (including the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act) (the “ADEA”), the Americans
with Disabilities Act of 1990, the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, Section 1981 of the Civil
Rights Act of 1866, the Equal Pay Act, the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, the Employee Retirement Income
Security  Act  of  1974,  (excluding claims for  accrued,  vested benefits  under  any employee benefit  or  pension plan of  the Company,  subject  to  the terms and
conditions of such plan and applicable law), the Uniform Trade Secrets Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the California Fair
Employment  and  Housing  Act,  the  Unruh  Civil  Rights  Act,  the  California  Family  Rights  Act,  and  the  California  Labor,  Government,  and  Business  and
Professions Codes, all as amended; (b) any and all claims arising from or relating to, as applicable, the Executive’s service as an officer of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or affiliates and the termination or resignation of such officer positions, or the Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination
of such employment; (c) all claims related to the Executive’s compensation or benefits from the Company or the Released Parties, including salary, bonuses,
commissions,  vacation pay,  leave pay,  expense reimbursements,  severance pay,  fringe benefits,  stock,  stock options,  or  any other  ownership interests  in  the
Company or the Released Parties; (d) all claims for breach of contract, wrongful termination and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing;
(e) all  tort claims, including claims for fraud, defamation,  privacy rights,  emotional distress,  and discharge in violation of public policy and all  other claims
under  common  law;  and  (f)  all  federal,  state  and  local  statutory  or  constitutional  claims,  including  claims  for  compensation,  discrimination,  harassment,
whistleblower protection, retaliation, attorneys’ fees, costs, disbursements, or other claims (referred to collectively as the “Released Claims”).

The Executive expressly waives all rights afforded by Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California, which states as follows: “A general release
does not extend to claims which the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release,
which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party.” The Executive understands the
significance of the Executive’s  release of  unknown claims and waiver of statutory protection against  a release of unknown claims.  The Executive expressly
assumes  the  risk  of  such  unknown  and  unanticipated  claims  and  agrees  that  this  Release  applies  to  all  Released  Claims,  whether  known,  unknown  or
unanticipated.

Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  this  Release  does  not  release  claims  that  cannot  be  released  as  a  matter  of  law,  including  any  right  to  file  a  civil  action  or
complaint with, or otherwise notify, a state agency, other public prosecutor, law enforcement agency, or any court or other governmental entity alleging claims
or a violation of rights under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”), as well as any right to file a charge with or participate in a charge by
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), the Department of Labor, or any other local,



state,  or  federal  administrative  body  or  government  agency  that  is  authorized  to  enforce  or  administer  laws  related  to  employment,  against  the  Company.
However, by executing this Release, the Executive hereby waives the right to monetary recovery from the Company, no matter how denominated, including,
but not limited to, wages, back pay, front pay, compensatory damages or punitive damages, in any proceeding the Executive may bring before the EEOC or any
state human rights commission or in any proceeding brought by the EEOC or any state human rights commission on the Executive’s behalf except to the extent
that any right to such recovery arises under the FEHA.

In addition, this Release shall not apply to (a) the Executive’s rights under any written agreement between the Executive and the Company that provides for
indemnification, the Executive’s rights, if any, to be covered under any applicable insurance policy with respect to any liability the Executive incurred or might
incur as an employee, officer or director of the Company, or the Executive’s rights, if any, to indemnification under the by-laws or articles of incorporation of
the Company; (b) any right the Executive may have to obtain contribution as permitted by law in the event of entry of judgment against the Executive as a
result of any act or failure to act for which the Executive, on the one hand, and Company or any other Released Party, on the other hand, are jointly liable; (c)
the Executive’s right to enforce the Transition Agreement or (d) the Executive’s rights, if any, under any equity awards of the Company.

Notwithstanding the  foregoing,  the  Executive  understands  the  significance  of  the  Executive’s  release  of  unknown claims and waiver  of  statutory  protection
against a release of unknown claims. The Executive expressly assumes the risk of such unknown and unanticipated claims and agrees that this Release applies
to all Released Claims, whether known, unknown or unanticipated, except as otherwise expressly set forth herein.

2. ADEA Waiver. The Executive acknowledges that he is knowingly and voluntarily waiving and releasing any rights the Executive may have under the
ADEA, as  amended.  The  Executive  also  acknowledges  that  the  consideration  given  for  the  waiver  and  release  herein  is  in  addition  to  anything  of  value  to
which the Executive was already entitled. The Executive further acknowledges that he has been advised by this writing, as required by the ADEA, that: (a) the
Executive’s  waiver  and  release  do  not  apply  to  any  rights  or  claims  that  may  arise  after  the  execution  date  of  this  Agreement;  (b)  the  Executive  has  been
advised hereby that he has the right to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Agreement; (c) the Executive has up to twenty-one (21) days from the
date of this Agreement to execute it (although he may choose to voluntarily execute this Agreement earlier); (d) the Executive has seven (7) days following the
execution of  this  Agreement  by the  parties  to  revoke the  Agreement;  and (e)  this  Agreement  will  not  be effective  until  the  date  upon which the  revocation
period  has  expired,  which  will  be  the  eighth  day  after  this  Agreement  is  executed  by  the  Executive,  provided  that  the  Company  has  also  executed  this
Agreement  by  that  date  (“Effective  Date”);  and  (f)  this  Agreement  does  not  affect  the  Executive’s  ability  to  test  the  knowing  and  voluntary  nature  of  this
Agreement.

3. No Actions  or  Claims. Subject  to  Section  7(a)  of  the  Separation  Agreement,  the  Executive  represents  that  he  has  not  filed  any  charges,  complaints,
grievances, arbitrations, lawsuits, or claims against the Company, with any local, state or federal agency, union or court from the beginning of time to the date
of execution of this Agreement and that the Executive will not do so at any time hereafter, based upon events occurring prior to the date of execution of this
Agreement. In the event any agency, union, or court ever assumes jurisdiction of any lawsuit, claim, charge, grievance, arbitration, or complaint, or purports to
bring  any  legal  proceeding  on  behalf  of  the  Executive,  the  Executive  will  ask  any  such  agency,  union,  or  court  to  withdraw from and/or  dismiss  any  such
action, grievance, or arbitration, with prejudice.

4. Acknowledgments and Representations. The Executive acknowledges and represents that he has not suffered any discrimination or harassment by any of
the Released Parties on account of the Executive’s race, gender, national origin, religion, marital or registered domestic partner status, sexual orientation, age,
disability, medical condition or any other characteristic protected by law. The Executive acknowledges and represents that he has not been denied any leave,
benefits or rights to which the Executive may have been entitled under the FMLA or any other federal or state law, and that the Executive has not suffered any
job-related wrongs or injuries for which the Executive might still be entitled to compensation or relief.

5. Reserved.

6. Miscellaneous.



a. Assigns. The terms of this Agreement are binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties named herein and their respective successors and permitted
assigns.

b. Governing Law. This Agreement is, and disputes arising under it are, governed by the laws of the State of California without regard to the principles of
conflicts of law that would apply the laws of another jurisdiction.

c. Severability.  Each  provision  in  this  Agreement  shall  be  interpreted  in  such  a  manner  as  to  be  effective  and  valid  under  applicable  law,  but  if  any
provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision is ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or
invalidity, without prohibiting or invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remainder of this Agreement.

d. Entire Agreement; Each Party the Drafter. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and complete understanding of the Parties with regard to the
matters set forth herein and, except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, understandings,
and discussions, whether written or oral, between the parties with regard to such matters. No other promises or agreements are binding unless in writing
and signed by each of the parties after the date hereof. Should any provision of this Agreement require interpretation or construction, the entity interpreting
or construing this Agreement should not apply a presumption against one party by reason of the rule of construction that a document is to be construed
more strictly against the party who prepared the document.

e. Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original. Any executed counterpart returned by
facsimile or electronic transmission shall be deemed an original executed counterpart.

7. Notices; Payments. All notices or communications hereunder shall be in writing, and shall be addressed as follows (or to such other address as either
Party may have furnished to the other in writing by like notice): (a) To the Company: TriNet Group, Inc., One Park Place, Dublin, CA 94577, Attn: Chief Legal
Officer, (b) To the Executive at the Executive’s home address in the Company’s records. All such notices or communications shall be conclusively deemed to
be delivered (i) if sent by hand delivery or by email (to the Company as set forth above), upon receipt,
(ii) if sent by overnight courier, one business day after being sent by overnight courier, or (iii) if sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return
receipt requested, on the fifth day after the day on which such notice or correspondence is mailed.

8. Dispute  Resolution.  To  provide  a  mechanism  for  rapid  and  economical  dispute  resolution,  the  Executive  and  the  Company  agree  that  any  and  all
disputes,  claims,  or  causes  of  action,  in  law  or  equity,  arising  from  or  relating  to  this  Agreement  (including  the  Release)  or  its  enforcement,  performance,
breach, or interpretation, or arising from or relating to the Executive’s employment with the Company or the termination of the Executive’s employment with
the Company, will be resolved, to the fullest extent permitted by law, by final, binding, and confidential arbitration held in San Francisco County, California
and  conducted  by  JAMS,  Inc.  (“JAMS”),  under  its  then  applicable  JAMS  Employment  Arbitration  Rules  and  Procedures.  By  agreeing  to  this  arbitration
procedure, both the Executive and the Company waive the right to resolve any such dispute through a trial by jury or judge or by administrative proceeding.
The Executive will have the right to be represented by legal counsel at any arbitration proceeding at his expense. The arbitrator will: (a) have the authority to
compel  adequate  discovery  for  the  resolution  of  the  dispute  and  to  award  such  relief  as  would  otherwise  be  available  under  applicable  law  in  a  court
proceeding; and (b) issue a written statement signed by the arbitrator regarding the disposition of each claim and the relief, if any, awarded as to each claim, the
reasons for the award, and the arbitrator’s essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based. The Company will bear all fees for the arbitration,
except  for  any  attorneys’  fees  or  costs  associated  with  the  Executive’s  personal  representation.  The  arbitrator,  and  not  a  court,  will  also  be  authorized  to
determine  whether  the  provisions  of  this  paragraph  apply  to  a  dispute,  controversy  or  claim  sought  to  be  resolved  in  accordance  with  these  arbitration
procedures. Notwithstanding the provisions of this paragraph, the parties are not prohibited from seeking injunctive relief in a court of appropriate jurisdiction
to  prevent  irreparable  harm  on  any  basis,  pending  the  outcome  of  arbitration.  Any  awards  or  orders  in  such  arbitrations  may  be  entered  and  enforced  as
judgments in the federal and the state courts of any competent jurisdiction.

The parties agree that the arbitration shall be kept confidential. The existence of the arbitration, any non-public information provided in the arbitration, and any
submissions, orders or awards made in the arbitration (together, the



“Confidential  Arbitration  Information”)  shall  not  be  disclosed  to  any  non-party  except  the  tribunal,  JAMS,  the  parties,  their  counsel,  experts,  witnesses,
accountants and auditors, insurers and reinsurers, and any other person necessary to the conduct of the arbitration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a party may
disclose Confidential Arbitration Information to the extent that disclosure may be required to fulfill a legal duty, protect or pursue a legal right, or enforce or
challenge an award in bona fide legal proceedings. This confidentiality provision survives termination of the contract and of any arbitration brought pursuant to
the contract.

[Signature Page Follows]



TRINET GROUP, INC.

_________________________________ Date: 12/31/2021
By Its: President and Chief Executive Officer, Burton Goldfield

EXECUTIVE EXECUTIVE

________________________________ Date: 12/31/2021
Edward Griese
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CONSULTING AGREEMENT

TriNet USA, Inc. (“Company”), on the one hand, and ER Griese Consulting, LLC, and Edward Griese (“Principal”) (hereinafter
collectively  referred  to  as  “Consultant”)  hereby  enter  into  this  Consulting  Agreement  (“Agreement”),  under  which  Consultant
shall render consulting services pursuant to the following terms and conditions:

1. Services.

A. Consultant  is  in  the  business  of  providing  business  consulting  services  to  Professional  Employer  Organizations
(“PEOs”) and has significant experience and skill in this area. Therefore, Company desires to engage Consultant
to provide the services described in the Statement of Work, attached hereto as Exhibit “B,” and incorporated by
this reference (“Services”).

B. Notwithstanding any other provision of  this  Agreement,  Consultant  shall  designate and assign its  employee and
Principal,  Edward  Griese,  to  personally  provide  the  Services  contemplated  under  this  Agreement,  and  Principal
Edward  Griese  shall  execute  Exhibit  “A,”  hereto,  which  is  incorporated  by  this  reference.  No  other  person  or
entity  shall  be  authorized  to  provide  Services  under  this  Agreement  without  the  express  written  consent  of
Company.  Except  as  provided  above,  Consultant,  in  Consultant’s  sole  discretion,  shall  determine  the  method,
detail and means of performing the Services and Company shall not control the manner or determine the method
of the accomplishment of Consultant’s Services.

C. If  applicable,  Consultant  shall  be  solely  responsible  to  have  and  maintain  valid  and  current  business  and
professional licenses, registrations and certifications as may be required to provide Services during the term of this
Agreement. Additionally, Consultant shall be solely responsible to maintain professional memberships in industry
organizations to the extent Consultant wishes to do so, and Company shall not be responsible to reimburse or pay
for any such memberships for or on behalf of Consultant.

D. Consultant  shall  supply  all  tools  and  equipment  necessary  to  provide  Services  and  other  duties  and  obligations
under this Agreement.

E. Consultant hereby represents and warrants that Consultant shall provide coverage under the applicable Workers’
Compensation Act for the workers or employees hired by Consultant to provide Services under this Agreement,
for  any  bodily  injuries  sustained  by  Consultant’s  workers  or  employees  during  the  course  and  scope  of
Consultant’s  performing Services  for  Company as  required  by  law.  Consultant  agrees  in  the  event  Consultant’s
workers or employees sustain any such injury, their sole and exclusive remedy will be against Consultant and will
be under applicable workers’ compensation laws.

F. Consultant agrees to fulfill Consultant’s duties and obligations under this Agreement in a lawful manner, and with
care and diligence in the best interests of the Company. Consultant also agrees to devote sufficient time and effort
toward accomplishment of the objectives specified and by the due dates established by Company.



G. During  and  after  the  term  of  this  Agreement,  Consultant  shall  not  disparage  Company,  its  officers,  directors,
employees, shareholders and agents, in any manner likely to be harmful to Company or to Company’s business or
business reputation; provided that Consultant may respond accurately and fully to any question, inquiry or request
for information when required by legal process or in response to any governmental inquiry.

H. From time to time, Consultant may provide Services at Company-provided facilities. However, Consultant is not
authorized to provide Services at, or otherwise go to, any Company location, except as specifically authorized by
the  Company’s  Chief  Legal  Officer  or  their  designee.  To  the  extent  Consultant  does  provide  Services  at  a
Company location, Consultant shall comply with Company security procedures and policies governing conduct at
that location.

I. Consultant shall ensure that Services provided to Company under this Agreement are provided on a part-time basis
(anticipated to be approximately 15-20 hours per week), as required to accomplish the Services. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Consultant may provide services for other clients during the term of this Agreement at times other
than the times committed to Company. Consultant may not incur any obligations or commitments, which would
limit or prevent Consultant’s rendering Services according to the terms of this Agreement, or which would result
in  a  breach  of  this  Agreement.  Additionally,  Consultant  shall  ensure  and  guarantee  that  any  person  assigned  to
provide Services under this Agreement is not an employee of any person or entity other than Consultant.

2. Duration of Agreement.

 This  Agreement  shall  have  an  initial  term of  January  1,  2022 through March  31,  2022 (“Initial  Term”).  The  Agreement  shall
renew  automatically  for  a  single  additional  term  of  April  1,  2022  through  June  30,  2022  (“Renewal  Term”),  except  not  if  the
Company or the Executive gives the other party written notice of non-renewal at least 10 calendar days prior to expiration of the
Initial Term. The Initial Term and the Renewal Term (together, the “Term”) shall be subject to Section 5 herein.

3. Consulting Fee and Expenses.

Company will pay Consultant a fee of $83,000 per month, which fee will be paid to ER Griese Consulting, LLC in arrears on or
about the 15th of February, March and April 2022 with respect to services provided in the Initial Term and, if applicable, on or
about  the  15  of  May,  June  and  July  2022  with  respect  to  services  provided  in  the  Renewal  Term.  Consultant  shall  invoice
Company on a monthly basis for any reasonable expenses incurred by Consultant in the course of providing Services under this
Agreement, provided that such expenses are approved by the Company’s Chief Legal Officer, in writing, prior to being incurred.
Any  approved  expense  reimbursements  will  be  paid  within  thirty  (30)  days  after  Company’s  receipt  of  the  applicable  invoice.
Invoices shall  be addressed to Samantha Wellington, Esq.,  Chief Legal Officer,  TriNet Group, Inc.,  One Park Place,  Suite 600,
Dublin, CA 94568.

4. Payment of Taxes and Withholdings.

Consultant is solely responsible for all taxes and withholdings, including but not limited to, all payroll, federal income taxes, state
income taxes, state disability insurance and unemployment
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insurance  compensation  contributions  and  other  similar  statutory  obligations  with  respect  to  Services  performed  under  this
Agreement. No part of Consultant’s compensation will be subject to withholding by Company for payment of any social security,
federal, state or any other employee payroll taxes. Consultant will provide an accurately completed form W-9, and Company will
timely provide an Internal Revenue Service Form 1099 to Consultant and will file Form 1099 with the Internal Revenue Service as
required by law.

Consultant  expressly acknowledges that  in the event  the Agreement  terminates prior  to the end of  the Term, as provided for  in
Paragraph  5,  Consultant  is  not  eligible  to  file  for  or  receive  unemployment  compensation,  or  any  other  benefit  that  Consultant
would receive if Consultant were an employee of Company, as Consultant is an independent contractor.

5. Early Termination.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall terminate prior to the end of the Term under any of
the following circumstances, after which no further payments shall be made to Consultant:

A. Death. In the event Consultant dies, this Agreement shall terminate immediately.

B. Disability.  If  Consultant,  due  to  physical  or  mental  illness,  becomes  disabled  so  as  to  be  unable  to  provide  the
Services  called  for  under  this  Agreement,  either  Company  or  Consultant  may  by  written  notice  terminate  the
consulting relationship as of the last day of the calendar month during which such notice is given.

C. Termination for Cause by Company. Company may terminate this Agreement at any time for cause by providing
written notice to Consultant and giving the Consultant seven (7) days to cure any alleged act or omission that is
curable and that the Company contends would provide the basis for a “cause” termination, as defined below. FOR
CLARITY,  AND  WITHOUT  LIMITING  THOSE  ACTS  THAT  CONSTITUTE  INCURABLE  BREACH,  a
breach of paragraphs 6, 7, or 8 are not curable breaches, and the Company may terminate this Agreement effective
immediately.  The  following  acts  or  omissions  by  Consultant  shall  constitute  “cause”:  (i)  the  Company’s
determination that Consultant conducted itself in an unlawful or dishonest manner in  its performance of services
under this Agreement, as reasonably documented and proven by the Company; ii) conduct of Consultant involving
moral  turpitude,  which  could  impair  the  reputation  of  Consultant  or  Company;  (iii)  unreasonable  refusal  by
Consultant  to  perform  the  agreed-upon  duties  and  responsibilities  assigned  to  Consultant  pursuant  to  this
Agreement; or
(iv) breach by Consultant of any of the material provisions of this Agreement.

6. Non-Competition.

Consultant acknowledges and agrees that during the Term of this Agreement, Company has the first right to Consultant’s time and
efforts.  Consultant  shall  not  engage in  any employment,  consulting or  business  activity,  other  than for  Company,  which would
conflict  with its  obligations to Company under this  Agreement.  Consultant  may provide consulting services to other  businesses
during the Term, to the extent such consulting services do not make the use of or rely on confidential information of the Company
or work product produced for the Company under this Agreement, or information discovered in the course of providing Services
under this Agreement,
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or any combination thereof, and to the extent such services do not prohibit Consultant from providing the Services required by
this Agreement.

7. Confidential Information or Materials.

A. Nondisclosure.  Under  this  Agreement,  the  term “Confidential  Information  or  Materials”  consists  of  all  business
information (1) that is not generally known to, and cannot be readily ascertained by others, (2) that has actual or
potential  economic  value  to  Company  and  (3)  that  is  treated  as  confidential  by  Company.  Such  information
includes,  but  is  not  limited  to,  all  customer  information,  inventions,  discoveries,  processes,  records,  computer
systems  and  data,  agreements,  business  and  financial  systems,  plans  and  policies,  prospects  and  opportunities
discussed or considered by Company or its clients or regarding administrative, management, contracting, financial
marketing or  other  activities  of  Company,  which Company treats  as  confidential.  Consultant  acknowledges  that
during  this  consulting  engagement,  Consultant  may  gain  knowledge  of  proprietary  Confidential  Information  or
Materials. Consultant recognizes that Company has a compelling need to maintain the confidentiality of not only
its  own  Confidential  Information  and  Materials  but  also  that  of  Company’s  customers  or  clients.  Accordingly,
Consultant,  on  behalf  of  itself  and  its  officers,  directors,  employees,  agents  and  all  persons  associated  with  or
acting on behalf of or at the direction of Consultant, agree that:

Consultant  will  not,  during the  term of  this  Agreement  or  thereafter,  directly  or  indirectly  disclose  to  any other
person  or  entity,  or  use  for  Consultant’s  own  benefit  or  for  the  benefit  of  others  besides  Company,  any
Confidential Information or Materials without first obtaining the written consent of Company. Consultant shall at
all times keep confidential all Confidential Information or Materials of Company and of any customers or clients
of Company. This provision shall supplement and not replace any prior agreement on this subject that consultant
has signed.

B. Return of Confidential Information. Upon termination of this Agreement, Consultant agrees to promptly return all
Company property in Consultant’s possession, including without limitation a Company-provided laptop computer,
and  all  confidential  and  proprietary  information  of  Company,  its  clients  or  its  customers,  and  any  other
information pertaining to Company’s business,  and not  to keep any photocopies and/or  electronic copies of  this
information.

C. Declaration  by  Consultant’s  Employees  and  Agents.  Consultant  agrees  to  have  all  persons  with  access  to  any
Confidential  Information or  Materials  of  Company or  any confidential  materials  of  Company’s  clients  read and
sign  a  declaration  that  they  understand  the  trade  secret  and/or  copyrighted  nature  of  such  information  and
materials and that they understand the criminal and civil penalties to which they will be subject if they violate or
compromise said copyrights and trade secrets.

D. Agreement  to  Notify  About  a  Request  for  Information.  Consultant  further  agrees  that  if  any  person  or  entity
requests,  subpoenas  or  otherwise  attempts  to  obtain  Confidential  Information  or  Materials  within  Consultant’s
custody or control,  or within the custody or control of anyone operating on Consultant’s behalf,  Consultant will
notify Company immediately and will cooperate fully in any legal action by Company seeking protection against
disclosure.
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E. Unauthorized Use. Consultant agrees to notify Company immediately if Consultant obtains information as to any
unauthorized  possession,  use  or  disclosure  of  any  Confidential  Information  or  Materials  of  Company  or  any
confidential  materials  of  Company’s  clients  by  any  person  or  entity,  and  further  agrees  to  cooperate  fully  with
Company in protecting Company’s proprietary rights.

8. Non-Solicitation.

A. No Solicitation During Term of Agreement. Consultant agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Consultant
will not directly, either for itself or any other person or entity, induce or influence any person who is engaged as
an  employee,  agent,  independent  Consultant  or  otherwise  by  Company  to  terminate  his  or  her  employment  or
engagement  with  Company.  Consultant  further  agrees  that  while  employed  by  Company  Consultant  will  not
approach or solicit in any manner, either for Consultant, or any other person or entity, any customer of Company
to cease doing business with Company or to do business with Consultant or with any other person or entity.

B. No Solicitation  After  Termination  of  Agreement.  Consultant  agrees  that  for  a  period  of  one  year  following  the
termination of  this  Agreement,  regardless  of  reason,  Consultant  will  not  directly or  indirectly solicit  any person
employed or otherwise engaged by Company to terminate his or her employment or engagement with Company.
Consultant further agrees that for a reasonable period of time after termination of the Agreement with Company,
which Consultant agrees is a period of one year, Consultant will not directly or indirectly solicit any customer of
Company  to  the  extent  the  identity  of  the  customer  is  proprietary  or  confidential  information  as  described  in
section 7(a) of this Agreement.

9. Remedies.

Consultant understands and acknowledges that Company’s remedies at law for any material breach of Sections 6, 7 or 8 of this
Agreement  by  Consultant  or  anyone  operating  on  Consultant’s  behalf  are  inadequate  and  that  any  such  breach  will  cause
irreparable  harm  to  Company.  Consultant  therefore  agrees  that,  in  addition  to  any  other  rights  and  remedies  as  may  exist  in
Company’s  favor,  Company  may  apply  to  any  court  having  jurisdiction  to  enforce  the  specific  performance  of  the  provisions
thereof, and shall be entitled to injunctive relief against any act which would violate those provisions. Consultant further agrees
that he shall not, in any equity proceeding involving him, relating to the enforcement of Sections 6, 7 or 8 above, raise the defense
that  Company  has  an  adequate  remedy  at  law.  It  is  further  agreed  that,  in  the  event  of  a  breach  of  Sections  6,  7  or  8  of  this
Agreement by Consultant or anyone acting on its behalf or at its direction, Company shall be entitled to any and all consequential
damages  arising  from  said  breach,  including,  but  not  limited  to,  lost  profits.  It  is  further  agreed  that,  notwithstanding  the
consequential damages suffered by Company, Company shall be entitled to the return of any monies paid to Consultant hereunder,
as liquidated damages, for each instance of a breach or violation of Sections 6, 7 or 8 of this Agreement. It is also expressly agreed
that,  in the event of such a breach, Company shall also be entitled to recover all  of its costs and expenses (including attorneys’
fees) incurred by Company in enforcing its rights hereunder.
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10. Independent Contractor Status.

A. For  all  purposes,  Consultant  shall  be  deemed  to  be  an  independent  contractor,  and  not  an  employee,  agent  or
partner  of,  or  joint  venturer  with,  Company.  Any  associate,  assistant  or  other  person  Consultant  retains  in
connection with the provision of  the Services covered by this  Agreement  shall  be at  Consultant’s  own cost  and
expense and will not, in any event, be or be deemed to be an agent or employee of Company. Accordingly, neither
Consultant,  nor any employee or other worker of Consultant,  shall  be entitled to any rights or benefits to which
any employee of Company or any of its affiliates may be entitled. Company shall not withhold any amounts on
account of any withholding or employment taxes from any payments to Consultant under this Agreement, and he
shall be the sole responsibility of Consultant to report and pay all applicable income taxes on all such payments.
Consultant will obtain its own liability and Workers Compensation coverages, consistent with generally accepted
business practices and as required under applicable law.

B. The method and means employed by Consultant for performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement
shall  be  and  are  solely  at  the  discretion  and  expense  of  Consultant  and  under  Consultant’s  exclusive  control.
Consultant shall be the sole judge as to the method and manner in which Consultant provides Services under this
Agreement.  Consultant  shall  be  responsible  for  all  risks  incurred  in  connection  with  Consultant’s  provision  of
Services under this Agreement. Any persons employed by or contracting with Consultant to provide any part of
Consultant’s  obligations  hereunder  shall  be  under  the  sole  control  and  direction  of  Consultant,  and  Consultant
shall be solely responsible for all liabilities and expenses thereof. Company shall have no right or authority with
respect to the selection, control, direction, compensation or length of employment of such person(s).

11. No Authority to Bind Company.

Consultant shall not have any authority to commit or bind Company to any contractual or financial obligations without Company’s
prior written consent.

12. No Authority to Represent Company.

Consultant shall not have any authority to represent Company in any meeting, professional organization, or other industry-related
event without the Company’s prior written consent.

13. Representations and Warranties.

Consultant represents and warrants as follows:

A. The execution of this Agreement represents Consultant’s free and voluntary act;

B. All works prepared and submitted by Consultant under this Agreement will be original and will not infringe any
copyright or infringe or violate any other proprietary or other rights of any other person or entity;
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C. Consultant has not previously assigned, transferred or otherwise encumbered any rights granted to Company under
this Agreement;

D. Consultant has in place its own liability and workers’ compensation insurance coverage;

E. Consultant has a separate Business License and Tax Identification Number. Consultant further agrees to provide
the Company with a copy of Consultant’s separate Business License within ten (10) business days of executing
this Agreement.

F. Consultant will not disclose to Company, or induce Company to use or disclose any confidential information or
material belonging to others, except with the written permission of the owner of such information or material; and

G. Neither Consultant nor any of its employees, agents or representatives are subject to any Agreement, including but
not limited to a non-competition or non-disclosure Agreement, which would affect its ability to enter into and/or
perform its obligations under this Agreement.

Company may rely conclusively on the truth of the warranties and representations set forth above in dealing with any third parties
in connection with the disposition or licensing of any rights granted under this Agreement. Each of the foregoing warranties and
representations shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. Indemnification.

A. Consultant agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Company, and any parent, subsidiary or affiliate thereof, and all
directors,  officers,  attorneys  and  employees  of  Company  (“Indemnified  Parties”)  harmless  for  any  claims,
demands,  actions  or  causes  of  action,  assessments,  losses,  judgments,  arbitration  awards,  liabilities  or  damages,
costs  and  expenses,  including  but  not  limited  to,  interest,  penalties  and  attorneys’  fees,  caused  by  Consultant’s
gross negligence or willful misconduct under this Agreement, or any personal injuries or damages suffered by any
employee,  worker  or  sub-Consultant  of  Consultant,  or  any  third  party  related  to  Consultant’s  actions  under  this
Agreement.

B. Consultant shall indemnify and hold harmless Indemnified Parties from any claim, suit, damage, loss or expense
(including attorneys’ fees) arising out of any breach or any allegation which, if true, would constitute a breach of
any of the foregoing warranties and representations.

C. Company agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Consultant, and all directors, officers, attorneys and employees of
Consultant (“Consultant Indemnified Parties”) harmless for any claims, demands, actions or causes of action,
assessments, losses, judgments, arbitration awards, liabilities or damages, costs and expenses, including but not
limited to, interest, penalties and attorneys’ fees,
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caused by Company’s gross negligence and willful misconduct under this Agreement.

15. Assignment.

Consultant may not assign this Agreement, or any interest herein, without the prior written consent of Company.

16. Successors and Assigns.

This  Agreement  shall  be  binding  upon  Consultant’s  heirs,  successors,  assigns  and  personal  representatives,  and  each  of  their
respective officers, directors, employees, agents and other associated with or acting on behalf of said persons. Any references to
Consultant  shall  include  its  heirs,  successors,  assigns,  personal  representatives  and  each  of  their  respective  officers,  directors,
employees, agents and others associated with or acting on behalf of said persons.

17. Governing Law.

All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of
law rules or provisions (whether of this state or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any other
jurisdiction.

18. Third Party Beneficiaries.

The Parties acknowledge and agree that no parties other than the Parties hereto are intended to benefit hereunder. No rights of any
third  party  are  created  by  this  Agreement  and  no  person  other  than  Parties  to  this  Agreement  may  rely  on  any  aspect  of  this
Agreement notwithstanding any representation, written or oral, to the contrary.

19. Disclosure of Conflicts.

Consultant agrees to fully disclose any activities to Company that may offer any potential conflict of interest issues with Company
or any of its existing, former or prospective clients.

20. Force Majeure.

Neither  party  shall  be  liable  for  any  delay  in  delivery  or  nonperformance  in  whole  or  in  part  of  its  obligations  under  this
Agreement if prevented from doing so by a cause or causes beyond its control, including, without limitation, acts of God or public
enemy, fire, floods, swarms, earthquakes, riots, strikes, war and restraints of government. The suspension of performance shall be
of no greater scope and no longer duration than is reasonably required and the non-performing party shall use reasonable efforts to
remedy its inability to perform.

21. NEITHER  CONSULTANT  NOR  COMPANY  WILL  BE  RESPONSIBLE  FOR  SPECIAL,  INDIRECT,
INCIDENTAL,  CONSEQUENTIAL  OR  OTHER  SIMILAR  DAMAGES  (INCLUDING  WITHOUT  LIMITATION,  LOST
PROFITS OR BUSINESS INTERRUPTION DAMAGES) HOWEVER CAUSED OR UNDER ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY
EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.
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22. Interpretation.

Company  has  prepared  this  Agreement  and  provided  it  to  Consultant  for  Consultant’s  review.  Consultant  has  either  retained
counsel  or  had the  opportunity  to  do  so  to  review this  Agreement.  With  respect  to  any dispute  concerning  the  meaning of  this
Agreement, this Agreement will be interpreted as a whole with reference to its relevant provisions and in accordance with its fair
meaning, and no part of this Agreement will be construed against Company on the basis that Company drafted it. This Agreement
will be viewed as if prepared jointly by Company and Consultant.

23. False or Omitted Information.

Any false statement or omission with regard to any information supplied by Consultant to Company in anticipation of Consultant's
contracting with Company or at any other time will be deemed a material breach of this Agreement and Company, at its option,
may  terminate  this  Agreement  and  seek  appropriate  relief.  Likewise,  any  false  statement  or  omission  with  regard  to  any
information  supplied  by Company  to  Consultant  in  anticipation  of  Company's  contracting  with  Consultant  or  at  any  other  time
shall  be  deemed  a  material  breach  of  this  Agreement  and  Consultant,  at  its  option,  may  terminate  this  Agreement  and  seek
appropriate relief.

24. Tolling and Suspension.

In  the  event  of  a  breach  by  Consultant  of  any  restrictive  covenant  contained  in  this  Agreement,  the  running  of  the  period  of
restriction  shall  automatically  be  tolled  and  suspended  for  the  amount  of  time  the  breach  continues,  and  shall  automatically
commence when the breach is remedied so that the Company shall receive the benefit of Consultant’s compliance with the terms
and conditions of this Agreement.

25. Terms Surviving Termination of Agreement.

Termination of this agreement will  not affect the continuation of any outstanding obligation or liability incurred by either party
during  the  term  of  this  Agreement.  Such  obligations  include,  but  are  not  limited  to,  the  obligation  of  either  party  to  notify,
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other under the terms of this Agreement will continue after the termination hereof with
respect  to  events  occurring  prior  to  such  termination.  Similarly,  the  obligations  described  in  Paragraphs  6-8  shall  survive
termination of this Agreement.

26. Notices.

Any notice given hereunder to the Company or to the Consultant shall be deemed sufficiently given if addressed as follows and (1)
mailed  registered  or  certified  mail,  return  receipt  requested,  postage  prepaid;  or  (2)  sent  by  overnight  delivery  service  such  as
Federal Express or United Parcel Service; or, if notice of change of address is given as provided above, at such other address as
may be designated by such party.

If to the Company: Samantha Wellington, Esq., Chief Legal Officer, TriNet Group, Inc., One Park Place, Suite 600
Dublin, CA 94568

If to Consultant:     

Page 9 of 13



ER Griese Consulting, LLC 7039 Twin Hills Terrace, Lakewood Ranch, FL 34202

27. Entire Agreement.

This  Agreement  contains  the  entire  understanding  of  the  Parties  hereto  with  respect  to  Consultant’s  advisory  and  consulting
relationship with Company. This Agreement supersedes any prior Agreements or arrangements, relative to Consultant’s advisory
and consulting relationship with Company. No modifications of any provisions of this Agreement shall be made unless made in
writing and signed by the Parties hereto.

28. Waivers.

No provision in  this  Agreement  may be waived unless  such waiver  is  agreed to  in  writing signed by Consultant  and by a  duly
authorized officer of Company. No waiver by either party hereto of any breach by the other party of any condition or provision of
this Agreement to be performed by such other party shall be deemed a waiver of a similar or dissimilar condition or provision at
the same or any prior or subsequent time.

29. Acknowledgment.

The Parties acknowledge that they have had the opportunity to consult with independent counsel of their own choice concerning
this  Agreement  and  they  have  done  so  to  the  extent  they  deem  necessary,  and  that  they  have  each  read  and  understand  this
Agreement, are fully aware of its legal effect, and have entered into it voluntarily and freely based on their own judgment and not
on  any  promises  or  representations  other  than  those  contained  in  this  Agreement.  The  Parties  understand  that  their  execution
below  is  a  representation  to  one  another  of  their  respective  beliefs  that  the  mutual  assent  to  Consultant  being  classified  as  an
independent Consultant and their respective beliefs that Consultant is properly designated as an independent Consultant.

30. Agreement Enforceable to Full Extent Possible.

If  any  one  or  more  of  the  provisions  of  this  Agreement  shall  for  any  reason  be  ruled  excessively  broad  as  to  time,  duration,
geographical  scope,  activity  or  subject,  it  shall  be  construed  by  limiting  and  reducing  it  so  as  to  be  enforceable  to  the  extent
compatible with applicable law.

31. Enforcement Costs.

In the event of any proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to an award of its
costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred at all levels of proceedings.

* * *

[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally.]
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The Parties, by their signatures below, affirm that each has reviewed the terms of this Agreement and agrees to each of the terms
and conditions set forth above.

For: ER Griese Consulting, LLC

Dated: 12/31    , 2021 By:     

Edward Griese, Principal

For: TriNet USA, Inc.

By:     Kelly Tuminelli, Chief Financial Officer

For: Edward Griese, in his individual capacity

By:     

Dated: 12/31    , 2021

Dated: 12/31    , 2021
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Exhibit “A”
Addendum to Consulting Agreement

(Personal Guarantee)

This  Addendum  amends  the  Consulting  (the  “Agreement”)  between  TriNet  Group,  Inc.  (“Company”)  and  ER  Griese
Consulting, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Consultant”). In the event of a conflict between this Addendum and the Agreement,
this Addendum shall control. In all other respects, the Agreement remains in effect as written.

In  consideration  of  the  acceptance  by  Company  of  the  Agreement,  the  undersigned  Guarantor  (“Guarantor”)  hereby
executes and delivers this Guarantee (“Guarantee”) and hereby guarantees Consultant’s full, prompt and faithful performance and
discharge  of  all  terms,  warranties,  conditions  and  provisions  of  the  Agreement  and  modifications,  amendments  or  supplements
thereof or thereto. Guarantor acknowledges that Guarantor has received benefit by Company’s having entered into the Agreement
with Consultant.

Without regard to any conflict of law provisions, this Guarantee shall be subject to the laws of the State of Delaware and
venue shall be of courts located in Delaware or in the U.S. District Courts located in Delaware, and Guarantor agrees to waive any
argument  of  lack  of  personal  jurisdiction  or  forum  non-conveniens with  respect  to  any  claim  or  controversy  arising  out  of  or
relating to this Agreement. Guarantor hereby consents to service of process at Guarantor’s address set forth below:

Executed this    day of    , 20    , at the City of
    , State of     

Signed by Edward Griese:

ER Griese Consulting, LLC 7039 Twin Hills Terrace, Lakewood Ranch, FL 34202
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Exhibit “B” Statement of Work
During  the  Term,  Consultant  shall  report  to  Company’s  Senior  Vice  President,  Chief  Legal  Officer  and  Secretary  (“CLO”),  or
another  employee  designated  by  the  CLO,  including  without  limitation  the  Chief  Financial  Officer  (“CFO”),  or  any  successor
thereto. Consultant shall provide the Services listed below, using its expertise and resources, and such Services shall be provided
principally at Consultant’s principal place of business.

During the Term, Consultant  shall  provide part-time Services,  and Consultant  shall  have no authority to provide Services other
than  as  instructed  by  the  CLO,  CFO  or  the  CLO  or  CFO’s  designee.  Additionally,  Consultant  shall  not  have  any  business
interaction with any employee, independent contractor, worker or other person affiliated with Company or on behalf of Company,
except as specifically directed or authorized by the CLO or CFO.

Services

A. Engagement with the CLO, CFO and other members of Company’s executive team as may be appropriate and
directed by the CLO or CFO, including but not limited to attending meetings and providing introductions to
insurance carriers, brokers and vendors to the CFO and her assigns; assisting the CFO in health and welfare
strategy development and assessment of feasibility of aspects of key strategic priorities; and making
recommendations around organizational structure and operations to support pricing and analytics

B. Other work as may be directed by the CLO
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RESTRICTIVE COVENANT AGREEMENT

As a material condition to the grant of the Award provided for under the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted
Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Award Agreement”) by and between the grant recipient (“Employee”) and TriNet Group, Inc.
(collectively  with  its  Subsidiaries  and  Affiliates,  “TriNet”),  Employee  enters  into  and  agrees  to  be  bound  by  this  Restrictive
Covenant Agreement (the “Agreement”), made by and between Employee and TriNet effective as of the date Employee accepts
the Award. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall  have the meanings ascribed to them in the Restricted
Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement or the TriNet Group, Inc. 2019 Equity Incentive Plan.

SECTION 1. Confidential Information.
1.1 Non-Disclosure. Employee agrees that during and after employment with TriNet,  Employee will  not (i) directly or

indirectly disclose to any person or entity, or use, except for the sole benefit of TriNet, any of TriNet’s confidential or proprietary
information or trade secrets (collectively, “Company Information”) or (ii) publish or submit for publication, any article or book
relating  to  TriNet,  its  development  projects,  or  other  aspects  of  TriNet  business.  By  way  of  illustration  and  not  limitation,
Company Information shall include TriNet’s trade secrets; research and development plans or projects; data and reports; computer
materials  such  as  software  programs,  instructions,  source  and  object  code,  and  printouts;  products  prospective  products,
inventions,  developments,  and  discoveries;  data  compilations,  development  databases;  business  improvements;  business  plans
(whether pursued or not);  ideas;  budgets;  unpublished financial  statements;  licenses;  pricing strategy and cost  data;  information
regarding the skills and compensation of any employees, non-employee directors or consultants of TriNet (other than Employee);
the  personally  identifying  and  protected  health  information  of  any  employee,  non-  employee  director  or  consultant  of  TriNet
(other  than  Employee),  including  worksite  employees  of  TriNet  customers;  lists  of  current  and  potential  customers  of  TriNet;
information about customers’ purchasing history, pricing, preferences and profitability; strategies, forecasts and other marketing
information  and techniques;  employment  and recruiting  strategies  and processes;  sales  practices,  strategies,  methods,  forecasts,
compensation  plans,  and  other  sales  information;  investor  information;  and  the  identities  of  TriNet’s  suppliers,  vendors,  and
contractors,  and all  information about those supplier,  vendor and contractor  relationships such as contact  person(s),  pricing and
other terms. The definition of Company Information shall include both “know-how” (i.e., information about what works well) and
“negative  know-how”  (i.e.,  information  about  what  does  not  work  well).  Employee  further  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  all
Company Information is confidential and proprietary and shall remain the exclusive property of TriNet.

1.1.1 Wisconsin. If  Employee  last  worked  for  TriNet  in  Wisconsin,  the  restrictions  set  forth  in  Section  1.1  shall  apply
during  Employee’s  employment  with  TriNet  and  for  eighteen  (18)  months  after  Employee’s  employment  with
TriNet ends.

1.2 Improper  Use  of  Trade  Secret  Information. In  furtherance  of  Employee’s  promises  in  this  Section  1,  Employee
agrees  that  during  Employee’s  employment  and  for  a  period  of  one  year  following  termination  of  employment  with  TriNet,
Employee will not, for Employee’s own benefit or for the benefit of a competitor of TriNet, use TriNet’s trade secrets, or use



Employee’s knowledge of TriNet’s trade secret customer information, directly or indirectly, to (i) identify TriNet customers for
solicitation; (ii) facilitate the solicitation of TriNet’s customers; or
(iii) otherwise compete unfairly with TriNet.

SECTION 2. Permitted Disclosures. Nothing in this Agreement limits Employee’s ability to communicate directly with
and provide information, including documents, not otherwise protected from disclosure by any applicable law or privilege, to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or commission or self-
regulatory  organization  regarding  possible  legal  violations,  without  disclosure  to  TriNet.  TriNet  may  not  retaliate  against
Employee  for  any  of  these  activities,  and  nothing  in  the  Agreement  requires  Employee  to  waive  any  monetary  award  or  other
payment  to  which  Employee  might  become  entitled  from  the  SEC  or  any  other  government  agency  or  self-  regulatory
organization as a result  of such communication.  Employee understands that  these restrictions on disclosure or use of Company
Information shall not limit in any way any right Employee may have to disclose or use information, including but not limited to
information about unlawful acts in the workplace such as sexual harassment, pursuant to the National Labor Relations Act or any
other  applicable  federal,  state,  or  local  law,  including  the  right  to  communicate  with  co-workers  for  the  purpose  of  improving
terms  and  conditions  of  employment.  Moreover,  nothing  in  this  Agreement  prohibits  Employee  from  notifying  TriNet  that
Employee is going to make a report or disclosure to law enforcement. Further, pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016,
Employee shall not have criminal or civil liability under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret
that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney and
(ii)  solely  for  the  purpose  of  reporting  or  investigating  a  suspected  violation  of  law;  or  (B)  is  made  in  a  complaint  or  other
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. In addition and without limiting the preceding
sentence, if Employee files a lawsuit for retaliation by TriNet for reporting a suspected violation of law, Employee may disclose
the trade secret to Employee’s attorney and may use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if Employee (X) files
any document containing the trade secret under seal and
(Y) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

SECTION  3.  Notice  of  Resignation. In  the  event  Employee  resigns  Employee’s  employment  with  TriNet  and  is
immediately prior to such resignation employed in the TriNet Sales department in any position, or in any other part of TriNet with
a job code of Executive Director or above, excluding any “officers” of the Company (as such term is defined by Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) to help effectuate and ensure an orderly transition Employee shall provide TriNet
with sixty (60) days’ notice of Employee’s resignation from TriNet as more specifically set forth in Sub-sections 3.1 through 3.4,
below.

3.1. Sixty (60) Days’ Notice. Employee will provide sixty days’ notice of Employee’s resignation in writing submitted to
Employee’s  direct  supervisor  and  the  Human Resources  Department  via  email  to  MYHR@trinet.com,  and  such  written  notice
shall include a disclosure of any new position or affiliation Employee has accepted, intends to accept or is considering accepting
upon  expiration  of  the  Notice  Period.  (The  first  sixty  (60)  days  following  submission  of  a  resignation  in  compliance  with  this
Agreement  as  outlined  below  shall  be  the  “Notice  Period.”)  Employee  further  agrees  to  give  TriNet  notice  pursuant  to  this
Section 3 immediately



upon communicating to any prospective new employer that Employee has accepted or will be accepting an offer of employment
with another employer.

3.2. Duties and Cooperation During Notice Period. During the Notice Period Employee’s manager may ask Employee to
take steps to help transition responsibility for ongoing projects and/or other job duties. Employee agrees to perform these duties
and tasks, as Employee’s manager in his or her sole discretion may direct, including without limitation any or all of the following:
(i) organize files and notes of any projects for transition; (ii) meet with Employee’s managers or their designee to review files and
other data to help ensure that TriNet personnel are aware of and understand any files, projects or other business related data; (iii)
meet  with  Employee’s  manager  or  his/her  designee  to  review  the  status  of  any  projects,  work,  clients  or  personnel  for  which
Employee was assigned responsibility, in order to help ensure that business needs may be seamlessly transitioned to and serviced
by other TriNet personnel; (iv) otherwise being available to TriNet, as requested by Employee’s managers, to provide reasonable
assistance to effectuate an orderly transition of files, projects, data, client service or personnel responsibilities, and any other job
duties, prior to Employee’s last day of employment. The foregoing list is neither intended to be an exhaustive list of the transition-
related tasks Employee may be required to perform, nor is it a promise that TriNet will have Employee engage in any or all of the
listed  tasks.  There  may  be  times  during  the  Notice  Period  when  TriNet  is  preparing  for  the  transition  in  a  way  that  does  not
involve  Employee’s  active  engagement,  and  as  such  TriNet  at  its  sole  discretion  may  instruct  Employee  not  to  work  or  enter
TriNet’s premises on some or all days of the Notice Period.

3.3. Conduct  During  Notice  Period.  During  the  Notice  Period,  Employee  will  be  a  TriNet  employee,  will  remain  on
TriNet’s payroll,  will receive the same base rate of pay, and will continue to be eligible for all employee benefits just as in the
period prior to Employee’s giving Notice of Resignation to TriNet. Employee’s primary job duties during the Notice Period will
involve  assisting  TriNet  to  effectuate  an  orderly  transition  of  duties  to  other  TriNet  personnel  as  assigned  by  Employee’s
manager. During the Notice Period, Employee shall: (i) not discuss or communicate about Employee’s impending departure from
TriNet with clients or others who are not employees of TriNet unless authorized in writing to do so by Employee’s manager; (ii)
not take any TriNet data, records or information off the premises of any TriNet office or facility; (iii) access TriNet systems only
with  express  permission  of  Employee’s  manager  (Employee  understands  that  such  accessibility  may  be  terminated  during  the
Notice Period); (iv) return to Employee’s TriNet manager, within one business day of tendering Employee’s notice of resignation,
all files, data and information relating to TriNet clients or business which Employee may have had off premises during the course
of  Employee’s  employment;  (v)  not  use  any  social  networking  system  or  function  to  update  any  clients  about  Employee’s
employment status with TriNet and/or any impending change of such status; and (vi) if Employee has had remote access to TriNet
computer systems or if Employee has ever used a non-TriNet issued computer or electronic device for work, Employee will, upon
TriNet’s  request,  make  such  personal  computer(s)  or  other  electronic  devices  available  to  TriNet  and/or  its  computer  forensic
experts  for imaging and searching to verify that  all  TriNet  client  data and any other non-public  information has been removed.
Employee  understands  and agrees  that  a  core  purpose  of  the  Notice  Period  is  to  enable  the  orderly  transition  of  files,  data  and
client responsibility to other TriNet employees, and accordingly Employee understands and agrees that TriNet is free to and may
elect to engage in a variety of transition-related activities, including but



not limited to notifying clients of Employee’s intent to leave TriNet, informing clients of the identity of other TriNet employees
being assigned to service their accounts,  introducing the clients to other TriNet personnel,  and/or holding meetings with clients
that  may  or  may  not  include  Employee,  as  Employee’s  manager  may  elect.  Employee  agrees  and  understands  that  during  the
Notice  Period,  Employee  owes  TriNet  an  unmitigated  duty  of  loyalty,  and  that  Employee  shall  do  nothing  during  the  Notice
Period that Employee intends or reasonably expects to further Employee’s personal interests or the interests of Employee’s new
employer to the actual or potential detriment of TriNet.

3.4. At Will. Employee understands and agrees that nothing in this Agreement changes Employee’s "at will" employment
status, and that TriNet may end the employment relationship at any time, with or without notice, for any reason or no reason at all.
Likewise,  Employee  is  free  to  end  the  employment  relationship  at  any  time,  subject  only  to  Employee’s  obligation  to  provide
notice in the manner described herein. Without limitation of the foregoing, Employee understands that TriNet retains the right in
its  absolute  and  sole  discretion  to  terminate  Employee’s  employment  after  receiving  notice  from  Employee  pursuant  to  this
Agreement,  at  which  point  Employee’s  employment  and  the  Notice  Period  will  come  to  an  end  (including  any  associated
obligation by TriNet to continue Employee’s salary and benefits during the Notice Period), but in no event shall TriNet terminate
Employee’s  employment  or  the  Notice  Period  sooner  than  two  (2)  weeks  after  the  date  on  which  Employee  gives  notice  of
resignation pursuant to Section 3 (provided, however, that TriNet retains the right as set forth above to determine what duties, if
any, will be performed during such two-week period).

SECTION 4. Non-Solicitation.
4.1. Customer Non-Solicitation. Employee will not, directly or indirectly, during employment with TriNet and for twelve

(12) months following termination or separation of such employment for any reason, solicit or attempt to solicit any of TriNet’s
customers  or  the  business  or  patronage  of  such customers,  either  for  him/herself  of  on behalf  of  any other  person,  partnership,
corporation, or other entity. This restriction is limited to (a) customers Employee serviced, solicited or interacted with at any time
during the 24 months immediately preceding termination of employment with TriNet; (b) customers serviced or solicited by other
TriNet employees whom Employee directly supervised during the 24 months immediately preceding termination of employment
with TriNet; and (c) customers about whom Employee had access to Confidential Information during the 24 months immediately
preceding termination of employment with TriNet.

4.1.1.California  &  North  Dakota.  Sub-section  4.1,  above,  does  not  apply  if  the  state  in  which  Employee  last
worked  for  TriNet  was  California  or  North  Dakota,  provided,  however,  that  with  respect  to  Notice  of  Resignation  and  Non-
Solicitation of customers Employee nevertheless is bound by the terms of Sections 3 and 1.2 above.

4.1.2.Oklahoma. Section 4.1 does not apply if the state in which Employee last worked for TriNet was Oklahoma,
in which case Employee will not, during employment with TriNet and for twelve (12) months following termination or separation
of employment for any reason, directly solicit  TriNet’s Established Customers or the business or patronage of such Established
Customers either for Employee’s own purposes or on behalf of any other person,



partnership,  corporation,  or  other  entity.  The  term  “Established  Customers”  in  this  Section  4.1.2.  means  customers  who  were
active  customers  of  TriNet  at  the  time  of  termination  of  Employee’s  employment  with  TriNet.  This  restriction  on  direct
solicitation  of  Established  Customers  is  further  limited  to  (a)  Established  Customers  that  Employee  serviced,  solicited,  or
interacted with at any time during the 24 months immediately preceding Employee’s termination of employment with TriNet; and
(b)  Established  Customers  serviced  or  solicited  by  other  TriNet  employees  whom Employee  supervised  during  the  24  months
immediately preceding Employee’s termination of employment with TriNet.

4.2. Employee Non-Solicitation. Employee will not, directly or indirectly, during employment with TriNet and for twelve
(12)  months following termination  or  separation of  employment  for  any reason,  solicit  or  recruit  any TriNet  employee(s),  non-
employee director(s) or consultant(s) of TriNet to accept a position with another company or entity, nor otherwise encourage or
induce any TriNet employee, non-employee director or consultant to terminate their employment or affiliation with TriNet. This
restriction  applies  only  to  (a)  employees  Employee  supervised  at  any  time  during  the  24  months  immediately  preceding
termination of employment with TriNet, (b) employees with whom Employee worked in the same office at any time during the 24
months immediately preceding termination of employment with TriNet, and
(c)  employees  with  whom Employee  otherwise  had  material  contact  at  any  time  during  the  24  months  immediately  preceding
termination of employment with TriNet.

SECTION 5. Non-Competition.  During  Employee’s  employment  with  TriNet,  and  for  a  period  of  twelve  (12)  months
immediately  following termination  or  separation  of  such employment  for  any reason,  Employee  will  not,  directly  or  indirectly,
perform on behalf of a competitor the same or similar job duties that Employee performed in his/her last twelve (12) months of
employment  with  TriNet.  This  restriction  will  only  apply  in  the  geographic  territory  for  which  Employee  had  responsibility  in
his/her last twelve (12) months of employment with TriNet. Additionally, this restriction will only apply to the performance of job
duties  competitive  with  a  segment  or  business  line  of  TriNet’s  business  in  which  Employee  worked in  his/her  last  twelve  (12)
months  of  employment  with  TriNet.  Employee  has  the  right  to  consult  with  Employee’s  counsel  prior  to  accepting  this
Agreement.

5.1. California, Oklahoma, Nebraska, North Dakota. Section 5, above, does not apply if the state in which Employee last
worked for TriNet was California, Oklahoma or North Dakota.

5.2. Massachusetts. If Employee last worked for TriNet in Massachusetts, then Employee hereby agrees that Employee’s
acceptance  of  the  Award  identified  in  this  Agreement,  and  Employee’s  enjoyment  of  the  financial  opportunities  flowing  from
such  participation,  provide  Employee  with  a  valuable  investment  opportunity  which  constitutes  other  mutually  agreed
consideration  supporting  Employee’s  agreement  to  abide  by  the  restrictions  contained  herein  for  purposes  of  compliance  with
Massachusetts law relating to non-competition agreements.

5.3. Washington.  If  Employee  last  worked  for  TriNet  in  Washington  and  entered  this  Agreement  at  the  outset  of
Employee’s employment, then Employee hereby acknowledges and agrees that Employee received written notice of the terms in
Section 5 prior to accepting the offer of employment with TriNet. If Employee last worked for TriNet in Washington and entered



this Agreement after the commencement of employment, then Employee hereby agrees that Employee’s acceptance of the Award
identified in this Agreement, and Employee’s enjoyment of the financial opportunities flowing from such participation, provide
Employee with a valuable investment opportunity which constitutes independent consideration supporting Employee’s agreement
to  abide  by  the  restrictions  contained  herein  for  purposes  of  compliance  with  Washington  law  relating  to  non-competition
agreements.

5.4. Maine. If  Employee  last  worked  for  TriNet  in  Maine,  then  Employee  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  Employee
received a copy of this Agreement at least three business days before Employee was required to sign the Agreement.

5.5. Oregon.  If  Employee  last  worked  for  TriNet  in  Oregon  and  entered  this  Agreement  after  the  commencement  of
employment,  then  Employee  hereby  agrees  that  Employee’s  acceptance  of  the  Award  identified  in  this  Agreement,  and
Employee’s  enjoyment  of  the  financial  opportunities  flowing  from  such  participation,  provide  Employee  with  a  valuable
investment opportunity which constitutes a bona fide advancement of the Employee by TriNet supporting Employee’s agreement
to abide by the restrictions contained herein for purposes of compliance with Oregon law relating to non-competition agreements.
Employee  agrees  that  TriNet  has  a  protectable  interest  based  on  Employee’s  access  to  confidential  information  and/or  trade
secrets.

SECTION  6.  Reasonableness  of  Restrictions.  Employee  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  compliance  with  the  non-
disclosure, non-solicitation, and non-competition covenants above is both reasonable and necessary to protect TriNet’s legitimate
business  interests,  including  its  goodwill,  its  confidential  business  information,  its  customer  and  employee  relationships  and
investment therein, and its reputation, and that Employee’s violation of these covenants is inconsistent with TriNet’s provision of
equity  ownership  incentive  grants  as  contemplated  by  the  Award  Agreement.  Employee  further  acknowledges  and  agrees  that
Employee’s post- employment competition, and/or Employee’s solicitation of TriNet customers during this limited period of time,
in violation of the non-competition and non-solicitation covenants above, would be contrary to the purpose, goal,  and intent of
TriNet’s  agreement  to provide Employee with the equity  incentive  award provided to Employee in the Award Agreement,  and
that but for Employee’s consent to such post-employment restrictions, the equity incentive award herein would not otherwise be
awarded to Employee. Employee further acknowledges that Employee’s participation in equity ownership incentive grants is fully
optional  on  the  part  of  Employee,  and  that  Employee  opts  to  participate  fully  understanding  that  the  foregoing  covenants  and
restrictions would be conditions of such participation.

SECTION 7.  Irreparable  Harm/Injunctive  Relief.  Employee  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  any  breach  of  Employee’s
obligations  under  the  Non-Disclosure,  Notice  of  Resignation,  Non-Solicitation,  and/or  Non-Competition  covenants  above,  as
applicable,  will  result  in  irreparable  and  continuing  harm  and  injury  to  TriNet  for  which  there  is  no  adequate  remedy  at  law.
Employee  further  agrees  that  in  the  event  Employee  breaches  the  non-disclosure,  non-  solicitation,  and/or  non-competition
covenants,  TriNet  shall  be  entitled  to  seek  and  obtain  temporary,  preliminary,  and  permanent  injunctive  relief  to  enforce  the
specific  terms  of  these  covenants.  Employee  further  agrees  and  consents  that  in  any  action  seeking  temporary  or  preliminary
injunctive relief to enforce any of the foregoing restrictions, TriNet and Employee



shall  be entitled to engage in expedited discovery in aid of proceedings seeking temporary and/or preliminary injunctive relief,
including expedited document production, interrogatories, and depositions limited at the expedited stage to those topics that are
relevant to temporary and/or preliminary injunctive relief.

SECTION 8. Other Provisions.  If  any provision of  this  Agreement  is  found to  be  invalid  or  unenforceable,  the  parties
hereto  agree  that  a  court  may  modify,  alter  or  amend  such  provision  to  the  extent  necessary  to  make  it  enforceable.  If  a  court
declines  to modify,  alter  or  amend the provision to make it  enforceable,  then the remaining provisions  of  this  Agreement  shall
remain  in  full  force  and  effect.  This  Agreement  is  assignable  by  TriNet  and  will  be  binding  upon  and  inure  to  the  benefit  of
TriNet’s  successors,  assigns  and affiliated  entities.  Employee  agrees  that,  should  TriNet,  or  any subsidiary  or  unit  of  TriNet  in
which Employee works, be acquired by, merge with, or otherwise combine with another business entity, TriNet’s rights under this
Agreement will be automatically assigned to the surviving entity, and such entity will have all rights to enforce this Agreement.
Employee hereby consents to any such actual  or deemed automatic assignment.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee may
not assign this Agreement.

 SECTION 9. Governing  Law;  Venue;  Integration.  The  terms  of  this  Agreement  and  any  disputes  arising  out  of  it
shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the state or province in which Employee was last employed
by TriNet, without giving effect to such state or province’s conflict of law principles. Employee agrees and understands that such
state or province’s laws will govern as set forth herein regardless of whether Employee moves Employee’s residence or place of
employment to another state or location after termination of employment with TriNet. Notwithstanding any arbitration agreement
that otherwise may exist between Employee and TriNet, Employee and TriNet agree that in the event of any dispute arising under
this Agreement, any such dispute is not subject to arbitration, and Employee and TriNet instead hereby mutually confer exclusive
jurisdiction and venue for any dispute in any way related to this Agreement on the state, provincial or federal court having original
jurisdiction  for  the  location  in  which  Employee  last  worked  for  TriNet,  and  Employee  and  TriNet  both  agree  not  to  bring  any
litigation  in  any  way  related  to  this  Agreement  in  any  other  court  or  forum.  This  Agreement  replaces  and  supersedes  any
Restrictive  Covenant  Agreement  contained  in  a  prior  Restricted  Stock  Unit  Grant  Notice  and  Restricted  Stock  Unit  Award
Agreement entered into by the parties.

***

Employee understands and acknowledges that Employee has the right to consult with Employee’s attorney to obtain legal
counsel prior to making the choice to accept this Agreement and the restrictions contained herein.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employee accepts the obligations under this Agreement and will be deemed to have accepted
and signed this Agreement upon Employee’s acceptance of the



Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement to which it is attached.



Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF TRINET GROUP, INC.

Company Name   Incorporation
Jurisdiction

Ambrose Advisory Services, LLC   New York
App7, Inc.   Delaware
Archimedes Risk Solutions, Ltd.   Bermuda
SOI Employee Benefit Plan Trust   North Carolina
TriNet Employee Benefit Insurance Trust   California
TriNet Employer Group Canada, Inc.   Ontario
TriNet HR I, Inc.   Oklahoma
TriNet HR II, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet HR II Holdings, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet HR II-A, Inc.   Florida
TriNet HR III, Inc.   California
TriNet HR III-A, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet HR III-B, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet HR IV, LLC   New York
TriNet HR XI, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet Insurance Brokerage, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet Professional Employer Services, Inc.   Delaware
TriNet USA, Inc.   Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-238315 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-194880,
333-203134,  333-210558,  333-216403,  333-223312,  333-231393,  333-231396,  333-236456  and  333-253147  on  Form  S-8  of  our  reports  dated
February  14,  2022,  relating  to  the  financial  statements  of  TriNet  Group,  Inc.,  and  the  effectiveness  of  TriNet  Group,  Inc.’s  internal  control  over
financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Francisco, California

February 14, 2021



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Burton M. Goldfield, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TriNet Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's  other certifying officer and I  are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))  and internal control  over financial  reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)  and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures,  or  caused  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision,  to  ensure  that  material  information  relating  to  the registrant,  including its  consolidated subsidiaries,  is  made known to  us  by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  or  caused  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision,  to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability  of  financial  reporting and the preparation of  financial  statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated  the  effectiveness  of  the  registrant's  disclosure  controls  and procedures  and presented  in  this  report  our  conclusions  about  the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal  quarter  (the  registrant's  fourth  fiscal  quarter  in  the  case  of  an  annual  report)  that  has  materially  affected,  or  is  reasonably  likely  to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all  significant  deficiencies  and  material  weaknesses  in  the  design  or  operation  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  which  are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any  fraud,  whether  or  not  material,  that  involves  management  or  other  employees  who  have  a  significant  role  in  the  registrant's  internal
control over financial reporting.

 

Date: February 14, 2022

/s/ Burton M. Goldfield
Burton M. Goldfield
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kelly Tuminelli, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TriNet Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's  other certifying officer and I  are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))  and internal control  over financial  reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)  and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures,  or  caused  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision,  to  ensure  that  material  information  relating  to  the registrant,  including its  consolidated subsidiaries,  is  made known to  us  by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  or  caused  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision,  to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability  of  financial  reporting and the preparation of  financial  statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated  the  effectiveness  of  the  registrant's  disclosure  controls  and procedures  and presented  in  this  report  our  conclusions  about  the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal  quarter  (the  registrant's  fourth  fiscal  quarter  in  the  case  of  an  annual  report)  that  has  materially  affected,  or  is  reasonably  likely  to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all  significant  deficiencies  and  material  weaknesses  in  the  design  or  operation  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  which  are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any  fraud,  whether  or  not  material,  that  involves  management  or  other  employees  who  have  a  significant  role  in  the  registrant's  internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 14, 2022

/s/ Kelly Tuminelli
Kelly Tuminelli
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In  connection  with  the  Annual  Report  of  TriNet  Group,  Inc.,  a  Delaware  corporation  (the  “Company”),  on  Form  10-K  for  the  year  ending
December 31, 2020 as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers
of the Company does hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that:

(1)    The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)     The  information  contained  in  the  Report  fairly  presents,  in  all  material  respects,  the  financial  condition  and  results  of  operations  of  the
Company.

The  foregoing  certification  (i)  is  given  to  such  officers’  knowledge,  based  upon  such  officers’  investigation  as  such  officers  reasonably  deem
appropriate; and (ii) is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 (section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) and is not being filed as
part  of  the  Report  or  as  a  separate  disclosure  document  and  is  not  to  be  incorporated  by  reference  into  any  filing  of  the  Company  under  the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Report),
irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
 

Date: February 14, 2022 /s/ Burton M. Goldfield
Burton M. Goldfield
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 14, 2022 /s/ Kelly Tuminelli
Kelly Tuminelli
Chief Financial Officer


